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Carver Bancorp, Inc. is the holding company 
of Carver Federal Savings Bank, a federally 
chartered savings bank. Carver was founded 
nearly 60 years ago by visionary community 
leaders to serve the financial services needs of 
African- and Caribbean-Americans in New 
York City. Today, Carver is the largest 
publicly traded African- and Caribbean- 
American operated financial institution in the 
United States. 

Carver Federal Savings Bank is an urban 
community development bank dedicated to 
providing a full range of financial services to 
its customers. Carver is committed to 
meeting the credit needs of the communities it 
serves, increasing profitability and enhancing 
stockholder value. 



=LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN A N D )  

Dear Carver Stockholder: 

I am pleased to update you on our efforts in fiscal 2007 and the opportunities we are working on in fiscal 
2008. 

First, reported earnings declined to $2.6 million in fiscal 2007 from $3.8 million in fiscal 2006, 
reflccting costs of our acquisition of Community Capital Bank (“CCB”), an award-winning small 
business lender, and our balance sheet restructuring in the second quarter. However, we made 
substantial progress in improving Carver’s underlying financial performance during the year, as 
recurring earnings grew 27.3% to $4.2 million. This strong result was fueled by balance sheet growth of 
1 I .9% to $740 million, reflecting another strong year of production from our lending department, the 
CCB acquisition in September of 2006 and solid asset quality. Deposits increased 21.9% following the 
acquisition and planned attrition of certain brokered and jumbo deposits. Our balance sheet restructuring 
improved net interest margin by 26 basis points to 3.44%. Whilc fee income declined with the industry- 
wide drop off in mortgage refinancing activity, our New Markets Tax Credit award produced a bottom 
line impact of $1.5 million. All in all, we are pleased with the direction of our core earnings, especially 
in light of our industry’s very difficult and competitive interest rate and credit climate. However, we are 
fully aware of the significant work we must continue to do to produce the financial results you and we 
desire. 

Second, fiscal 2007 was marked by a number of stratcgic successes that we believe will lead to 
increased franchise value. As referenced above, we successfully closed the CCB acquisition on 
September 29, 2006 and completed systems integration on March 17, 2007. We now operate ten full- 
service branches and nine ATM locations in the New York City boroughs of Brooklyn, Queens and 
Manhattan. The acquisition provides us with a commercial banking platform that will position Carver to 
capitalize on the booming small business sector in our markets, a good complement to the robust urban 
real estate markets we serve. I am encouraged by the early results of our small business lending team, 
augmented by key recruits this year, as they use our larger balance sheet to build our lending business 
with existing customers and, with our retail team, pursue new deposits through a focused cross-sales 
effort. We also launched an unprecedented alliance with Merrill Lynch & Co. (“MerriII Lynch”), in 
which Merrill Lynch is providing financial advisors and its global financial expertise and investment 
products to our customers and other community residents from two Carver branch locations: Malcolm 
X in Harlem and Atlantic Terminal in Brooklyn. This effort is being well received by our existing 
customers and attracting others to our branches. 

Finally, we formed the Carver Community Development Corporation (“CCDC”) to formalize and 
expand our community development efforts. We inaugurated the Carver Financial Literacy Center in 
Harlem this winter. With our partners, Harlem Congregations for Community lmprovemcnt and 
Neighborhood Housing Services, Inc., we are joining the fight to preserve homeownership with 
seminars and individual counseling along with relevant lending products. CCDC is spearheading 
investment of our New Markets Tax Credit award of $59 million, which allows us to make higher 
impact loans in our community while generating a substantial bottom line benefit to our stockholders. 



Fiscal 2007 Review 

9 Profitability 
Carver reported $2.6 million in net income available to common stockholders, or $1.00 diluted earnings per 
share, compared with $3.8 million and $1.45 respectively, in fiscal 2006. Return on average assets and return 
on average equity in fiscal 2007 was 0.37% and 5.23%, compared with 0.60% and 7.93%, respectively, 
during fiscal 2006. 

On a recurring or non-GAAP basis, excluding one-time charges associated with the CCB acquisition and 
balance sheet restructuring, the Company earned $4.2 million in net income available to common 
stockholders, or $1.63 per diluted earnings per share, compared with $3.3 million and $1.26 respectively, in 
fiscal 2006. Recurring return on average assets and return on average equity in fiscal 2007 was 0.60% and 
8.37%, compared with 0.52% and 6.92%, respectively, during fiscal 2006. 

9 Net Interest Margin 
At Carver, as with our industry, the impact of the current interest rate environment has been an increase in the 
rates we pay on our borrowings and some deposits and an increase in our yield on earning assets. However, 
the rate of increase in the yield on earning assets has been slower than the increase in the cost of liabilities. In 
fiscal 2007, the Company’s net interest margin increased to 3.44% from 3.18% in fiscal 2006. 

Carver continues to emphasize growth of re-priceable assets including loans and securities, and remains 
focused on a disciplined approach to credit risk. The Company’s retail efforts are focused on growing 
deposits generally, and seeking to increase lower-cost core deposits in particular. As a result, our net interest 
margin compared favorably with our peers in fiscal 2007. 

9 FeeIncorne 
Non-interest income in fiscal 2007 decreased $2.4 million, or 45.3%, to $2.9 million from $5.3 million in 
fiscal 2006. On a recurring basis, net of the costs of balance sheet restructuring of $1.3 million, non-interest 
income was $4.2 million, a year over year decrease of 20.8%. The decline in non-interest income was 
comprised primarily of a decrease of $993,000 in loan fees and service charges due primarily to lower loan 
prepayment penalty income; a decrease of $159,000 in the gain on sale of loans and a $IOX,OOO loss on the 
sale of real estate owned. 

Efficiency Ratio 
In fiscal 2007, the Company’s efticiency ratio increased to 92.0% from 79.0% in fiscal 2006. On a recurring 
basis, the efticiency ratio would be 82.7%, still well above the industry median. This ratio i s  driven by several 
critical investments in our franchise, namely the rapid expansion of branch and other delivery channels which 
are building momentum; significant investments in talent to increase our sales capacity in small business 
lending and retail; and the continuing growth in regulatory compliance activities. We are keenly aware that 
our efficiency ratio exceeds our peers and are committed to converting on these investments to improve our 
financial performance. 

9 Asset Quality 
The Company continues to benefit from solid asset quality. Non-performing loans totaled $4.5 million, or 
0.74% of total loans receivable at March 31, 2007, compared with $2.8 million, or 0.55% of total loans 
receivable at March 3 I ,  2006. The ratio of allowance to non-performing loans at March 3 1,2007 was 1 19.9% 
compared with 147.1 % at March 3 I ,  2006. The ratio of allowance for loan losses to total loans receivable at 



March 3 1, 2007 was 0.89% compared with 0.8 1 % at March 3 1, 2006. While non-performing loans increased 
over this period it is important to note that $3.8 million, or 84.4%, of our total non-performing loans are with 
one borrower, whose loans are adequately collateralized by real estate in our local markets. In addition, we 
regularly review our allowance throughout the year and consider the current overall allowance for loan losses 
to be adequate. 

Value Creation for Stockholders 
For fiscal 2007, stockholders’ equity increased $2.9 million, or 6.0%, to $51.6 million at March 31, 2007 
from $48.7 million at March 3 1,2006. 

During fiscal 2007, we continued to return capital to our stockholders through dividends and stock 
repurchases. The Company’s Board of Directors declared a $0.09 per share dividend each quarter, up from 
$0.08 per share dividend in fiscal 2006, for a yield of 2.38% based on our stock price of $15.10 on July 30, 
2007. Quarterly dividends have increased every year since fiscal 2004, representing a total increase of 80%. 

Additional returns were delivered to stockholders in the form of stock repurchases. As of March 31,2007, the 
Company has purchased 113,474 shares at an average price of $16.85 since initiating a stock repurchase 
program in August 2002, authorizing purchases of up to 231,635 shares. We remain committed to this 
valuable tool to return value to stockholders. 

Finally, we announced our move to The NASDAQ Stock Market with a new symbol: CARV. We hope that 
this change with provide greater liquidity and visibility to our stock. 

Strategic Outlook 

Our team is cxcitcd about the opportunities before us in fiscal 2008. The geographic markets we serve continue 
to grow in population, diversity and affluence as our real estate markets buck national trends. This result follows 
the limited supply of affordable housing in our city and region and its growth in inner city communities proximate 
to our branches in Harlem, Brooklyn and Queens. Small businesses, along with national retailers, are expanding 
their presence to meet the retail and service needs of families and institutions moving to the neighborhoods we 
serve. 

Naturally, we aren’t the only ones to notice these trends. Global and regional financial institutions are making 
their way to the inner city. How do we compete? How do we win? As community banks always have: by 
providing relationship banking at its best. We simply must continuc to know the players who drive business in our 
markets and execute well on the business we have and seek. Our business plan includes the following priorities: 

Execute on higher margin initiatives launched infiscal 2007 

We now have a solid comrncrcial banking platform in markets that are experiencing rapid growth. Small 
business owners want products and services relevant to today’s market demands, along with fair pricing, but 
they also desire highly personal service as they always have. That is the essence of community banking. With 
an excellcnt team of lenders and branch professionals, we are ready to meet that challenge. We will seek 
higher penetration of our existing core customer groups including small business owners, landlords, churches 
and other non-profits, and drive cross-sales of deposits and other products. Our new Merrill Lynch alliance 
provides us with a global partner to introduce needed investment advice and products for existing and new 
customers, and is an important tool to draw new and more affluent consumers to our branches. 



Fine tuneproducts, services and our image to meet the needs of today’s inner city customers 

This fiscal year we will fine tune the product offering for our new small business customer base with the 
expansion of treasury products including lock box, cash management and remote capture. Our website will be 
refreshed to attract deposits most efficiently as well as to provide additional convenience for our institutional 
and individual customers. And we’ll re-launch Carver’s image to target small business customers with a 
grassroots marketing campaign later this year. 

Tn closing, we are encouraged by the momentum propelling Carver’s business forward and we enter the new fiscal 
year with optimism and confidence. This would not be possible without the support of our loyal customers and 
Carver’s dedicated team of employees, now augmented by our colleagues from Community Capital Bank. 

Our review of fiscal 2007 would not be complete without expressing thanks to our wise and dedicated Board of 
Directors for their advice and counsel. Our board received the Courage Award from Bank Director Magazine in 
the first quarter of 2007 for “doing the right thing in a time of great adversity.” On behalf of our entire board, 1 
thank Strauss Zelnick, a charter member of this group, who stepped down in July to attend to his high growth 
investment company. We know that we can continue to count on him for tremendous insight and support when 
needed. 

And, to Carver’s stockholders, we continue to appreciate your sustained support as we work towards putting 
Carver in the best possible position to deliver superior value. 

Sincerely, 

Deborah C. Wright 
Chairman and Chief Executive Of’ficer 

August 14,2007 



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

The following tables set forth certain information concerning the consolidated financial condition, earnings and other 

data regarding Carver Bancorp, Inc. at the dates and for the periods indicated, The financial information should be 

read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes. 

Selected Financial Condition Data: 
Assets 
Total loans 
Sccurities 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Deposits 
Borrowcd funds 
Stockholders' equity 
Number of deposit accounts 
Number of offices 

. .. 
2007 

At ur fur the Fiscal Year Ended Msrfk31, 
2006 2005 . __ 2004 

(Dullars in thuusands) 

.- 

$ 739,952 
609. I 86 
67,117 
17,350 

615.122 
61,093 
51,627 
46,034 

I O  

$ 661,306 
497,441 
108,286 
22.904 

504,638 
93,792 
48,697 
41,014 

8 

$ 626,377 
426,084 

20,420 
455,870 
1 15,299 
45,801 
40,199 

8 

149,335 

$ 538,830 
3.56.025 
139,877 
22,174 

375,5 IO 
t 04,282 
44,645 
38,578 

h 

2003 

$ 509,845 
296,896 
165,585 

349,066 
108,996 
4 1,073 
4 1.220 

5 

23,160 

5 



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (cont.) 

Selected Operating Data: 
lnkrest income 
lntcresl expense 
Net intcrcst income 
Provision for loan losses 
Net interesr income after provision Cor loan losses 
Nun-mlcreul income 
Non-intercut expenses 
Income heforc income taxes 
Iticoine tax 
Net income 
Diluted earnings pcr common bharr 

AI at  lor the Flrcal Year Endcd March 31. .~ 
21H17 2006 2005 2004 

~~ - - 

$ 41,740 F 32,385 $ 28.546 $ 26.234 
19,234 11,493 9,758 8,700 
22.506 18.892 18,788 17,534 

- ~ -- 276- 
22 230 18.892 18.788 17,534 
2.869 5,341 4,075 5,278 

21,11_9- 1Y,134 18,696 15,480 
1,760 5,099 4,167 7.332 

1,329 1,51I1 ~ 2,493 (823) ~. 
2,583 3 770 $ 2,h49= $ 4,839 

~- 

4 _L 
$ 
$ 100 I 4 5  $ $ 1 k 7  !a .~ ~ '0' 

$ 27,390 
8,983 

18.407 
. - -  

~. 
18,407 
3,161 

1 4 , m  
6.864 
3,033 

~. 

.. $ 3,831 
% 1.52 

Selected Stntistical Data: 
Return on average assets ( I  ) 
Return on average equity (2) 
Ncl inlerest margin (3) 
Average interest ink spread (4) 
Eficicncy ratio (5) 
Opcrating cxpense to average assets (6) 
Average equity to average assets 
Dividend payout ratio (7) 

Asset Quality Hanos: 
Nnn-perfuming assets to total awets (8) 
Non-perfuming loans to total loans receivablc (8) 
Allowance lor loan losses to total loans rcccivablc 
Allowance fur loan luvseu 10 non-performing loans (8) 
Net loan charge-offs (recovcricy) lo average lonns outstanding 

.- 

AI or for tht Riiqal year End& March 31. 
~ 

2004- 2003 znnb 2005 -_ 2007 

0.37 % 
5.23 
3.44 
3.16 

91.98 
3.34 
7.05 
34.04 

0.60 '% 
7.93 
2.97 
3.18 

78.96 
3.04 
7.54 
20.63 

0.45 % 
5.80 
3.41 
3.26 

81.77 
3.21 
7.84 

24.64 

0.93 % 
1 t .40 
3.56 
3.40 

2.97 
8.13 
9.86 

67.86 

0.83 % 
9.77 
4.26 
4.08 

68. I 8  
3.18 
8.48 
3.19 

0.61 'Yo 0.42 % 0.16 % 0.39 % 0.36 Yo 
0.74 0.55 0.23 0.60 0.61 
0.89 0.8 I 0.96 1.16 I .40 

0.01 0.02 0.01 0.01 (0.01) 
119.93 147.07 410.65 194.30 230.74 

( I )  Nct incomc divided hy average total asscts. 
(2) Net income divided hy average tntal equity. 
(3) Net intercsl income divided hy average interest-earning UYYCIS. 
(4) Thc diffcrcnce helwcm the weighted average yicld on intczs&cnming arsets and the wcightcd averape cubl dinlerest-hearing liabilitics. 
( 5 )  Operating cxpenre~ divided hy sum of net intcrcst income pluh nnn-interest income. 
(6) Non-intcresl expense divided by averagc total asscls. 
(7) Dividend, paid to cnmtnon stocklioldcrs as I pcrccnlage 01 net incnnle available to commun sluckhuldvS. 
(8) Non-pcrhrming assets cnnsist of non-accrual loans, luans accruing Yl1 days or more past duc and red rRtate owned. 

6 
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Washington, D.C. 20549 

FORM IO-K/A 
(Amendment No. 1) 

FOR ANNUAL AND TRANSITION REPORTS PURSUANT TO 
SECTIONS 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

El ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR lS(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
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OR 

0 TRANSJTlON REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

For the transition period from to 

Commission File Number: 1-13007 

CARVER BANCORP, INC. 
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Delaware 
(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or 
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13-39041 74 
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10027 
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Registrunt ’s telephone numher, including area code: (718) 230-2900 

Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(b) ofthe Act: 

Cvmmon Stock, par value $.01 per share 

(Title ofClass) 

American Stock Exchange 

(Name of’ each Exchange on which registered) 
Securities registeredpursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: 

Nune 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as detined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. 0 Yes E! No 

Indicate by chcck mark if the registrant is not required to tile reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. OYes El N o  
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Indicate by chcck mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to kcin 405 of Kegulation S-K (4  229.405 of this chapter) is not contained 
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by 
reference in Part 111 o f  this Form IO-K or any amendment to this Form IO-K. [ ] 

liidicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated tiler, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of 
“accclerated filer and large accelcrated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one): 

0 Large Accelerated Filer 0 Accelerated Filer El Non-accelerated Filer 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shcll company (as defined in Rule 12h-2 ol‘the Exchange Act). 0 Yes El No 

As of June 15, 2007, there were 2,507,985 shares o i  common stock ol‘ the registrant outstanding. The aggregate market value of the 
Registrant’s common stock held by non-affiliates (based on the closing sales price of $15.80 per share of the registrant’s common stock on 
June IS, 2007) was approximately $39,626,000. 

DOCUMENTS INCOWORATED BY REFERENCE: 

Portions ofregistrant’s proxy statement for the Annual Meeting of stockholders for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2007 arc incorporated 
by reference into Part III of this Form 10-K. 



EXPLANATORY NOTE 

Carver Bancorp, Inc. (the “Company”) is filing this amendmcnt No. I to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
fiscal year ended March 3 1,2007, originally filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 29,2007 
(the “Original Report”), to correct certain typographical and clerical errors in Items 1, 1 A, 2,5,6,7,  and 8 of the 
Original Report. This amendment only reflects the changes to these items and does not amend, update, or change 
any other items or disclosures contained in the Original Report and continues to speak as of the date of the original 
filing of the Original Report. The Company has not restated its consolidated financial statements for the periods 
presented. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private 
Securities Litigation Reforin Act of 1995 which may be identified by the use of such words as “may,” “believe,” “expect,” 
“anticipate,” “should,” “plan,” “estimate,” “predict,” “continue,” and “potential” or the negative of these terms or other 
comparable terminology. Examples of forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, estimates with respect to 
our financial condition, results of operations and business that are subject to various factors which could cause actual results 
to differ materially firom these estimates. These factors include but arc not limited to the following: 

0 the Company’s success in implementing its new business initiatives, including expanding its product line, adding new branches 
and ATM centers and successfully re-building its brand image; 

increases in competitive pressure among financial institutions or non-tinancial institutions; 

lcgislative or regulatory changes which may adversely affect the Company’s business; 

technological changes which may be more difficult or expensive than anticipated; 

changes in interest rates which may reduce net interest margins and net interest income; 

changes in deposit flows, loan demand or real estate values which may adversely affect the business; 

changes in accounting principles, policies or guidelines which may cause conditions to be perceived diffcrently; 

litigation or other matters before regulatory agcncics, whether currently existing or commencing in the future, which may delay 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of events longer than anticipated; 

the ability to originate and purchase loans with attractive terms and acceptable credit quality; 

success in integrating Community Capital Rank into existing operations; 

the ability to realize cost efficiencies; and 

general economic conditions, either nationally or locally in some or all areas in which business is conducted, or conditions in 
the securities markets or the banking industry which could affect liquidity in the capital markets, the volume of loan 
origination, dcposit flows, real estate values, the levels of non-interest income and the mount of loan losses. 

Any or all of our forward-looking statements in this Annual Report and in any other public statements we make may turn 
out to be wrong. They can be affected by Tnaccurate assumptions we might make or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties. 
Consequently, no forward-looking statement can be guaranteed. We do not intend to update any of the forward-looking statements 
after the date of this annual report or to conform these statements to actual events. For a discussion of additional factors that could 
adversely affect our future performance, see “Item 1 A - Risk Factors” and “Itcm 7 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” 

PART I 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

OVERVIEW 

Carver Federal Savings Bank (“Carver Federal” or the “Bank”), a federally chartered savings bank and wholly owned 
subsidiary of Carver Bancorp, Inc., is the largest African- and Caribbean-American operated savings bank in the nation, with 
approximately $740 million in assets as ofMarch 31,2007. Headquartered in the heart of the Harlem community ofNew York 
City, the Rank has ten branches, nine stand-alone ATM locations, including six 24/7 ATM centers, and approximately 160 
employees as of June 15,2007. 

Carver Federal engages in a wide rangc of consumer and commercial banking services. The Bank providcs dcposit 
products including demand, savings and time deposits for consumers, businesses, and governmental and quasi-govcrnmental 
agencies in its local market area within New York City. In addition to deposit products, Carver Federal offers a number of 
other consumer and commercial banking products and services, including debit cards, online banking including online bill pay, 



and telephone banking. Through its affiliation with Merrill Lynch & Co., Carver Federal offers a comprehensive range of 
wealth management products. 

Carver Federal offers loan products covering a variety of asset classes, including commercial and residential 
mortgages, construction loans and business loans. The Bank hances  its mortgage and loan products through its deposit 
operations or borrowings. Funds not used to originate mortgages and loans are invested primarily in U.S. government agency 
securities and mortgage-backed securities. 

Carver Federal’s primary market area for deposits consists of areas currently served by its ten branches. The Bank’s 
branches are located in the Brooklyn, Manhattan and Queens boroughs of New York City. The neighborhoods in which the 
Bank’s branches are located have historically been low- to moderate-income areas. However, the shortage of housing in New 
York City, combined with population shifts liom the suburbs into the city, have combined to stimulate significant real estate 
and commercial dcvelopment in the Bank’s market area. The Bank believes that the demographics of its primary market area 
are changing as a result of the increase in real estate development in recent years. The expected change in income 
demographics supports the Bank’s strategy to provide commercial banking products through its acquisition of Community 
Capital Bank (TCB”), and wealth management products through its affiliation with Merrill Lynch & Co. 

Carver Federal’s primary lending market includes Bronx, Kings, New York and Queens counties in New York City, 
and lower Westchester County, New York. 

Although Carver Federal’s branches are primarily located in areas that were historically underserved by other 
financial institutions, the Bank is facing increased competition for deposits and mortgage lending in its market 
areas. Management believes that this competition has becomc more intense as a result of the improving economic conditions 
in the Bank’s market area and an increased examination emphasis by federal banking regulators on financial institutions’ 
fulfillment of their responsibilities under the Community Reinvestment Act (“CRA”). The Bank’s competition for loans comes 
principally iiom mortgage banking companies, cornmcrcial banks, savings banks and savings and loan associations. The 
Bank’s most direct competition for deposits comes from commercial banks, savings banks, savings and loan associations and 
credit unions. Competition for deposits also comes from money market mutual funds and other corporate and governmcnt 
securities funds as well as from other financial intermediaries such as brokerage firms and insurance companies. Many of 
Carver Federal’s competitors have substantially grcater resources and offer a wider array of financial services and products. At 
times, these larger financial institutions may offer below market interest rates on mortgage loans and above market interest 
rates for deposits. These pricing concessions combined with competitors’ larger presence in the New York market add to the 
challenges Carver Federal faces in expanding its current market share and growing its near term protitability. 

Carver Federal’s long history in its market area, its community involvement and relationships, targeted products and 
services and personal service consistent with community banking helps the Bank compete with other competitors that have 
entered its market. 

In addition, Carver Federal has successlirlly competed with larger financial institutions in a number of competitions 
for government grants and other awards. In June 2006, Carver Federal won a $59 million New Markets Tax Credit (“NMTC”) 
award. That amount comparcd favorably with awards won by substantially larger banks, including a $143 inillion award for 
Bank ol‘hmerica, $100 million for Citibank and $50 inillion for JPMorgan Chase. Carver Federal believes its proven ability to 
deliver mainstream financial products and services in historically underserved markets well positions the Bank to compete lor 
awards under this and other programs designed to cxpand financial services in markets served by Carver Federal. 

The Bank’s subsidiary, Carver Community Development Corporation (“CCDC”), was formcd to facilitate the Rank’s 
participation in local economic dcvclopment and other community-based activities. As part of its operations, CCDC manages 
the $59 million NMTC award. CCDC assists the Bank’s lending department in identifying and investing in development 
projects where the Bank can leverage the NMTC to facilitatc such investments. 

GENERAL 

Carver Bancorp, Inc. 

Carver Bancorp, Inc., a Delaware corporation (on a stand-alone basis, the “Holding Company” or “Registrant”), is 
the holding company for Carver Federal and its subsidiaries, Carver Statutory Trust 1 (the “Trust”) and Alhambra Holding 
Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“Alhambra”). The Trust was formed in September 2003 lor the sole purpose of issuing 
trust preferrcd securities and investing the proceeds in an equivalent amount of subordinated debentures of the Holding 
Company. The Holding Company formed Alhambra to hold its investment in  a commercial office building that was 
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subsequently sold in March 2000. Alhanibra is currently inactive. Collectively, the Holding Company, the Bank and the 
Holding Company’s other direct and indirect subsidiaries are rolkrred to herein as the “Company” or “Carver.” 

On October 24, 1994, Carver Federal converted tiom mutual to stock form and issued 2,314,275 shares of its 
cornnion stock at a price of $10 per share. On October 17, 1996, the Bank completed its reorganiLation into a holding 
company structure (the “Reorganization”) and became a who1 ly-owned subsidiary of the Holding Company. 

On April 5, 2006, the Company entered into a definitive merger agreement to acquire CCB, a Brooklyn-based 
community bank, in a cash transaction valued at $1 1.1 million, or $40.00 pcr CCB share. On September 29, 2006, the Bank 
acquired CCB, with approximately $165.4 million in assets and two branches. The Bank incurred an additional $879,000 in 
transaction costs related to the acquisition. The acquisition of CCB and its award-winning small business lending platform 
has expanded the Company’s ability to capitalize on substantial growth in the small business market. 

The Holding Company conducts business as a unitary savings and loan holding company, and the principal business 
01‘ the Holding Company consists of the operation 01’ its wholly owned subsidiary, the Bank. The Holding Company’s 
executive ollices are located at the home office of the Rank at 75 West 125th Street, New York, New York 10027. The 
Holding Company’s telephone number is (7 1 8) 230-2900. 

Carver Federal Savings Bank 

Carver Federal was chartered in 1948 and began operations in 1949 as Carver Federal Savings and Loan 
Association, a federally chartered mutual savings and loan association, at which time it obtained federal deposit insurance 
and became a membcr of the Federal Home Loan Rank of Ncw York (the “FHLB-NY”). Carver Federal was founded as an 
African- and Caribbean-American operated institution to provide residents of underserved communities with the ability to 
invest their savings and obtain credit. Carver Federal convcrted to a federal savings bank in 1986 and changed its name at 
that time to Carvcr Federal Savings Bank. None of the Rank’s employees is a member of a collective bargaining agreement, 
and the Bank considers its relations with employees to be satisfactory. 

On March 8, 1995, Carver Federal formed CFSB Realty Corp. as a wholly-owned subsidiary to hold real estate 
acquired through foreclosure pending eventual disposition. At March 3 1, 2007, this subsidiary had $247,000 in total assets 
and a minimal net operating loss. At March 31, 2007, no foreclosed real estate was held by the Company, however as a 
result of a propcrty tax redemption, the Bank, through its subsidiary CFSH Really Corp., took fec ownership of a vacant tract 
of land in Bayshore, NY. Carver Federal also owns CFSB Credit Corp., an inactive subsidiary originally formed to 
undertake the Bank’s credit card issuances. During the fourth quarter of thc fiscal year ended March 31, 2003 (‘%seal 
2003”), Carver Federal formed Carver Asset Corporation (“CAC”), a wholly-owned subsidiary which qualifies as a real 
estate investment trust (“REIT”) pursuant to the Internal Revcnue Code of 1986, as ammded. This subsidiary may, among 
other things. be utili7ed by Carver Federal to raise capital in the futurc. As of March 3 1, 2007, CAC owned mortgage loans 
carried at approximately $125.2 million and total assets of $125.4 million. On August 18, 2005, Carver Federal fonned 
CCDC, a wholly-owned community development entity whose purpose is to make qualilicd loans or other investments in 
low- to moderate-income communities. 

On Octobcr 5, 2006, Carver Federal established Carver Municipal Bank (“CMB”), a wholly-owned, New York Slate 
chartered limited purpose commercial bank, with the intention of expanding Carver Federal’s ability to compete for 
niunicipal and state agency deposits and provide other fee income based services. The Bank invested $2.0 million ol’capital 
into CMB at its formation. In the State of New York, municipal entities may deposit funds only with commercial banks, other 
than through limited exceptions, and CMB provides Carver Federal with a platform to enter into this new line of business. 

Carver Federal continues to evaluate acquisition opportunities as part of its strategic objective for long term growth 
and may acquire directly or indirectly through Carver Federal. 

Available Information 

The Company makes available on or through its internet website, http://www.carverbank.com, its Annual Report on 
Form IO-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form X-K, and all amendments to those reports tiled or 
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of The Securities Exchange Act. Such reports are liee of charge and are available 
as soon as reasonably practicable after the Company electronically files such material with, or furnishes it to, the Sccurities and 
F,xchange Commission (“SEC”). The public may read and copy any matcrials the Company files with the SEC at the SEC’s 
Public Reference Room at 100 F Street N.E. Washington D.C. 20549. Inlbrmation may be obtained on the operation of the 
Public Reference Kooin by calling tlic SEC at I-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an internet site that contains rcports, 
proxy and inlbrination statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SRC, including the 
Company, at http://www.sec.gov. 

In addition, certain other basic corporate documents, including our Corporate Governance Principles, Code of Ethics, 
Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers and the charters of our Finance and Audit Committee, Compensation Committee 
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and Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee and the date of our annual meeting are posted on our website. Printed 
copies of these documents are also available free of charge to any stockholder who requests them. Stockholders seeking 
additional information should contact the Corporate Secretary’s officc by mail at 75 West 125th Street, New York, New York 
1 0027 or by e-mail at corporatesecretary(&amerbank.com. 

Lending Activities 

General. Carver Federal engages in a number of lending activities including the origination or purchase of first 
mortgage loans for the purposc of purchasing or refinancing one- to lour-family residential, multifamily, and commercial 
properties; the origination or participation in loans for the construction or renovation of commercial properties and residential 
housing developments, and permanent loan financing subsequent to the cornplction of existing construction lending; and the 
origination and participation in business loans primarily for small business entities. In order to achieve Carver Federal’s loan 
growth objectives, loan purchases are made to supplement originatioiis. 

Loun PorlJilho Composition. Total loans receivable increased by $89.8 million, or 18.1%, to $586.0 million at March 
3 1,2007 compared to $496.2 million at March 3 1,2006. Carver Federal’s total loans receivable, net as a percentage of total 
assets increased to 78.5% at March 3 1,2007 compared to 74.6% at March 3 1,2006. One- to four-family mortgage loans 
totaled $100.9 million, or 17.2% of Carver Federal’s total loan receivable; multifamily loans totaled $91.9 million, or 15.7% of 
total loans recejvahlc; non-residential real estate loans, which includes commercial and church loans, totaled $203.2 million, or 
34.7% of’ total loans receivable; and construction loans (net of committed but undisbursed funds), totaled $137.7 million, or 
23.5% of total loans receivable. Business loans totaled $51.2 million, or 8.7% of total loans receivable. Consumer loans 
(credit card loans, personal loans, and home improvement loans) totaled $ I .  1 million, or 0.2% of total loans receivable. 

Carver Federal pays a premium when the effective yield on the loans being purchased is greater than the current 
market rate for comparable loans. These premiums are amortized as the loan is repaid. It is possible that, in a declining 
interest rate environment, the rate or speed at which loans repay may increase which may have the effect of accelerating the 
amortization of’the premium and therefore reducing the effective yield of the loan. Total premiums Carver Federal paid on 
purchased loans decreased by $900,000, or 47.69’1, to $990,000 at March 3 I ,  2007 compared to $1.9 million at March 31,2006. 

Carver Federal receives a discount when the effective yield on the loans being purchased is less than the current 
market rate for comparable loans. Certain fees (net of origination expenses) on originated loans are deferred and amortiLed 
over the life of the loan. Thesc discounts and net defewcd fees are amortized as the loan is repaid. It is possible that, in a rising 
interest rate environment, the rate or speed at which loans repay may decrease which may have the effect of decelerating the 
amortization of the discounts and net deferred I‘ees and therefore reducing the effective yield ofthe loan. Total discounts and 
deferred fees increased by $392,000, or 65. I%, to $994,000 at March 3 1,2007 compared to $602,000 at March 3 1,2006. 

Allowance I‘or loan losses increased $1.4 million to $5.4 million at March 3 1,2007 compared to $4.0 million at March 
31,2006. The increase was primarily the result of the CCB acquisition. In addition, the Bank recorded a $276,000 provision 
for loan losses during fiscal 2007. During fiscal 2007, $73,000 in net charge-offs were recorded. See “-Asset Quality- 
Asset Classification and Allowance for Losses.” 

The following table sets forth selected data relating to the composition of Carver Federal’s loan portfolio by type of 
loan as of March 3 I (dollars in thousands): 
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2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 
Pet. Amount Pct. Amount Pct. Amount Pct. Amount Pct. Amount 

Gross loans receivablc: 
One-to four- family 
Multifamily 
Non-residential 
Construction 
Business 
Consumer and other “’ 

Total loans receivable 

Add: 

Less: 
Premium on loans 

Deferred f‘ees & 
loan discounts 

Allowance for loan 
losses 

Total loans receivable, net 

%: 100,910 17.2% %: 143,433 28.9% $ 155,797 36.7% $ 98,645 27.8% $ 71,735 24.2% 

203,187 34.7% 154,044 31.0% 116,769 27.5% 102,641 28.9% 19,244 26.7% 
137,697 23.5% 92,511 18.7% 48,579 11.4% 27,376 77% I 1,539 3.9% 

51,226 8.7% 44s 0.1% 513 0.1% 4,578 1.3% 385 0.1% 

91,877 15.7% 104,718 21.1% 101,899 24.0’56 120,252 33.9% 131,749 44.5% 

1,067 0.2% I,00X 0.2% 1,184 0.3% 1,432 0.4% 1,740 0.6% 
5~5.964 ino.nvo 496.159 ioo.nvi 424.741 100.0%, 354.924 ioo.09/0 296.392 100.0% ,- 

990 1,890 1,743 1,264 $67 

(5,409) ( 4 0  15) (4,097) (4,125) (4,158) 

$ 580,551 $ 493,432 $ 421,987 $ 351,900 $ 292,738 

“’ Includes personal, credit card, and home improvemenl 

One- to Four-Family Residenlial Lending. Traditionally, Carver Federal’s lending activity has been the origination 
and purchase of loans secured by first mortgages on existing one- to four-family residences, although no one- to four-family 
loans were purchased in fiscal 2007. Carver Federal originates and purchases one- to four-family residential mortgage loans in 
amounts that usually range between $35,000 and $750,000. Approximately 92Y0 of the one- to four-family residential 
mortgage loans maturing in greater than one year at March 3 1,2007 were adjustable rate and approximately 8% were fixed- 
rate. Over fiscal 2007, Carver Federal has shifted its ef’forts from primarily originating and purchasing one- to four-family 
rcsidcntial loans to more profitable non-rcsidential and construction real estate loans. In addition, as part of a balance sheet 
restructuring, the Bank reclassified certain loans held in portfolio to held-for-sale and sold a portion of them. For these 
rcasons, one- to four-family residential real estate loans decreased $42.5 million to $100.9 million or 17.2% of total loans 
receivable, net. 

Carver Federal’s one- to four-family residential mortgage loans are generally for terms of30 years, amortized on a 
monthly basis, with principal and interest due each month. Residential mortgage loans often remain outstanding for 
significantly shorter periods than their contractual terms. These loans customarily contain “due-on-sale” clauses that permit 
the Bank to accelerate repayment of a loan upon transfer of ownership of the mortgaged property. Also, borrowers may 
refinance or prepay one- to four-family residential loans at their option without penalty. 

The Bank’s lending policies generally limit the maximum loan-to-value (“LTV”) ratio on one- to four-family 
residential mortgage loans secured by owner-occupied properties to 95% of the lesser of the appraised value or purchase price, 
with private mortgage insurance required on loans with LTV ratios in excess of 80%. Under certain special loan programs, 
Carver Federal may originate and sell loans secured by single-family homes purchased by first time hoine buyers where the 
LTV ratio may be up to 97%. 

Carver Federal’s fixed-rate, one- to four-family residential mortgage loans are underwritten in accordance with 
applicable secondary market underwriting guidelines and requirements for sale. From time to time the Bank has sold such 
loans to Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA”), the State of New York Mortgage Agency (“SONYMA”) and other 
third parties. Loans are generally sold with limited recourse on a servicing retained basis except to SONYMA where the sale is 
made with servicing released. Carver Federal uses several servicing firms to sub-service mortgage loans, whether held in 
portfolio or sold with the servicing retained. At March 3 1,2007, the Bank, through its sub-servicers, serviced $30.0 million in 
loans for FNMA and $8.8 million for other third parties. 

From time to time Carver Federal purchases one- to four-family loans, which have included interest-only loans. In an 
effort to maximize asset quality and consistent with cautionary advice offered to the thrift industry by the Office of Thrift 
Supervision, during the fiscal year, Carver Federal transferred a portion of the Bank’s interest-only loans to held-for-sale. 
Carver Federal n o  longer purchases or originates such loans for portfolio. 
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Carver Federal offers one-year, three-year, livdone-year and fivelthree-year adjustable-rate one- to four-family 
residential mortgage loans. These loans are generally retained in Carver Federal’s portfolio although they may be sold in the 
secondary market. They are indexed to thc wcckly average rate on one-year, three-year and five-year U.S. Treasury securities, 
respectively, adjusted to a constant maturity (usually one ycar), plus a margin. The rates at which interest accrues on these 
loans are adjustable every one, three or five years, generally with limitations on adjustments of two percentage points per 
adjustment period and six percentage points over the life of it one-year adjustable-rate mortgage and four percentage points 
over the life of three-year and five-year adjustable-rate mortgages. 

The retention of adjustable-rate loans in Carver Federal’s portfolio helps reduce Carver Federal’s exposure to 
increases in prevailing market interest rates. However, there are unquantifiable credit risks resulting from potential increases in 
costs to borrowers in the went of upward repricing of adjustable-rate loans. It is possible that during periods of rising interest 
rates, the risk of default on adjustable-rate loans may increase due to increases in interest costs to borrowers. Although 
adjustable-rate loans allow the Bank to increase the sensitivity of its interest-earning assets to changes in interest rates, thc 
extent of this interest ratc sensitivity is limited by periodic and lifetime interest rate adjustment limitations. Accordingly, there 
can be no assurance that yields on the Bank’s adjustablc-rate loans will fully adjust to compensate for increases in the Bank’s 
cost of funds. Adjustable-rate loans increase the Rank’s exposure to decreases in prevailing market interest rates, although 
decreases in the Bank’s cost of funds would tend to offset this effect. 

Multifamily Real Estate Lmding. Traditionally, Carver Federal originates and purchases multifamily loans, although 
no multifamily loans were purchased in fiscal 2007. Rates offered on this product are considered to be competitive with 
flexible terms that make this product attractive to borrowers. Multifamily property lending entails additional risks compared to 
one- to four-family residential lending. For example, such loans are dependent on the successful operation of such buildings 
and can be significantly impacted by supply and demand conditions in the market for multifamily residential units. The 
multifamily portfolio decreased during fiscal 2007. At March 3 1 ,  2007, multifamily loans totaled $91.9 million, or 15.7% of 
Carver Federal’s total loans receivable. 

Carver Federal’s multifamily product guidelines generally require that the maximum LTV not exceed 80% based on 
the appraised value of the mortgaged property. The Bank generally requires a Debt Service Coverage Ratio (“DSCR’) of at 
least 1.15 on multifamily loans, which requires the properties to generate cash flow after expenses and allowances in excess of 
the principal and interest payment. Carver Federal originates and purchases multifamily mortgage loans, which arc 
predominantly adjustable rate loans that generally amortize on the basis of a 15-, 20-, 25- or 30-year period and require a 
balloon payment after the first five years, or the borrower may have an option to extend the loan for two additional five-year 
periods. The Rank, on a case-by-case basis, originates ten-year fixed-rate loans. 

To help ensure continued collateral protection and asset quality for the term of multifamily real estate loans, Carver 
Federal employs a loan risk-rating system. Under the risk-rating system, all commercial real estate loans are risk-rated 
internally at the time of origination. In addition, to evaluate changes in the credit profile of the borrower and the underlying 
collateral, an independent consulting firm reviews and preparcs a written report for a sample of multifamily real estate loan 
relationships of $250,000 to $2.0 million, and at least semiannually prepares a written report for all relationships exceeding 
$2.0 million. Summary reports are then reviewed by the Internal Asset Review Committee for changes in the credit profile of 
individual borrowers and the portfolio as a whole. 

Non-residenriul Real Estate Lending. Carver Federal’s non-residential real estate lending activity consists 
predominantly oi‘originating loans for the purpose of purchasing or refinancing office, mixed-use (properties used for both 
commercial and residential purposes but predominantly commercial), retail and church buildings in its market area. Carver 
Federal acquired $40.0 million in non-residential loans, excluding purchase accounting discount, with the acquisition of CCB. 
CCB’s underwriting standards were comparable to Carver Federal’s. Non-residential real estate lending entails additional risks 
compared with one- to four-family residential and multifamily lending. For example, such loans typically involve large loan 
balances to single borrowers or groups of related borrowers, and the payment experience on such loans typically is dependent 
on the successful operation of the commercial property. Carver Federal’s maximum LTV on non-rcsidcntial real estate 
mortgage loans is generally 75% based on the appraised value ofthe mortgaged property. The Bank generally requires a DSCR 
of at least 1.20 on non-residential real estate loans. The Rank requires the assignment of rents of all tenants’ leases in the 
mortgaged property, which serves as additional security for the mortgage loan. At March 3 1,2007, non-residential real estate 
mortgage loans totaled $203.2 million, or 34.7% of the total loans receivable, net. This balancc also reflects a year-over-year 
increase of$49.1 million which is in line with the Bank’s objective of investing in higher yielding loans. 

All non-residential real estate loans are risk-rated internally at the time of origination. At least semi-annually, an 
independent consulting firm risk-rates and prepares written summary reports for all relationships exceeding $2.0 million and a 
statistical sampling of loans $250,000 to $2.0 million. 
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Historically, Carver Federal has been a New York City metropolitan area leader in the origination of loans to 
churches. At March 3 1,2007, loans to churches totaled $12.4 million, or 2.0% of the Rank’s gross loan portfolio. These loans 
generally have iive-, scvcn- or ten-year terms with 15-,20- or 25-year amortization periods and a balloon payment due at the 
cnd of the term and generally have no greater than a 70% LTV ratio. The Bank provides construction financing for churches 
and generally provides permanent financing upon completion of construction. There are currently 23 church loans in the 
Bank’s loan portfolio. 

Loans secured by real estate owned by faith-based organizations generally are larger and involve greater risks than 
one- to four-family residential mortgage loans. Because payments on loans secured by such properties are often dependent on 
voluntary contributions by members of the church’s congregation, repayment of such loans may be subject to a greater extent 
to adverse conditions in the economy. The Bank seeks to minimize these risks in a variety of ways, including reviewing the 
organization’s financial condition, limiting the size of‘ such loans and establishing the quality of the collateral securing such 
loans. The Bank determines the appropriate amount and type of security for such loans based in part upon the governance 
structure of the particular organization, the length of time the church has been established in the community and a cash flow 
analysis of the church to determine its ability to service the proposed loan. Carver Federal will obtain a first mortgagc on the 
underlying real property and often requires personal guarantecs of key members of the congregation andlor kcy person life 
insurance on the pastor of the congregation. The Bank may also require the church to obtain key person life insurance on 
specific members of the church’s leadership. Asset quality in the church loan category has been strong throughout Carver 
Federal’s history. Management believes that Carver Federal remains a leading lender to churches in its market area. 

Construction Lending. The Bank originates or participates in construction loans for new construction and renovation 
of churches, multifamily buildings, residential developments, cominunity service facilities and affordable housing programs. 
Carver Federal acquired $6.1 million in construction loans with the acquisition of CCB. CCB’s underwriting standards were 
comparable to Carver Federal. Carver Federal also of-fers construction loans to quali tied individuals and developers for new 
construction and renovation of one- to four-family, multifamily or mixed use and commercial real estate in the Bank’s market 
area. The Rank’s construction loans generally have adjustable interest rates and are underwritten in accordance with the same 
standards as the Bank’s mortgage loans on existing properties. The loans provide for disbursement in stages as construction is 
complcted. Participation in construction loans may be at various stages of funding. Construction terms are usually from 12 to 
24 months. The construction loan interest is capitalized as part of the overall project cost and is funded monthly li-om the loan 
proceeds. Borrowers must satisfy all credit requirements that apply to the Bank’s permanent mortgage loan financing for the 
mortgaged property. Carver Fcdcral has established additional criteria for construction loans to include an engineer’s plan and 
cost review on all construction budgets with appropriate interest reserves for loans in excess of $250,000. 

Construction financing generally is considered to involve a higher degree of risk of loss than long term financing on 
improved and occupied real estate. Risk of loss on a construction loan is dependent largely upon the accuracy of the initial 
estimate of the mortgaged property’s value at completion of construction or development and the estimated cost (including 
interest) of construction. During the construction phase, a number of factors could result in project delays and cost overruns. 
If the estimate of construction costs proves to be inaccurate, the Hank may be required to advance funds beyond the amount 
originally cominittcd to permit completion of the development. If the estimate of value proves to be inaccurate, the Bank may 
be confronted, at or prior to the maturity of the loan, with a project having a value that is insufficient to assure full repayment 
of such loan. Thc ability of a developer to sell developed lots or completed dwelling units will depend on, among other things, 
demand, pricing, availability of comparable properties and economic conditions. The Bank has sought to minimize this risk by 
limiting construction lending to qualified borrowers in the Bank’s market areas, limiting the aggregate amount of outstanding 
construction loans and imposing a stricter LTV ratio requirement than that reqiiircd for one- to four-family mortgage loans. 

At March 3 1 ,  2007, the Bank had $1 37.7 million (net of $30.9 million of committed but uiidisburscd funds) in construction 
loans outstanding, comprising 23.5% of the Bank’s total loans reccivable, net. The balance at March 3 1,2007 reflects a $45.2 
inrllion, or 48.8%, increase over fiscal year ended March 31,2006 (“fiscal 2006”), consistent with management’s objective to 
add higher yielding loans to portlblio. Purchased construction loans represent 84.5% of total construction loans in portfolio. 
Thc Bank’s primary source of construction loan purchases is Community Preservation Corporation, a private not-for-profit 
corporation sponsored by more than 90 commercial banks, savings institutions and insurance companies that provides 
mortgage, construction and other lending for the housing needs with the goal to revitalize low- and mixed-income 
communities. 

Kusinrss Louns. Carver Federal acquired a small business lending portfolio, consisting of approximately 300 loans 
totaling approximately $53.6 million, excluding the discount to fair market value at acquisition, increasing the portfolio to 
$51.2 million or 8.7% of total loans receivable, net. Carver Fcdural provides revolving credit and term loan facilities to sinal1 
businesses with annual sales of approximately $ 1  million to $25 million in manufacturing, services and wholesale segments. 
During the I‘ourth quarter of the fiscal year ended March 31,2005, Carver Federal’s Board of‘Directors (the “Board”) approved 
the Bank to provide back-up liquidity li)r highly rated U.S. corporate commercial paper borrowers with a minimum short tcnn 
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debt rating of A-1P-1 (“CP Back-up”) where a minority bank is the administrative agent and the back-up facility is syndicated 
entirely to a minority bank group. As of March 3 1,2007, the Rank had entered into two minority bank CP back-up facilities, 
one for $6.3 million with a AAA rated U S .  corporate borrower and one for $6.4 million with an A+ rated U.S. corporate 
borrower. The facilities are not expected to be drawn as they provide alternate liquidity to the borrowers. The Bank is paid a 
commitment fke for this product. 

Consumer Loans. At March 3 I ,  2007, the Bank had $1.1 million in consumer loans, or 0.2% of the Bank’s gross loan 
portfolio. At March 31, 2007, $890,000, or 83.4%, ofthe Bank’s consumer loans were unsecured loans, consisting 01’ all 
consumer loans other than loans secured by savings deposits, and $177,000, or 16.6%, were secured by savings deposits. At 
the end ol‘the fiscal year ended March 31,2006 (“fiscal 2006”) the Bank froze all undrawn available credit lines on its credit 
card product in an effort to terminate this product and coklcct repayments on outstanding balances and related finance charges. 
Effectivc March 3 1,2006, all unsecured credit card accounts were converted to fixed-rate installment loans with an 
amortization period not to exceed 48 months. 

Consumer loans generally involve more risk than first mortgage loans. Collection of a delinquent loan is dependent 
on the borrowcr’s continuing financial stability, and thus is more likely to be adversely affected by job loss, divorce, illness or 
personal bankruptcy. Further, the application of various federal and slate laws, including federal and state bankruptcy and 
insolvency laws, may limit the amount which can be recovered. These loans may also give rise to claims and defenses by a 
borrower against Carvcr Federal, and a borrower may be able to assert claims and defenses against Carvcr Federal which it has 
against the seller of the underlying collateral. In underwriting unsecured consumer loans other than secured credit cards, 
Carver Federal considers the borrower’s credit history, an analysis of the borrower’s income, expenses and ability to repay the 
loan and the value of thc collateral. The underwriting for secured credit cards only takes into consideration the value of the 
underlying collateral. Sec “-Asset Quality -Non-performing Assets.” 

Loon Processing. Carver Fcderal’s loan originations are derived from a number of sources, including referrals by 
realtors, builders, dcpositors, borrowers and mortgage brokers, as well as walk-in customers. Loans are originated by the 
Bank’s personnel who receive a base salary, commissions and other incentive compensation. Loan application forms are 
available at each of the Bank’s offices. All real estate, business and unsecured loan applications are forwarded to the Bank’s 
Lending Department for underwriting pursuant to standards established in Carver Federal’s loan policy. 

The underwriting and loan processing for residential loans is initiated internally but undergoes subsequent review by 
an outsourced third party provider for loans with LTV ratios greater than 80% that require private mortgage insurance. A 
commercial rcal estate loan application is completed for all multifamily and non-residential properties which the Bank 
finances. Prior to loan approval, thc property is inspected by a loan oflicer. As part of thc loan approval process, consideration 
is given to an independent appraisal, location, accessibility, stability of the neighborhood, environmental assessment, personal 
credil history of the applicant(s) and the financial capacity ol‘ the applicant(s). Business loan applications are completed for all 
business loans. Most business loans are secured by real estate, guaranteed by the SEA or UCC filings. The loan approval 
process considers the credit history of the applicant, collateral. cash flows and purpose and stability of the business. 

Upon receipt of a complcted loan application from a prospective borrower, a credil report and other verifications arc 
ordered to confirm specific information relating to the loan applicant’s income and credit standing. It is the Bank’s policy to 
obtain an appraisal of the real estate intended to secure a proposed mortgage loan from an independent appraiser approved by 
the Bank. 

It is Carver Federal’s policy to record a lien on the real estate securing the loan and to obtain a title insurance policy 
that insures that the property is lice of prior encumbrances. Borrowers must also Obtain ha.iard insurance policies prior to 
closing and, when the property is in a flood plain as designated by the Department of Housing and Urban Development, paid 
flood insurance policies must be obtained. Most borrowers are also required to advance funds on a monthly basis, together 
with cach payment of principal and interest, to a mortgage escrow account from which the Bank makes disbursements for items 
such as real estate taxes and hazard insurance. Written conformation of the guarantee for SEA loans and evidence of the UCC 
filing is also required. 

mortgage and business loan approval authority has been delegated by the Bank’s Board to the Board’s Asset Liability and 
Interest Rate Risk Committee. The Asset Liability and Interest Rate Risk Committee has delegated to the Bank’s Management 
Loan Committee, which consists of certain mcrnbers of executive management, loan approval authority for loans up to and 
including $3.0 million for rcal estate loans, $2.0 million for business loans secured by real estate and $1.0 million Ibr all other 
business loans. All one- to four-family mortgage loans that conform to FNMA standards and limits may be approved by the 
Residential Mortgage Loan Underwriter. Any loan that represents an exception to the Bank’s lending policies must be ratified 
by the next highcr approval authority. Rcal estate and business loans above $6.0 million and $3.0 million, respectively, must 
be approved by the full Board. Purchased loans are subject to the same approval process as originated loans. 

/,om Approval. Except for real estate and business loans in excess ol’$6.0 million and $3.0 million, respectively, 
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Loans-to-One-Borrower. Under the loans-to-one-borrowcr limits of the OTS, with certain limited exceptions, loans 
and extensions of credit to a single or related group of borrowers outstanding at one time generally may not exceed 15% of the 
unimpaired capital and surplus of a savings bank. See “-Regulation and Supervision-Federal Banking Rcgulation-Loans- 
to-One-Borrower Limitations.” At March 3 I ,  2007, the maximum loans-to-one-borrciwcr under this test would be $9.5 million 
and the Bank had no relationships that exceeded this limit. 

Loan Sales. Originations of one- to four-family real estate loans are generally made on properties located within the 
New York City metropolitan area, although Carver Federal occasionally funds loans secured by property in other areas. All 
such loans, however, satisfy the Bank’s underwriting criteria regardless of location. The Bank continues to nf’f’cr one- to four- 
family fixed-rate mortgage loans in response to consumer demand but requires that such loans satisfy applicable secondary 
market guidelines of either FNMA, SONYMA or other third-party purchaser to provide the opportunity for subsequent sale in 
the sccondary market as desired to manage intercst rate risk exposure. 

compared to $1 11.3 million in fiscal 2006 and $85.8 million in the fiscal year ended March 3 1,2005 (“fiscal 2005”). The 
increase in loan originations in fiscal 2007 can be attributed to strong market conditions and the Hank’s commitment to 
increasing its market share. The Bank acquired CCB in fiscal 2007 with gross loans of $102.6 million. The market continues 
to be challenging as new lenders enter the already fiercely competitive marketplace. 

During fiscal 2007, Carver Federal purchased a total of $58.2 million of mortgage loans, consisting of performing 
construction and non-residential mortgage loans and business loans to supplement its origination efforts. This represented 
31.9% of Carver Fedcral’s purchases and originations of its loan portfolio during fiscal 2007. The Bank purchases loans in 
order to increase interest income and to manage its liquidity position. The Bank continues to shift its loan production emphasis 
to take advantage of the higher yields and better interest rate risk characteristics available on business loans, multifamily and 
non-residential real estatc mortgage loans, including those in construction, as well as to increase its participation in inultifamily 
and non-residential real estate mortgage loans with other New York metropolitan area lenders. Loans purchased in fiscal 2007 
decreased $37.9 million, or 39.5%, from loan purchases nf$96.l million during fiscal 2006 due to the Bank’s focus on 
originating and purchasing higher yielding loans. 

sales for the years ended March 3 1 (dollars in thousands): 

Loan Originations und Purchusses. Loan originations, including originated for sale, were $ 1  30.0 million in fiscal 2007 

Thc following table sets forth certain information with respect to Carver Federal’s loan originations, purchases and 

2007 2006 2005 
Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent 

Loans Originated: 
One- to four-family 
Multifamily 
Non-residential 
Construction 
Business 
Consumer and others ( 1 )  

Total loans originated 
Loans purchased (2) 
Loans sold (3 j 
Net additions to loan portfolio 

$ 32,381 20.57 % $ 15,132 8.18 % $ 15,437 8.46 % 
8,657 5.50 % 18,063 9.77 % 15,969 8.75 YO 

31,108 19.76 % 33,582 18.16 % 30,823 16.89 94 
56,834 36.11 % 44,040 23.81 % 23,351 12.79 Yo 

730 0.46 Yo - %  - %  
282 0.18 Yo 532 0.29 % 22 1 0.13 Yo 

129,992 82.58 Yo 111,349 60.21 % 85,801 47.02 Yo 
58,191 36.97 % 96,140 51.98 Yi 104,734 57.39 ?L” 

$ 157,405 100.00 YO $ 184,946 100.00 % $ 182,492 100.00 Y 
(30,778) (19.55) % (22,543) (12.19) % (8,043) (4.41) Yo 

(1) Coniprised of personal and credit card loans. 
(2) Comprised of primarily construction and non-residential mortgage loans and business loans 
(3) Comprised of primarily one- to four-family mortgage loans. 

Loans purchased by the Bank entail ccrtain risks not necessarily associated with loans the Bank originates. The Bank’s 
purchased loans are generally acquired without recourse, with certain exceptions related to the seller’s compliance with 
representations and warranties, and in accordancc with the Bank’s underwriting criteria for originations. In addition, purchased 
loans have a variety of tcrms, including maturities, interest rate caps and indices h r  adjustment of interest rates, that inay diffcr 
from those offered at the time by the Bank in connection with the loans the Bank originates. The Rank initially seeks to 
purchase loans in its market area, however, the Bank will purchase loans secured by property secured outside its market area to 
meet its financial objectives. The market areas in which the properties that secure the purchascd loans are located may differ 
from Carver Federal’s market area and may be subject to economic and real estate market conditions that may significantly 
differ from those experienced in Carver Federal’s market area. There can be no assurance that economic conditions in these 
out-of-state areas will not deteriorate in the future, resulting in increased loan delinquencies and loan losses among the loans 
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secured by property in thest: areas. During fiscal 2007, thc properties securing purchased loans were concentrated primarily in 
New York 

In an eiYort to reduce these risks, the Bank has sought to ensure that purchased loans satisfy the Bank’s underwriting 
standards and do not otherwise have a higher risk of collection or loss than loans originated by the Bank. A review of each 
purchased loan is conducted, and the Bank also requires appropriate documentation and further seeks to reduce its risk by 
requiring, in each buyhell agreement, a series of warranties and representations as to the underwriting standards and the 
enforceability of the related legal documents. These warranties and representations remain in effect for the life of the loan. 
Any misrepresentation must be cured within 90 days of discovery or trigger certain repurchase provisions in the buy/sell 
agreement. 

Interest Rutes andLoun Fees. Carver Federal determines thc interest rates that it charges on loans primarily by 
comparison of competitive loan rates offercd in its market area and by examining the minimum yield requirements for loans 
purchased by secondary market sources. Loan rates reflect factors such as prevailing market interest rate levels, h e  supply of 
money available to the bitliking industry and the demand for such loans. These factors are in turn affected by general economic 
conditions, the monetary policies of the federal government, including the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System 
(the “FRB”), the general supply of money in the economy, tax policies and governmental budget matters. 

Carver Federal charges fees in connection with loan cominitmcnts and originations, rate lock-ins, loan modifications, 
late payments, changes of property ownership and for iniscellancous services related to its loans. Loan origination fees are 
calculated as a percentage of the loan principal. The Bank typically receives k e s  of between 7ero and one point (one point 
being equivalent to 1 % of the principal amount of the loan) in conncction with the origination of fixed-rate and adjustable-rate 
mortgage loans. The loan origination fee, net of certain direct loan origination expenses, is defcrred and accreted into income 
over the estimated life ofthe loan using the intercst method. Tl’a loan is prepaid or sold all remaining defcrred fees with 
respect to such loan are taken into income at such time. 

generally are sub-serviced for Carver Federal by a third party servicer. Servicing activities include the collection and 
processing of mortgage paymcnts, accounting for loan repayment filnds and paying real estate taxes, hazard insurance and 
other loan-related expenses out of escrowed funds. Income liom these activities varies from period to period with the volume 
and type of loans originated, sold and purchased, which in turn is dependent on prevailing market interest rates and their affect 
on the demand for loans in the Bank’s market arw. Carver Federal also receives fecs for servicing SBA loans. Servicing 
activities includc collection and processing of payments, accounting for loan rcpayinent funds and SBA servicing and reporting 
requiremcnts. 

maturing in Carver Federal’s portfolio, including schcduled repayments of principal, based on contractual terms to maturity. 
Demand loans, loans having no schcdule of repayments and 110 stated maturity, and overdrafts arc reported as due in one year 
or less. The table below does not include any cstimate of prcpayiiients, which significantly shorten the average life of all 
mortgage loans and may cause Carver Federal’s actual repayment experience to differ significantly from that shown below (in 
thousands): 

In addition to the foregoing fees, Carver Federal receives fccs for servicing mortgage loans for others, which in turn 

Loun Maturity Srhedule. The following table sets forth information at March 3 I ,  2007 regarding the amount of loans 

Toan Maturities 
< I  Yr. 1-2 Yrs. 2-3 Yrs. 3-5 Yrs. -5-10 Yrs. 10-20 Yrs. 20+ Yrs. Total 

Gross loans receivable: 
oneto four-faniily $ 3,580 $ 1,039 $ 2,690 $ 2,801 $ 192 $ 1,605 $ 89,003 $ 100,910 
Multifamily 4,804 15,911 5,3 15 3 1,280 6,514 9,004 19,049 91,877 
Non-residential 7,610 26,645 48,079 69,530 29,937 14,807 6,489 203,187 
Construction 102,GXY 27,875 6,188 945 1 3 7,697 
Business 1 3,604 1,228 9,976 2,547 9,834 8,660 5,377 5 1,226 
Consumer 312 10 51 138 442 114 1,067 

Total $ 132,599 $ 72,708 ’$ 72,209 $ 106,296 $ 47,864 $ 34,280 $ 119,918 $585,064 

The following table sets forth as of March 3 I ,  2007 amounts in each loan category that are contractually due after March 3 I ,  
2008 and whether such loans have fixed or adjustable interest rates. Scheduled contractual principal repayments of loans do 
not necessarily reflect the actual lives OK such assets. The average life o f  long term loans is substantially less than their 
contractual terms due to prepayments. In addition, due-on-sale clauses in mortgage loans generally give Carver Federal the 
right to declare a conventional loan due and payable in the event, among other things, that a borrower sells the real property 
subject to the mortgage and the loan is not repaid. The average life of mortgage loans tends to increase when current mortgage 
loan market ratos are substantially higher than rates on existing mortgage loans and tends to decrease when current mortgage 
loan market rates are substantially lower than rates on existing mortgage loans (in thousands): 



Due After March 31,2008 
Fixed Adjustable Total 

Gross loans receivable: 
One- to four-family $ 7,420 $ 89,910 $ 
Multifamily 26,127 60,946 
Non-residential 48,376 147,201 
Construction 35,008 
Business 9,725 27,897 
Consumer 155  

97,330 
87,073 
95,577 
35,008 
37,622 

755 
Total $ 92,403 $ 360,962 $453,365 

Asset Quality 

a variety of strategies, including, but not limited to, monitoring loan delinquencies and borrower workout arrangements, the 
Bank has been proactive in addressing problem and non-performing assets which, in turn, has helped to build the strength of 
the Bank’s financial condition. Such strategies, as well as the Bank’s concentration on one- to four-family, commercial 
mortgage lending (which includes multifamily and non-residential real estate loans), construction lending and business loans 
(mostly secured by real estate and the SBA), the maintenance of sound credit standards for new loan originations and a strong 
real estate market, have resulted in the Bank maintaining a low level ot‘non-performing assets. 

The underlying credit quality of the Bank’s loan portfolio is dependent primarily on each borrower’s ability to 
continue to make required loan payments and, in the event a borrower is unable to continue to do so, the adequacy ol’the value 
of‘the collateral securing the loan. A borrower’s ability to pay typically is dependent primarily on employment and other 
sourccs 01’ income, which, in turn, is impacted by general economic conditions, although other factors, such as unanticipated 
expenditures or changes in the financial markets, may also impact the borrower’s ability to pay. Collateral values, particularly 
rcal estate values, are also impacted by a variety of factors, including general econoinic conditions, demographics, maintenance 
and collection or foreclosure delays. 

Federal and its sub-scrviccrs to have the delinquency cured and the loan restored to current status. With respect to mortgage 
loans, once the payment grace period has expired (in most instances 15 days after the duc date), a late notice is mailed to the 
borrower within two business days and a late charge is imposed, if applicable. Jf payment is not promptly received, the 
borrower is contacted by telephone and efforts are made to formulate an affirmative plan to cure the delinquency. Additional 
calls are made by the 20th and 25th day of thc delinquency. If a mortgage loan becomes 30 days delinquent, a letter is mailed 
to the borrower requesting payment by a specified date. If a mortgage loan becomes 60 days delinquent, Carver Federal seeks 
to make personal contact with the borrower and also has the property inspected. I f a  mortgage becomes 90 days delinquent, a 
letter is sent to the borrower demanding payment by a certain date and indicating that a foreclosure suit will be filed iL‘the 
deadline is not met. If payment is still not made, the Bank may pursue foreclosure or other appropriate action. In the case of 
business loans the collection process is similar. The Bank may pursue foreclosure or other appropriate action for business loans 
semred by real estate. For business loans not secured by real estate, the bank may seek the SRA guarantcc or other appropriate 
action. 

General. One of‘the Bank’s key operating objectives continuus to be to maintain a high level of asset quality. Through 

Non-performing AAsets. When a borrower fails to make a payment on a loan, immediate steps are taken by Carver 

When a borrower Iails to make a payment on a consumer loan, steps are taken by Carver Federal’s loan servicing 
department to havc thc dclinquency cured and the loan restored to current status. Once thc payment grace period has expired 
(1 5 days aIZcr the due date), a late notice is mailed to the borrower immediately and a latc charge is imposed, if applicable. If 
payment is not promptly rcccived, the borrower is contacted by telephone, and efforts are made to I’onnulate an affirmative 
plan to cure the delinquency. If a consumer loan becomes 30 days delinquent, a letter is mailed to the borrower requcsting 
payment by a specified date. If the loan becomes 60 days delinqucnt, the account is given to an independent collection agency 
to follow up with thc collection or the account. If the loan becomes 90 days delinquent, a final warning letter is sent to the 
borrower and any co-borrower. Tf the loan remains delinquent, it is reviewed for charge-off. The Bank’s collection efforts 
generally continue after the loan is charged off. 
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The following table sets forth information with respect to Carver Federal’s non-performing assets as ofMarch 31 (dollars in 
thousands): 

Loans accounted for on a non-accrual basis ( I  ): 
Gross loans receivable: 

One- to four-family 
Multifamily 
Non-residential 
Construction 
Business 
Consumer 

Total non-accrual loans 

Accruing loans contractually past Lde > 90 days 

Total non-accrual & accruing loans 
past due > 90 days 

Other non-performing assets (2): 

Total other non-performing assets 
Total non-performing asscts (3) 

Non-performing loans to total loans 
Non-performing assets to total assets 

Real estate - land 

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 

$ 173 $ 1,098 $ 149 $ 558 $ 1,113 

665 639 
865 23 23 

12 4 17 10 27 
4,510 2,730 998 2,123 1,802 

3,886 763 167 1,532 

439 

4 3  10 2,730 998 2,123 1,802 

28 26 
7X 36 - ._ _. 

%; 4,538 $ 2,756 $ 998 $ 2,123 $ 1,802 

0*74% 0.55% 0.23% 0.60% 0.61% 
0.6 1 % 0.42% O.I6% 0.39% 0.36% 

Non-accrual status denotes any loan where the delinquency exceeds 90 days past due and in the opinion of management 
the collection of additional interest is doubtful. Payments received on a non-accrual loan are either applied to the 
outstanding principal balance or recorded as interest income, depending on assessment of the ability to collect on the 
loan. 

( 2 )  Other non-performing asscts generally represent property acquired by the Bank in settlement of loans (Le., through 
foreclosure, repossession or as an in-substance foreclosure). These asscts are recorded at the lower of their fair value or 
the cost to acquire. 

Total non-performing assets consist of non-accrual loans, accruing loans 90 days or more past due, property acquired in 
settlement of loans. 

(3) 

At March 3 1,2007, total non-performing assets increased by $1.7 million to $4.5 million, compared to $2.8 million at 
March 3 1,2006. At March 31,2007, other non-performing assets consist of a $28,000 parcel of land that Carver Federal 
acquired as a result of‘a property tax redemption. The increase in non-accrual loans reflects a $3.8 million group of loans to 
one borrower that were restructured and was partially offset by non-performing loans that were paid off and payments on other 
loans which returned them to performing status. 

There were no accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or inore at March 3 1,2007 and March 3 1,2006, 
reflecting the continued practice adopted by the Bank during the tiscal year endcd March 3 1,2000 to either write off or place 
on non-accrual status all loans contractually past due 90 days or more. 

Assrl ClawEficution and Allowunces jbr Losses. Federal regulations and the Bank’s policies require the classification 
of assets on the basis of credit quality on a quarterly basis. An asset is classified as “substandard” if it is determined to be 
inadequatoly protected by the currenl net worth and paying capacity ofthe obligor or the current value of the collateral pledged, 
if any. An asset is classified as “doubtf‘ul” if full collection is highly questionable or improbable. An asset is classified as 
“loss” if it is considered un-collcotible, even if a partial recovery could be expected in the future. The regulations also provide 
for a “special mention” designation, described as assets that do not currently expose a savings institution to a sufticient degree 
of risk to warrant classification but do possess credit deficiencies or potential weaknesses deserving management’s close 
attention. Assets classitied as substandard or doubtful require a savings institution to establish general allowances for loan 
losses. Tf an asset or portion thereof is classificd as a loss, a savings institution must either establish specific allowanccs for 
loan losses in the amount ofthe portion of the asset classitied loss or charge off such amount. Federal examiners may disagree 
with a savings institution’s classifications. If a savings institution does not agree with an examiner’s classification of an asset, 
it may appeal this determination to the OTS Regional Director. 
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At March 3 I ,  2007, Carver Federal had $7.5 million of loans classified as substandard, representing I .O% of the 
Bank’s total assets. As ol’ March 31,2006, the Bank had $2.2 million of loans classilied as substandard, representing 0.3% of 
the Bank’s total assets. This increase results primarily from a $3.8 million group of loans to one borrower that were 
restructured and classified during the year and $ 1  .0 million in classified business loans acquired with CCB. There were 
$153,000 and $50,000 in loans classified as doubtful and loss, respectively, at March 31,2007 as compared to no loans 
classified as doubtful or loss at March 3 1.2006. 

The OTS, in conjunction with the other Icderal banking agencies, has adopted an interagency policy statement on the 
allowance for loan losses and lease losses. The policy statement provides guidance for financial institutions on both the 
responsibilities of management for the assessment and establishment of adequate allowances and guidance for banking agency 
examiners to use in determining the adequacy of general valuation guidelines. Generally, the policy statement recommends 
that institutions have effective systems and controls to identify, monitor and address asset quality problems, that management 
analyze all significant factors that affect the ability to collect the portfolio in a reasonable manner and that management 
establish acceptable allowance evaluation processes that mcct the objectives set forth in the policy statement. Although 
management believes that adequate specific and general loan loss allowances have been established, actual losses are 
dependent upon future events and, as such, further additions to the level of specific and general loan loss allowances may 
become necessary. Federal examiners may disagree with the savings institution as to the appropriate level of the institution’s 
allowance for loan losses. While management believes Carver Federal has established its existing loss allowances in 
accordance with gcnerally accepted accounting principles, there can be no assurance that regulators, in reviewing Carver 
Federal’s assets, will not require Carver Federal to increase its loss allowance, thereby negatively affecting Carver Federal’s 
reported financial condition and results of operations. 

Carver Federal’s methodology for establishing the allowance for loan losses takes into consideration probable losses 
that have been identilied in connection with specific loans as well as losses that have not been identified but can be expected to 
occur. Further, management reviews the ratio of allowances to total loans (including projected growth) and recommends 
adjustments to the level of allowances accordingly. The Internal Asset Review Committee conducts reviews of the Bank’s 
loans on at least a quarterly basis and evaluates the need to establish general and specific allowances on the basis of this 
review. In addition, management actively monitors Carver Federal’s asset quality and charges ofl‘ loans and properties 
acquired in settlement of loans against the allowances for losses on loans and such propertics whcn appropriate and provides 
specific loss reserves when necessary. Although management believes it uses the best information available to make 
determinations with respect to the allowances fbr losses, future adjustments may be necessary if economic conditions differ 
substantially from the economic conditions in the assumptions used in making the initial determinations. 

Additionally, the Internal Asset Review Committee reviews Carver Federal’s assets oil a quarterly basis to determine 
whether any assets require classification or re-classi fication. The Bank has a centralized loan servicing structure that relies 
upon outside servicers, each of which generates a monthly report of delinquent loans. The Board has designated the Internal 
Asset Review Committee to perform quarterly reviews of the Bank’s asset quality, and their report is submitted to the Board 
for review. The Asset Liability and Interest Rate Risk Committee of the Board establishes policy relating to internal 
classification of-loans and also provides input to the Internal Asset Review Committee in its review of classified asscts. In 
originating loans, Carver Federal recognizes that credit losses will occur and that the risk of loss will vary with, among other 
things, the type of loan being made, the creditworthiness of the borrower over the term of the loan, general economic 
conditions and, in the case o fa  secured loan, the quality of the security for the loan. It is management’s policy to maintain a 
general allowance for loan losses based on, among other things, regular reviews of delinquencies and loan portfolio quality, 
character and size, the Bank’s and the industry’s historical and projected loss experience and current and forecasted economic 
conditions. In addition, considerable uncertainty exists as to the future improvement or deterioration of the real estate markets 
in various states, or ol’their ultimate impact on Carver Federal as a result of its purchased loans in such states. See “-Lending 
Activities-Loan Purchases and Originations.” Carver Federal incrcascs its allowance for loan losses by charging provisions 
for possible losses against the Bank’s income. General allowances are established by the Hoard on at least a quarterly basis 
based on an assessment of risk in the Bank’s loans, taking into consideration the composition and quality of the portfolio, 
delinquency trends, current charge-off and loss experience, the state of the real estate market and economic conditions 
generally. Specific allowances are provided lor individual loans, or portions of loans, when ultimate collection is considered 
improbable by management based on the currcnt payment status of the loan and the fair value or net realizable value of the 
security for the loan. 

I 

At the date of foreclosure or other repossession or  at the date the Bank determines a property is an impaired property, 
the Bank transfers the property to rcal estate acquired in settlement of loans at the lower of cost or Fair value, less estimated 
selling costs. Fair value is defined as the amount in cash or cash-equivalent value of‘ other Consideration that a real estate 
parcel would yield in a current sale between a willing buyer and a willing seller. Any amount of cost in excess of fair value is 
charged-off against the allowance lor loan losses. Carver Federal records an allowance for estimated selling costs of the 
property immediately after foreclosure. Subsequent to acquisition, management periodically evaluates the property and an 
allowance is established if the estimated fair valuc ofthe property, less estimated costs to sell, declines. If, upon ultimate 
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disposition of the property, net salcs proceeds exceed the net carrying value of the property, a gain on sale of real estate is 
recorded. At March 3 I ,  2007, the Bank had no foreclosed real estate, howcvcr, as a result of a property tax redcmption, the 
Bank took fee ownership of'a vacant tract of land in Bayshore, NY. 

The following table sets forth an analysis oI'Carver Federal's allowance for loan losses for the years ended March 3 1 
(dollars in thousands): 

Balance at beginning of year 
Less Charge-offs: 

One- to four-family 
Non-residential 
Busincss 
Consumer and other 

Total Charge-offs 

Add Recoveries: 
One- to four-family 
Non-residential 
Business 
Consumer and other 

Total Recoveries 

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 

$ 4,015 $ 4,097 $ 4,125 $ 4,158 $ 4,128 

19 17 8 6 2 

50 55 
51 100 65 264 226 

121) 117 73 325 228 

2 5 I07 
2 

10 73 
43 30 45 175 185 
47 35 45 292 258 

Net loans charged-ol'f (recovered) 
CCB acquisition allowance 

Provision for losses 
Balance at end of year 

Ratios: 
Net charge-off9 to average loans outstanding 
Allowance to total loans 
Allowance to non-perfbrming loans (1) 

73 82 28 33 (30) 
1,191 

276 
$ 5,409 $ 4,015 $ 4,097 $ 4,125 $ 4,158 

0.02Y" 0.02% 0.01% 0.01% -0.0 1Y" 
0.89% 0.8 I % 0.96% 1.16% 1.40% 

119.93% 147.07% 410.65% 194.30% 230.74% 

( 1 )  Non-pcrlbrming loans consist ofnon-accrual loans and accruing loans 90 days or more past due 
in settlement of loans. 

The Ibllowing table allocates the allowance for loan losses by asset category at March 3 1 (dollars in thousands): 

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 

Amount 
Allowance for loan losses: 

One-to four-family $ 373 
Multifamily 1,413 
Non-residential 1,487 
Construction 95 I 
Business 95 1 
(?onsumer and othcr 234 

'%, of 
Loans 

to Total 
Gross 
Loans 

17.2% 
15.7% 
34.7% 
23.5% 

X.7Yn 
0.2% 

% of 
Loans 

tu Total 
Gross 

Amount Loans Amount 

$ 565 2X.YYo $ 528 
1,084 21.1% 898 

960 3 1 .O% 1,129 
303 lX.7% 212 

22 0.1% 10 
420 0.2% 544 

% of 
T,osns 

to Total 
Gross 
Loans Amount 

36.7% $ 355 
24.0% 1,240 
27.5% 853 
1 I .4% 158 
0.1% 92 
0.3% 395 

740 of 
Loans 

to Total 
Gross 
I m n a  Amount 

27.8% $ 298 
33.9% 656 
28.9% 1,967 

1.3% 8 
0.4% 336 

7.7% I 70 

% of 
Loans 

to Total 
Cross 
Loans 

24.2% 
44.5% 
26.7% 

3.9% 
0,lY'n 
0.6Y'n 

Unallocatcd 66 1 776 1,032 723 
Total Allowance $ 5,408 100 0% $ 4,015 I00.0% $ 4,097 100.0% $ 4,125 100.0% 9; 4,158 IOO.O% 

The allocation ofthe allowance to each category is not necessarily indicativc of future losses and does not restrict the use of the 
allowance to absorb losses in any category. 

Investment Activities 

Genrr.111. The Bank utilizes mortgage-backed and other investment securities in its asset/liabil ity management 
strategy. In making investment decisions, the Bank considers, among other things, its yield and interest ratc objcctivcs, its 
interest rate and credit risk position and its liquidity and cash flow. 
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Generally, the investment policy of the Bank is to invest funds among categories of investments and maturities based 
upon the Bank‘s assetAiability management policies, investment quality, loan and deposit volume and collateral requirements, 
liquidity needs and performance objectives. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 1 15, “Accounting.fijr 
Certain Investments in Deb[ md Equity Securities ”, requires that securities be classified into three categories: trading, held-to- 
maturity, and available-for-sale. Securities that are bought and held principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term 
are classified as trading securities and are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in earnings. Debt 
securities for which the Rank has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity and 
reported at amortized cost. All other securities not classified as trading or held-to-maturity are classified as available-for-sale 
and reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included, on an after-tax basis, in a separatc component of 
stockholdcrs’ cquity. At March 3 1,2007, the Bank had no securities classified as trading. At March 3 1,2007, $48.0 million, 
or 7 1.5% of‘the Bank’s mortgage-backed and other investment securities, was classified as available-for-sale. The remaining 
$19.1 million, or 28.594, was classified as hcld-to-maturity. 

Mmrt~~gr-Bucked Securities. The Rank has invested in mortgage-backed securities in order to achieve its 
assethability management goals and collateral needs. Although mortgage-backed securities generally yield less than whole 
loans, they present substantially lower crcdit risk, are more liquid than individual mortgage loans and may be used to 
collateralize obligations of the Rank. Because Carver Federal receives regular payments of’ principal and interest from its 
mortgage-backed securities, these investmcnts provide more consistent cash flows than investments in other debt securities, 
which generally only pay principal at maturity. Mortgage-backed securities also help the Bank meet certain definitional tests 
for favorable treatment under federal banking and tax laws. See ‘-Regulation and Supervision-Federal Banking 
Regulation-QTL Test” and “Federal and State Taxation.” 

at March 3 1,2006. Carver Federal maintains a portfolio of mortgage-backed securities in the form of Government National 
Mortgage Association (“GNMA”) pass-through certificates, FNMA and FHLMC participation certificates. GNMA pass- 
through certificates are guaranteed as to thc payment of principal and interest by the full faith and credit of the United States 
Government while FNMA and FHLMC certificates are each guaranteed by their respective agencies as to principal and 
interest. Mortgage-backed securities generally entitle Carver Federal to reccivc a pro rata portion of the cash flows from an 
identified pool of mortgages. The cash flows from such pools are segmented and paid in accordance with a predetermined 
priority to various classes of securities issued by the entity. Carvcr Fcderal has also invested in pools of loans guaranteed as to 
principal and interest by the Small Business Administration (“SBA”). 

March 3 1,2007, constituted $39.2 million, or 97.8%, of the mortgage-backed securities portfolio. Mortgage-backed securities, 
however, expose Carver Federal to certain unique risks. In a declining rate environment, accelerated prepayments of loans 
underlying these securities expose Carver Federal to the risk that it will be unable to obtain comparable yields upon 
reinvestment of the proceeds. In the event the mortgage-backed security has been funded with an interest-bearing liability with 
maturity comparable to the original estimated life of the mortgage-backed security, the Bank’s interest rate spread could be 
adversely affected. Conversely, in a rising interest ratc cnvironment, the Bank may experience a lower than estimated rate of 
repayment on the underlying mortgages, effectively extending the cstimated life of the mortgage-backed security and exposing 
the Bank to the risk that it may be required to fund the asset with a liability bearing a higher rate of interest. 

thousands): 

At March 3 1,2007, mortgage-backed securities constituted 5.4% of‘total assets, as compared to 14.6% of total assets 

The Bank seeks to manage interest rate risk by investing in adjustable-rate mortgage-backed securities, which at 

The following table sets forth thc carrying value of Carver Federal’s mortgage-backed securities at March 3 1 (in 

Available-for-sale: 
GNMA 
FNMA 
FHLMC 
Other 

Total available-for-sale 
Held-to-Maturi ty : 

GNMA 
FNMA 
FHLMC 
Other 

Total held-to-maturity 
Total mortgage-backed securities 

2007 2006 2005 

$ 13,619 $ 63,007 $ 83,425 
5,895 4,589 8,149 
1,125 2,209 3,908 

21,176 69,805 95,482 

727 809 1,070 
4,792 7,900 10,780 

13,308 17,372 19,115 

537 

I20 70 51 
18.947 26.151 31.016 

$ 40,123 $ 95,956 $ 126,498 



The following table sets forth the scheduled final maturities, book and fair values for Carver Federal’s mortgage- 
backed securities at March 3 1,2007 (dollars in thousands): 

Available-for-sale: 
One through five years 
Five through ten years 
After ten years 

Held-to-maturity: 
One through five years 
Afier ten years 

Total available-for-sale 

Total held-to-maturity 

Amortieed Weighted 
cost Fair Value Avg Rate 

$ 117 $ 117 5.98% 
3,789 3,788 5.21% 

17,269 17,27 I 4.92% 
21,175 21,176 4.98% 

28 28 5.63% 
18,919 18,790 5.54% 

f 18.947 % 18.818 5.54% 

Actual maturities will differ from contractual maturities due to unscheduled repayments and because borrowers may 
have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without prepayment penalties. The table above does not consider the effects 
of possible prepayments or unscheduled repayments. 

Other Investment Securities. In addition to mortgage-backed securities, the Bank also invests in high-quality assets 
(primarily government and agency obligations) with short and intermediate terms (typically seven years or less) to maturity. 
Carver Federal is permitted under federal law to make certain investments, including investments in securities issued by 
various federal agencies and state and municipal governments, deposits at the FHLB-NY, ccrlilicates of deposit in federally 
insured institutions, certain bankers’ acceptances and federal funds. The Bank may also invest, subject to certain limitations, in 
commercial paper having one of the two highest investment ratings of a nationally recognized credit rating agency, and certain 
other types of corporate debt securities and mutual funds. In fiscal 2005, as a result of the attempted acquisition of 
Independence Federal Savings Bank (“TFSB”), Carver invested in 150,000 shares of IFSB common stock totaling $3.1 million. 
However, on May 1 1, 2005, subsequent to thc termination of that acquisition agreement, the Company sold its cntire equity 
investment in IFSB for an aggregate price of$]  .6 million. Thc capital loss realized by the Company on the sale of TFSB shares 
can be utilued by the Company to offset capital gains to the extent such gains occur before the Sth anniversary of the sale of the 
IFSB shares. 

The following tablc scts forth the carrying value of Carver Federal’s other securities as orMarch 31 (in thousands): 

2007 2006 2005 
U.S. Government, equity and other securities: 

Available-for-sale $ 26,804 $ 12,077 $ 22,551 
Held-to-maturity 

Total other securities 
I90 253 286 

$ 26.994 $ 12.330 $ 22.837 

The following table sets forth by scheduled maturities the book and fair values for Carver Federal’s other securities 
available-cor-sale at March 3 1,2007 (dollars in thousands): 

Weighted 
Amortized 

cost 
A vaila b le-for-s alc : 

One year or less $ 3,468 
One through five years 9,915 
Five through ten ycars 10,785 
After ten years 2,249 

Total available-for-sale securities $ 26,417 

Fair Average 
Value Rate 

$ 3,475 6.13% 
10,011 5.59% 
10,993 5.55% 
2,325 5.52% 

$ 26,804 5.64% 

Other Earning Assets. Federal regulations require the Bank to maintain an investment in FHLB-NY stock and a 
sufficient amount of liquid assets which may be invested in cash and specified securities. For additional infomation, see ‘‘- 
Regulation and Supervision-Federal Banking Regulation-Liquidity.” 
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Deposit Activity and Other Sources of Funds 

Generul. Deposits are thc primary source of Carver Fcderal’s funds for lending and other investment purposes. In 
addition to deposits, Carver Federal derives funds from loan principal repayments, loan and investment interest payments, 
maturing investments and fee income. Loan and mortgage-backed sccurities repayments and interest payments are a rclatively 
stable source of funds, while deposit inflows and outflows are significantly influenced by prevailing market interest ratcs, 
pricing of‘deposits, competition and general economic conditions. Borrowed money may he used to supplement thc Bank’s 
available funds, and from time to time the Bank borrows funds from the FHLB-NY and has borrowed funds through 
repurchase agreements and trust preferred debt securities. 

Deposits. Carvcr Federal attracts deposits from consumers, local institutions and public entities through its ten 
branches principally from within its market area by offering a varicty of deposit instruments, including passbook and statcment 
accounts and ccrtifkates of deposit, which range in term from 91 days to sewn years. Deposit terms vary, principally on the 
basis of the minimum balance required, the length of time the funds must rcmain on deposit and the interest rate. Carver 
Federal also offers Individual Retirement Accounts. Carver Federal’s policies are designed primarily to attract deposits from 
local residents and businesses through the Bank’s branches. Carver Federal also holds deposits from various governmental 
agencies or authorities and corporations. 

resulting from its acquisition of CCB. In fiscal 2006, the Bank opened one additional stand-alone ATM in Bedford Stuyvesant, 
Brooklyn. During fiscal 2005 the Bank opened two branches as well as two stand-alone ATMs. The first branch and ATM 
were opened in July 2004 at Atlantic Terminal in Fort Greene, Brooklyn. A second ATM at 11 6“’ Street and a branch at 145Ih 
Street in Harlem were opened in December 2004 and January 2005, respectively. 
1 45’h Street in Harlem and in Jamaica operate in New York State designated Banking Development Districts (“BDD”), which 
allow Carver Federal to participate in BDD-related activities, including acquiring New York City and New York State 
deposits. As of March 31,2007, Carver Federal held $127.3 million in BDD deposits. At March 31,2007 the Bank held $43.1 
million in brokered deposits, specifically certificates of deposits. Included in brokered deposits are $20.1 million of deposits 
through CDARS (Certificates of Deposit Account Registry Service). The CDARS product offers customcrs a convenient way 
to enjoy full federal deposit insurance on deposits up to $30 million. 

Bank’s funds acquisition and liquidity requirements, the rates paid by the Bank’s competitors, current market rates, the Bank’s 
growth goals and applicable regulatory restrictions and requirements. 

year ended March 3 1 (dollars in thousands): 

In fiscal 2007 the Bank acquired two additional branches in Brooklyn, New York and $144.5 million in deposits 

The Bank’s branches on 1 1 61h Street and 

Deposit interest rates, maturities, service fees and withdrawal penalties on deposits arc cstablished based on the 

Tlic following table sets forth the change in dollar amount of deposit accounts ol’rered by Carver Federal during the 

_. 

2007 2006 2005 

Deposits at beginning of period $ 504,638 $ 455,870 $ 375,519 
Deposits acquired with CCB 144,142 
Net (decrease) increase before interest creditcd (45,837) 39,847 74,896 
Interest credited 
Deposits at end of period 

12,179 8,92 1 5,455 
$ 615,122 $ 504,638 $ 455,870 

Net (decrease) increase during the year: 
Amount $ (33,658) $ 48,768 $ 80,35 1 
Percent -6.7% 10.7% 2 1.4% 

Thc following table sets forth the distribution in the various types of the Bank’s deposit accounts and the related 
weighted average intcrcst rates paid as of and for the years ended March 3 1 (dollars in thousands): 

Yo of Wid. A v ~ .  Yo of Wtd. Avg. Yo of Wtd. A v ~ .  
Amount Tntal Rate Amount Total Rate Amount Tutal Rate 

Non-intcrcst-bcariiig deinaiid $ 50,891 8.27% - $ 31,085 6.16% 0.00% $ 25,570 5.61% 
28,9 IO 4.70% 0.39% 27,904 5.53% 0.31% 24,095 5.29% 0.30Yn NOW accounts 

Savings and club 137,960 22.43% 0.68% 139,724 27.69% 0.68% 13731 0 30.23% 0.62% 
Money market savings 46,996 7.64% 2.62%) 40,045 7.93% 2.41% 36,294 7.Y6Yn 1.34% 

Ccrtificates of deposit 347,753 56.53Yn 4.17% 263,963 52.3 I % 3.76% 229,685 50.38% 2.30% 
Othcr 2,6 I 2  0.43% 1.3Y% 1,917 0.38% I .47% 2,416 0.53% 1.13% 
Tutal $ 615,122 100.00% 2.73”” $ 504,638 100.00% 2.37% $ 45.5,870 IOO.OO’%o 1.47% 



The fbllowing table sets forth the amount and maturities ol’certificates of deposit in specified weighted average 
interest rate categories at March 3 I (dollars in thousands): 

Period to Maturity 
Total Percent 
2007 of Total 2006 Rate < 1Yr. 1-2 Yrs. 2-3 Yrs. 3+ Yrs. 

0%-0.99?4 $ 12,401 $ 26 $ - $ 12 $ 12,439 3.58% $ 746 
1 % -  1.99% 20,721 122 20,843 5.99% 9,137 
2% - 3.99% 85,567 12,480 13,047 3,901 114,995 33.07% 137,602 
4% and over 164,455 24,530 10,491 199,476 57.36% 116,478 

Total $ 283,144 $ 37,158 $ 13,047 $ 14,404 $ 347,753 100.00% $263,963 

Carver Federal’s certificates of deposit of $100,000 or more were $217.4 million as of March 3 1,2007 compared to 
$1 83.5 million at March 31,2006. These certificates of deposit over $100,000 include BDD deposits of $127.3 million and 
$136.1 million at March 31,2007 and 2006, respectively. Deposits, other than certificates of deposits, with balances of‘ 
$100,000 or more totaled $98.7 million and $80.9 million at March 3 I ,  2007 and 2006, respectively. 

Borrowed Money. Deposits are the primary source of funds for Carver Federal’s lending, investment and general 
operating activities. Carvcr Federal is authorized, however, to use advances and securities sold under agreements to repurchase 
(“Repos”) from the FIILB-NY and approved primary dealers to supplement its supply of funds and to meet deposit withdrawal 
requirements. The FHLB-NY functions as a central bank providing credit for savings institutions and certain other member 
financial institutions. As a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) system, Carver Federal is rcquired to own 
stock in the FHLB-NY and is authorized to apply for advances. Advances are made pursuant to several different programs, 
each of which has its own interest rate and range of maturities. Advances from the FHLl3-NY are secured by Carver Federal’s 
stock in the FHLB-NY and a pledge of Carver Federal’s mortgage loan and mortgage-backed securities portfolios. 

On September 17,2003, Carver Federal Trust 1 issued 13,000 shares, liquidation amount $ I  ,000 per share, of floating 
rate capital securities. Gross proceeds from the sale ol’ these trust preferred debt securities were $13.0 million and, together 
with the proceeds from the sale of the trust’s common securities, were used to purchase approximately $13.4 million aggregate 
principal amount of the Holding Company’s floating rate junior subordinated debt securities due 2033. The trust preferred debt 
securities are redecmable quarterly at the option ofthc Company beginning on or after September 17,2008 and have a 
mandatory redemption date of September 17, 2033. Cash distributions on the trust preferred debt securities are cumulative and 
payable at a floating rate per annum (rcset quarterly) equal to 3.05% over 3-month LIBOR, with a rate at March 3 I ,  2007 of 
8.40%. The subordinated debt securities amounted to $13.3 million at March 31,2007 and are included in other borrowed 
money on the consolidated statement of financial condition. The Bank takes into consideration the term of borrowed money 
with the repricing cycle of the mortgage loans on the balance sheet. At March 3 1,2007, Carver had outstanding $61. I million 
in total borrowed money, consisting of the subordinated debt securities and advances from FHLB-NY. 



The following table sets forth certain information regarding Carver’s borrowed money at the dates and for the periods 
indicated as of’ and Ibr the years ended March 3 I (dollars in thousands): 

Amounts outstanding at the end of period: 
FHLB advances 
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in junior subordinatcd debentures 

Rate paid at period end: 
FHLB advances 
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in junior subordinated debentures 

Maximum amount of borrowing outstanding at any month end: 
FHLB advances 
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in junior subordinated debcntures 

Approximate average amounts outstanding for period: 
FHLB advances 
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in junior subordinated debentures 

Approximate weighted average rate paid during pcriod: 
FHLB advances 
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in junior subordinated debentures 

2007 

$ 47,775 
$ 13,318 

4.32% 
8.40% 

$ 93,975 
$ 13,318 

$ 65,567 
$ 13,286 

4.36% 
8.33yo 

2006 2005 

$ 80,935 $ 102,500 
$ 13,260 $ 13,202 

4.13% 3.78% 
7.97yo 6.08% 

$ 112,488 $ 112,506 
$ 13,260 $ 13,202 

$ 94,798 $ 97,013 
$ 13,230 $ 13,171 

3.81% 3.71% 
7.50% 5.49% 

REGULATION AND SUPERVISION 

General 

The Bank is subject to extensive regulation, examination and supervision by its primary regulator, the OTS. The 
Bank’s deposit accounts arc insured up to applicable limits by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) under the 
Deposit lnsurance Fund (“DTF”), and it is a member ofthe FHLR. The Bank must file reports with the OTS concerning its 
activities and financial condition, and it must obtain regulatory approvals prior to entering into certain transactions, such as 
mergers with, or acquisitions of, other depository institutions, The Holding Company, as a unitary savings and loan holding 
company, is subject to regulation, examination and supervision by the OTS and is required to file certain reports with, and 
othenvisc comply with, the rules and rcgulations of the OTS and of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) 
under the federal securities laws. The OTS and the FDIC periodically perform safety and soundness examinations of the Bank 
and the Holding Company and test compliance with various regulatory requircments. The OTS has primary enforcement 
responsibility over federally chartered savings banks and has substantial discretion to impose enforcemcnt action on an 
institution that fails to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, particularly with respect to its capital requirements. In 
addition, the FDIC has the authority to recommend to the Director ol’the OTS that enforcement action be taken with respect to 
a particular federally chartered savings bank and, if action is not taken by the Director, the FDIC has authority to take such 
action under certain circumstances. 

This regulation and supervision establishes a comprehensive framework to regulate and control the activities in which 
an institution can ungage and is intended primarily for the protection ofthe insurance fund and depositors. This structure also 
gives the regulatory authorities extensive discretion in connection with their supervisory and enforcement activities and 
examination policies, including policies with respect to thc classification of assets and the establishment of adequate loan loss 
reserves for regulatory purposes. Any change in such laws and regulations whether by the OTS, the FDIC or through 
legislation could have a material advcrse impact on the Bank and the Holding Company and their operations and stockholders. 

The description of statutory provisions and regulations applicable to federally chartered savings banks and their 
holding companies and of tax matters set forth in this document docs not purport to be a complete description of all such 
statutes and regulations and their effects on the Rank and the Holding Company. 

Federal Banking Regulation 

as amended, and the regulations ofthe OTS. Under these laws and regulations, the Bank may invest in mortgage loans secured 
by residential and commercial real estate, commercial and consumer loans, certain types of debt securities and certain other 
assets. The Hank may also establish service corporations that may engage in activities not otherwise permissible for the Bank, 
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Activity Powers. The Rank derives its lending and investment powers from the Home Owners’ Loan Act (“HOLA”), 



including certain real estate equity investments and securities and insurance brokerage. The Bank’s authority to invest in 
certain types of loans or other investments is limited by federal law. 

Nontraditional Mortgage Product Risks, or the Guidance. The Guidance describes sound practices for managing risk, as well as 
marketing, originating and servicing nontraditional mortgage products, which include, among other things, interest-only loans. 
The Guidance sets forth supervisory expectations with respect to loan tenns and underwriting standards, portfolio and risk 
management practices and consumer protection. For example, the Guidance indicates that Originating interest-only loans with 
reduced documentation is considered a layering of risk and that institutions are expected to denionstrate mitigating factors to 
support thcir underwriting decision and the borrower’s repayment capacity. Specifically, the Guidance indicates that a lender 
may accept a borrower’s statement as to the borrower’s income without obtaining veriiication only if there are mitigating 
factors that clcarly minimize the need for direct verification of repayment capacity and that, lbr many borrowers, institutions 
should be able to readily document income. 

On December 14,2006, the OTS publishcd guidance entitled “Concentrations in Commercial Real Estate Lending, 
Sound Risk Management Practices,” or the CRE Guidance, to address concentrations of commercial real estate loans in savings 
associations. The CRE Guidance reinforces and enhances the OTS’s existing regulations and guidelines for real estate lending 
and loan portlblio management, but does not establish specific commercial real estate lcnding limits. The Bank is evaluating 
the CRE Guidance as to its impact on the conduct ofthe Bank’s business. The Bank believes it will be able to effectively 
implement the requirements sct forth in the CRE Guidance during fiscal year 2008. 

national bank. With specified exceptions, the Bank’s total loans or extension ol‘credit to a single borrower or group of‘relatcd 
borrowers may not exceed 15% of thc Bank’s unimpaired capital and unimpaired surplus, which does not include accumulated 
other comprehensive income. The Bank may lend additional amounts up to 10% of its unimpaired capital and unimpaired 
surplus if the loans or cxtensions of credit are fully secured by readily marketable collateral. The Rank currently complies with 
applicable loans to one borrower limitations. At March 3 1,2007, the Bank’s limit on loans to one borrower based on its 
unimpaired capital and surplus was $9.5 million. 

Under this test, the Bank is required to maintain at least 65% of its “portlblio assets” in certain “qualified thrift investments” on 
a monthly basis in at least nine months of the most recent twelve-month period. “Portfolio assets” means, in general, an 
association’s total assets less the sum of (a) specified liquid assets up to 20% of total assets, (b) goodwill and other intangible 
assets and (c) the value of properly used to conduct the Bank’s business. “Qualified thrift investments” include various types 
of loans made for residential and housing purposes, investmcnts related to such purposes, including certain mortgage-backed 
and related securities and consumer loans. If the Bank lkils the QTL test, it must either operate under certain restrictions on its 
activities or convert from a thrift charter to a bank charter. In addition, il‘the Rank does not requalify under the QTL test 
within three years after failing the test, the institution would be prohibited from engaging in any activity not permissible for a 
national bank and would have to repay any outstanding advances liom the FHLB-NY as promptly as possible. At March 31, 
2007, the Bank maintained approximately 69.3% of its portfolio assets in qualified thrift investments. The Rank had also met 
the QTL test in each of the prior 12 months and was, therefore, a qualified thrift lender. 

On October 4,2006, the OTS and other federal bank regulatory authorities published the Interagency Guidance on 

Loans to One Borrower Limitations. The Bank is generally subject to the same limits on loans to one borrowcr as a 

Qual{fkd Thrifr Lt7ndt.r Trst. Undcr HOLA, the Bank must comply with a Qualified Thrift Lender (“QTL”) test. 

C’upilul Rc.yuirements. OTS regulations requirc the Rank to meet three minimum capital ratios: 

(1) a tangible capital ratio requirement o f  I .5% of total assets, as adjusted under OTS regulations; 

(2) a leverage ratio requirement of4% of core capital to such adjusted total assets; and 

( 3 )  a risk-based capital ratio requirement of 8% of core and supplementary capital to total risk-weighted assets. 

In determining compliance with the risk-based capital requirement, the Bank must compute its risk-weighted assets by 
multiplying its assets and certain off-balance sheet items by risk-weights, which range from 0% for cash and obligations issued 
by the U S .  government or its agencies to 100% for consumer and commercial loans, as assigned by the OTS capital 
regulations based on the risks that the OTS believes arc inherent in the type of asset. 

Generally, tangible capital is defined as common stockholders’ equity (including retained earnings), certain non- 
cumulative perpetual preferred stock and related earnings and minority interests in equity accounts ol‘ fully consolidated 
subsidiaries, less intangiblcs (other than certain mortgage servicing rights) and investments in and loans to subsidiaries 
engaged in activities not permissible for a national bank. 

Core capital is defined similarly to tangible capital, but also includcs certain qualifying supervisory goodwill less 
certain disallowed assets. Supplementary capital includes cumulative and other perpetual preferred stock, mandatory 
convertible securities, subordinated debt and intermediate preferred stock and the allowance for loan and lease losses. In 
addition, up to 45% ol‘unrealixed gains on available-for-sale equity securities with a readily determinable fair value may be 
included in supplementary capital. The allowance for loan and lease losscs includable in supplenientary capital is limited to a 
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maximum of 1.25% of risk-weighted assets, and the amount of supplementary capital that may be included as total capital 
cannot exceed the aniount of core capital. 

In assessing an institution’s capital adequacy, the OTS takes into considcration not only these numeric factors but 
qualitative factors as well, and has the authority to establish higher capital requirements for individual institutions where 
necessary. The Bank, as a matter of prudent management, targets as its goal the maintenance of capital ratios which exceed 
these minimum requirements and are consistent with the Rank’s risk profile. At March 3 I ,  2007, the Bank exceeded each of its 
capital requirements with a tangible capital ratio of 7.994, leverage capital ratio of 7.9% and total risk-based capital ratio of 
10.3%. 

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act (“FDICIA”), as amended, requires that thc OTS and 
other federal banking agencies rcvisc their risk-based capital standards, with appropriate transition rules, to ensure that they 
take into account interest rate risk, concentrations of risk and the risks of non-traditional activities. The OTS adopted 
regulations, ell‘ective January I ,  1994, that set forth the methodology for calculating an interest rate risk component to be 
incorporated into the OTS risk-based capital regulations. On May 10,2002, the OTS adopted an amendment to its capital 
regulations which eliminated thc interest rate risk component of the risk-based capital requirement. Pursuant to the 
amendment, the OTS will continue to monitor the interest rate risk of individual institutions through the OTS requirements for 
interest rate risk management, the ability of the OTS to impose individual minimum capital requirements on institutions that 
exhibit a high degrcc of interest rate risk, and the requirements of Thrift Bulletin 13a, which provides guidance on the 
management of interest rate risk and the responsibility of boards of directors in that area. In addition, the OTS monitors the 
interest rate risk of individual institutions through a variety of‘mcans, including an analysis of the change in portfolio value, or 
NPV. NPV is defined as the net present value ofthe cxpcctcd future cash flows ofan entity’s assets and liabilities and 
therefore, hypothetically represents thc value of an institution’s net worth. ‘The OTS has also used this NPV analysis as part of 
its evaluation of certain applications or notices submitted by thrift institutions. In addition, OTS Bulletin 13a provides 
guidance on thc management of‘interest rate risk and the responsibility of boards of directors in that area. The OTS, through its 
general oversight of the safety and soundness of savings associations, retains the right to impose minimum capital requirements 
on individual institutions to the cxtent the institution is not in compliance with certain written guidelines established by the 
OTS regarding NPV analysis. The OTS has not imposed any such requirements on the Bank. 

Prompt Corrective Acrion Replutions. Under tho prompt corrective action regulations, the OTS is authorized and, in 
some cases, required to takc supervisory actions against undercapitalized savings banks. For this purpose, a savings bank 
would bc placed in one of the following five categories based on the bank’s regulatory capital: well-capitalized; adequately 
capitalized; undercapitalized; significantly undercapitalized; or critically undercapitalized. 

The severity of the action authorized or required to be taken under the prompt corrective action regulations increases 
as a bank’s capital decreases within the three undercapitalized catcgories. All banks are prohibited from paying dividends or 
other capital distributions or paying management fkes to any controlling person if, following such distribution, the bank would 
be undercapitalized. Generally, a capital restoration plan must be filed with the OTS within 45 days of the date a bank receives 
notice that it is “undercapitalized,” “significantly undercapitalized” or “critically undercapitalized.” In addition, various 
mandatory supervisory actions become immediately applicable to the institution, including restrictions on growth of assets and 
other forms of expansion. Under the OTS regulations, generally, a federally chartered savings bank is treated as well 
capitalized if its total risk-based capital ratio is 10% or greater, its Tier I risk-based capital ratio is 6% or greater, and its 
leverage ratio is 5% or greater, and it is not subject to any order or directive by the OTS to meet a specific capital level. When 
appropriate, the OTS can require corrective action by a savings association holding company under the “prompt corrective 
action” provisions of federal law. At March 3 1,2007, the Bank was considered well-capitalized by the OTS. 

Limitation on Capital Distributions. The OTS imposes various restrictions on the Bank’s ability to make capital 
distributions, including cash dividends, payments to repurchase or otherwise acquire its shares and other distributions charged 
against capital. A savings institution that is the subsidiary of a savings and loan holding company, such as the Bank, must file 
a notice with the OTS at least 30 days before making a capital distribution. However, the Bank must file an application for 
prior approval if the total amount of its capital distributions (including each proposed distribution), for the applicable calendar 
year would exceed the Bank’s net income for that year plus the Bank’s retained net income for the previous two years. 

The Bank may not pay dividends to the Holding Company if, after paying those dividends, the Bank would fail to 
meet the required minimum levels under risk-based capital guidelines and the minimum leverage and tangible capital ratio 
requirements or the OTS notified the Bank that it was in need of more than normal supervision. 
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The Bank is prohibited from making capital distributions il‘ 

( I )  the Rank would be undercapitalized following the distribution; 

(2) the proposed capital distribution raises safety and soundness concerns; or 

(3) the capital distribution would violate a prohibition contained in any statute, regulation or agreement. 

Liyuidiity. The Bank maintains liquidity levels to meet operational needs. In the normal course of business, the levels 
of liquid assets during any given period are dependent on operating, investing and financing activities. Cash and due from 
banks, federal funds sold and repurchase agreements with maturities of three months or less are the Bank’s most liquid assets. 
The Bank maintains a liquidity policy to maintain sufficient liquidity to ensure its safe and sound operations. 

Branching. Subject to certain limitations, federal law permits the Bank to establish branches in any state of the United 
States. The authority for the Bank to establish an interstate branch network would facilitate a geographic diversification of the 
Bank’s activities. This authority under fcdcral law and OTS regulations preempts any state law purporting to regulate 
branching by federal savings associations. 

Communily Reinvestment. Under the CRA, as amended, as implemented by OTS regulations, the Bank has a 
continuing and affirmative obligation to help meet the credit needs of its entire community, including low and moderate 
income neighborhoods. The CRA docs not establish specific lending requirements or programs for the Bank nor does it liinit 
the Bank’s discretion to develop the types of products and services that it believes are best suitcd to its particular community. 
The CRA does, however, require the OTS, in connection with its examination of the Bank, to asscss the Bank’s record of 
meeting the credit needs of its community and to take such record into account in its evaluation of certain applications by the 
Bank. 

In particular, the system focuses on three tests: 

(1) 

(2) 

a lending test, to evaluate the institution’s record of‘ making loans in its assessment areas; 

an investment test, to evaluate the institution’s record of investing in community development projects, 
af’fordablc housing and programs benefiting low or moderate income individuals and busincssos; and 

a service test, to evaluate the institution’s delivery ofbanking services through its branches, ATM centers and 
other otxces. 

(3) 

The CRA also requires all institutions to make public disclosure of thcir CRA ratings. The Bank received an 
“Outstanding” CRA rating in its most recent examination conducted in 2006. 

Regulations require that we publicly disclose certain agreements that are in fulfillinent of CRA. The Holding 
Company has no such agreements in place at this time. 

Transactions with Related Parties. The Bank’s authority to engage in transactions with its “affiliates” and insiders i s  
limited by OTS regulations and by Sections 23A, 23B, 22(g) and 22(h) of‘the Federal Reserve Act (“FRA”). In general, these 
transactions must be on terms which are as favorable to the Rank as comparable transactions with non-affiliates. Additionally, 
certain types of these transactions are restricted to an aggregate percentage of the Rank’s capital. Collateral in specified 
amounts must usually be provided by affiliates in order to receive loans from the Bank. In addition, OTS regulations prohibit a 
savings bank from lending to any of its affiliates that is engaged in activities that arc not permissible for bank holding 
companies and from purchasing the securities of any affiliate other than a subsidiary. 

The Rank’s authority to extend credit to its directors, executive officers, and 10% shareholders, as well as to entities 
controlled by such persons, is currently governed by the requirements of Sections 22(gj and 22(h) of the FRA and Regulation 
0 of the FRB. Among other things, these provisions require that cxtcnsions of‘credit to insiders (a> be made on terms that are 
substantially the same as, and follow credit underwriting procedures that are not less stringent than, those prevailing for 
comparable transactions with unaffiliated persons and that do not involve more than the normal risk of repayment or present 
other unfavorable features and (bj not exceed certain limitations on the amount of credit extended to such persons, individually 
and in the aggregate, which limits are based, in part, on the amount ofthe Bank’s capital. In addition, extensions of credit in 
excess of certain limits must be approved by the Bank’s Board. At March 3 1,2007, there were no loans to ol‘ficurs or 
directors. 

The FRB has confirmed its previous interpretations of Sections 23A and 23B of the FRA with Regulation W. The 
OTS has also conformed its regulations to agree with Regulation W. Regulation W made various changes to existing law 



regarding Sections 23A and 23B, including expanding the definition of what constitutes an “affiliate” subject to Sections 23A 
and 23H and exempting certain subsidiaries of state-chartered banks from the restrictions of Sections 23A and 23R. 

The OTS regulations provide for additional restrictions imposed on savings associations under Section 1 I of HOLA, 
including provisions prohibiting a savings association from making a loan to an affiliate that is engaged in non-bank holding 
company activities and provisions prohibiting a savings association from purchasing or investing in securities issued by an 
affiliate that is not a subsidiary. The OTS regulations also include certain specific exemptions from these prohibitions. The 
FRB and the OTS expect each depository institution that is subject to Sections 23A and 23B to implement policies and 
procedures to ensure compliance with Regulation W and the OTS regulation. These regulations have had no material adverse 
effect on our busincss. 

Section 402 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act prohibits the extension of‘ personal loans to directors and executive officers of 
issuers (as defined in  the Sarbanes-Oxley Act). The prohibition, however, does not apply to mortgages advanced by an insured 
depository institution, such as thc Bank, that i s  subject to the insider lending restrictions of Section 22(h) ofthe FRA. 

Assessment. The OTS charges assessments to recover thc cost of examining savings associations and their affiliates. 
Thew assessments are based on three components: the size ofthc association, on which the basic assessment is based; the 
association’s supervisory condition, which results in an additional assessment based on a percentage of the basic assessment for 
any savings institution with a composite rating of 3,4, or 5 in its most recent safety and soundness examination; and the 
complexity of the association’s operations, which results in an additional assessment based on a percentagc of the basic 
assessment for any savings association that managed over $ 1  billion in trust assets, serviced for others loans aggregating more 
than $1 billion, or had certain off-balancc shcct assets aggregating more than $ I  billion. Effective July 1, 2004, thc OTS 
adopted a final rule replacing examination fccs for savings and loan holding companies with semi-annual assessments. For 
fiscal 2007, Carver paid $166,000 in OTS assessments. 

Enfiwcement. The OTS has primary enforcement responsibility over thc Bank. This enforcement authority includes, 
among other things, the ability to assess civil money penalties, to issue cease and desist orders and to remove directors and 
officers. In general, thew enforcement actions may be initiated in response to violations of laws and regulations and unsafe or 
unsound practices. 

Stundurds-for Sukty und Soundnnrss. The OTS has adopted guidelines prescribing safety and soundness standards. 
Thc guidelines establish general standards relating to intcrnal controls and information systems, internal audit systems, loan 
documentation, credit underwriting, interest rate exposure, asset growth, asset quality, earnings, compensation, fees and 
benefits. In gencral, the guidelines require, among other things, appropriate systems and practices to id en ti^ and manage the 
risks and exposures specified in the guidelines. In addition, OTS regulations authorize, but do not require, the OTS to order an 
institution that has been given notice that it is not satisfying these salkty and soundness standards to submit a compliance plan. 
If, aftcr being so notified, an institution fails to submit an acceptable compliance plan or fails in any material rcspect to 
implement an accepted compliance plan, the OTS must issue an ordcr directing action to correct the deficiency and may issuc 
an ordcr directing other actions of the types to which an undercapitali7ed association is subject under the “prompt corrective 
action” provisions of federal law. If an institution fails to comply with such an order, the OTS may seek to enforcc such order 
in  judicial proceedings and to impose civil money pcnalties. 

Insurance of Deposit Accounts 

The deposits of the Bank arc insured up to applicable limits by the DTF. The DTF is the successor to the Bank 
Insurance Fund and thc Savings Association Insurance Fund, which were merged in 2006. The FDIC recently amended its risk- 
based assessment system for 2007 to implement authority granted by the Federal Deposit Insurance Rclbnn Act of 2005 (the 
“Reform Act”). Under the revised system, insured institutions are assigned to one of four risk categories based on supervisory 
evaluations, regulatory capital levels and certain other factors. An institution’s assessment rate depends upon the category to 
which it is assigned. Risk Category I ,  which contains the leas1 risky depository institutions, is expected to include more than 
90% of all institutions. Unlike the other categories, Risk Category I contains further risk differentiation based on the FDIC’s 
analysis of financial ratios, cxamination component ratings and other information. Assessment rates are determined sem- 
annually by the FDIC and currently range from five to seven basis points for the healthiest institutions (Risk Catcgory 1) to 43 
basis points 01‘ assessable deposits for the riskiest (Risk Catcgory TV). The FDIC may adjust rates uniformly from one quarter 
to the next, except that no single adjustment can exceed three basis points. 

Thc Refvrm Act also provided for a one-time credit for eligible institutions based on their assessment base as of 
December 3 I ,  1996. Subject to certain limitations with respect to institutions that are exhibiting weaknesses, credits can be 
used to offset assessments until cxhausted. The Bank’s one-time credits arc expected to fully cover the 2007 asscssmcnt. The 
Reform Act also provided for the possibility that the FDIC may pay dividends to insured institutions once the DIF rescrvc ratio 
equals or exceeds 1.35% ol‘ estimated insured deposits. 
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In addition to the assessment for deposit insurance, institutions are required to makc payments on bonds issued in the 
late 1980s by the Financing Corporation to recapitalize a predecessor deposit insurance fund. This payment is establishcd 
quarterly, and during the calendar year cnding December 3 1,2006, averaged 1.28 basis points of assessable deposits. 

The Reform Act provided the FDIC with authority to adjust the DTF ratio to insured deposits within a rangc of 1.15% 
to 1.50%, in contrast to the prior statutorily fixed ratio of 1.25%. The ratio, which is viewed by the FDlC as the level that the 
fund should achieve, was established by the agency at 1.25% for 2007. 

The FDlC has authority to increase insurance assessments. A significant increase in insurance premiums would likely 
have an adverse effect on thc operating expenses and results of opcrations of the Community Bank and the Commercial Bank. 
Management cannot predict what insurance assessment rates will be in the future. 

Insurance of deposits may be terminated by the FDIC upon a finding that the institution has engaged in unsafe or 
unsound practices, is in an unsafe or unsound condition to continue operations or has violated any applicable law, regulation, 
rule, order or condition imposed by the FDIC. The management oithc Bank does not know of any practice, condition or 
violation that might lead to termination of deposit insurance. 

The Bank’s total expciise in fiscal 2007 Kor FDIC assessment for Financing Corporation (FICO) bonds interest 
payments was $66,000. Due to the Bank’s favorable assessment risk classification there was no deposit insurance assessment 
on our deposits for fiscal 2007. 

Federul Home Loan Tlunk System. The Bank is a member of the FHLB-NY, which is one of’the twelve regional banks 
composing the FHLB System. Each rcgional bank provides a central credit facility primarily ior its member institutions. The 
Bank, as a FFILB-NY member, is required to acquire and hold sharcs of capital stock in the FHLB-NY in an amount equal to 
the greater of (i) 1% of thc aggregate principal amount of its unpaid residential mortgage loans, home purchase contracts and 
similar obligations at the beginning of each year, and (ii) 5% (or such greater Ikaction as established by the FHLB-NY) of its 
outstanding advances from the FHLB-NY. The Bank was in compliance with this requirement with an investment in the 
capital stock of the FHLB-NY at March 31,2007 of $3.2 million. Any advances from the FHLB-NY must be secured by 
specilicd types of collateral, and all long tcmi advances may be obtained only for the purpose of providing funds for residential 
housing finance. 

FHLB-NY is required to provide funds for the resvlution of insolvent thrifts and to contribute funds lor affordable 
housing programs. These requirements could reduce the amount ol’earnings that the FHLB-NY can pay as dividends to their 
members and could also result in  the FHLB-NY imposing a higher rate of intercst on advances to thcir members. If’ dividends 
were reduced, or interest on future FHLB-NY advances increased, the Bank’s net interest income would be adversely affected. 
Dividends from FHLB-NY to the Bank amounted to $261,000, $274,000 and $130,000 for fiscal years 2007,2006 and 2005, 
respectively. In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the FHLB-NY suspended dividend payments to stockholders duc to losses in 
its securities portfolio, but resumed payment in the fourth quarter. The dividend rate paid on FHLH-NY stock at March 3 I ,  
2007 was 7.50%. 

Under the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, as amended g gramin-Leach"), which repeals historical restrictions and 
cliininates many fcderal and state law barriers to affiliations among banks and securities firms, insurance companies and other 
financial service providers, mcmbership in thc FHLB system is now voluntary for all federally-chartered savings banks such as 
the Bank. Gramm-Leach also replaces the existing redeemable stock structure of the FIILB system with a capital structurc that 
requires each FHLB tu meet a levcrage limit and a risk-based permanent capital requirement. Two classes of stock arc 
authori7ed: Class A (redeemable on six months notice) and Class B (redeemable on five years notice). Pursuant to regulations 
promulgated by the Federal Housing Finance Board, as required by Gramm-Leach, the FHLB has adopted a capital plan that 
will change the foregoing minimum stvck ownership requirements for FHLB stock. Under the new capital plan, each member 
ofthe FHLB will have to maintain a minimum investment in FIILB capital stock in an amount equal to the sum of(1) the 
grcater of $1,000 or 0,20% of the member’s mortgage-related assets and (2) 4.50% of the dollar amount of any outstanding 
advances under such member’s Advances, Collateral Pledge and Security Agreement with the FHLB-NY. 

fiederul Reserve Sy.stem. Under the FRB’s regulations, the Bank is required to maintain non-interest-earning reserves 
against its transaction accounts. FRB regulations generally require that (a) reserves of 3% must be maintained against 
aggregate transaction accounts between $7.0 million and $48.3 million (subject to adjustment by the FRB), and (b) a reserve of 
$1.2 million and 10% (subjcct to adjustment by the FRB bctween 8% and 14%) must be maintained against that portion of‘ total 
transaction accounts in exccss of $48.3 million. The first $7.0 million of‘ otherwise reservable balances arc exempted from the 
reserve requirements. The Bank i s  in compliance with thcsu reserve requirements. Because required reserves must be 
maintained in the form of either vault cash, a non-interest-bearing account at a Federal Reserve Hank, or a pass-through 



account as defined by the FRB, the effect of this rescrve requirement is to reduce the Bank’s interest-earning assets to the 
extent that the rcquirement exceeds vault cash. 

Privacy Protection. Carver Federal is subject to OTS regulations implementing the privacy protection provisions of 
Gramm-Leach. These rcgulations require the Rank to disclose its privacy policy, including identifying with whom it shares 
“nonpublic personal inlbrination,” to customers at the time of establishing the customer relationship and annually thereafter. 
The regulations also require the Bank to provide its customers with initial and annual notices that accurately reflect its privacy 
policies and practices. 111 addition, to the extent its sharing of such information is not exempted, the Bank is required to 
provide its customcrs with the ability to “opt-out” of having the Bank share thcir nonpublic personal information with 
unaffiliated third parties before they can disclose such infionnation, subject to certain exceptions. 

The Bank is subject to regulatory guidelines establishing standards [or safeguarding customer information. These 
regulations implement certain provisions of Gramm-Leach. The guidelines describe the agencies’ cxpectations for the 
creation, implementation and maintenance of an information security program, which would includc administrative, technical 
and physical safeguards appropriate to the size and complexity of the institution and the naturc and scope of its activities. The 
standards set forth in the guidelines are intended to insure the security and confidentiality of customer records and information, 
protect against any anticipated threats or hazards to the security or integrity 01‘ such records and protect against unauthorized 
access to or use or such records or information that could result in substantial harm or inconvenience to any customer. The 
Bank has a policy to comply with the foregoing guidelines. 

TTolding C0mpun.y Reggulutmn. The Holding Company i s  a savings and loan holding company regulatcd by the OTS. 
As such, the Holding Company is registered with and is subject to OTS examination and supervision, as well as certain 
reporting requirements. In addition, the OTS has enforcement authority over the Holding Company and its subsidiaries. 
Among other things, this authority permits the OTS to restrict or prohibit activities that arc determined to be a serious risk to 
the financial safety, soundncss or stability of a subsidiary savings institution. Unlike bank holding companies, federal savings 
and loan holding companics are not subject to any regulatory capital rcquircincnts or to supervision by the F’RB. 

Gramm-Leach restricts the powers ol‘new unitary savings and loan holding companies. Unitary savings and loan 
holding companies that are “grandfathered,” Le., unitary savings and loan holding companies in existence or with applications 
filed with the OTS on or bcforu May 4, 1999, such as Carver, retain thcir authority under the prior law. All other unitary 
savings and loan holding companies are limited to financially related activities permissible for bank holding companies, as 
defined under Gramm-Leach. Gramin-Leach also prohibits non-financial companics liom acquiring grandfathered unitary 
savings and loan holding companies. 

Restrictions Applicahle to All Savings urd Loun Holding Companies. Federal law prohibits a savings and loan 
holding company, including the Holding Company, directly or indirectly, from acquiring: 

( 1 )  

(2) 

control (as dei-ined under HOLA) of another savings institution (or a holding company parent) 
without prior OTS approval; 

through merger, consolidation, or purchase of assets, anothcr savings institution or a holding 
company thereof, or acquiring all or substantially all of the assets of such institution (or a holding 
company), without prior OTS approval; or 

control of any depository institution not insurcd by the FDTC (except through a merger with and into 
thc holding company’s savings institution subsidiary that is approved by the OTS). 

(3) 

A savings and loan holding company may not acquire as a separate subsidiary an insured institution that has a 
principal office outside of the state where the principal office of its subsidiary institution is located, except: 

( I )  

( 2 )  

in thc case of certain emergency acquisitions approved by the FDIC; 

i I‘such holding company controls a savings institution subsidiary that opcrated a home or branch 
office in such additional state as of March 5, 1987; or 

if thc laws of the state in which the savings institution to be acquired is locatcd specifically 
authorize a savings institution chartcred by that state to be acquired by a savings institution 
chartered by the state where the acquiring savings institution or savings and loan holding company 
is located or by a holding company that controls such a state chartered association. 

(3) 

The HOLA prohibits a savings and loan holding company (directly or indirectly, or through one or more subsidiaries) 
from acquiring another savings association or holding company thereof without prior writtcn approval of the OTS; acquiring or 
retaining, with certain exceptions, more than 5% of a non-subsidiary savings association, a non-subsidiary holding company, or 
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a non-subsidiary company engaged in activities other than those pcrmittcd by the HOLA; or acquiring or retaining control of a 
depository institution that is not federally insured. In evaluating applications by holding companies to acquire savings 
associations, the OTS must consider the financial and managerial resources and fbture prospects of the company and institution 
involved, the effcct of the acquisition on the risk to the insurance h d s ,  the convenience and needs of the community and 
competitive factors. 

I Other Federal Replutron. The Bank is subject to OTS regulations implementing the Uniting and Strengthening 
America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001, or thc USA PATRIOT 

I 
I Act. The USA PATRIOT Act gives the federal govcrnment new powers to address terrorist threats through enhanced domestic 

security measures, expanded surveillance powers, increased information sharing, and broadened anti-money laundering I 
requirements. By way of amendments to the Bank Sccrccy Act, Title 111 of the USA PATRIOT Act takes measures intended to 
encourage information sharing among bank regulatory agencics and law enforcement bodies. Further, certain provisions of 
Title Ill impose ailinnative obligations on a broad range of financial institutions, including banks, thrifts, brokers, dealers, 
credit unions, moncy transfer agents and parties registered under the Commodity Exchange Act. 

Title 111 of the USA PATRIOT Act and the related OTS regulations impose the following requirements with respect to 
financial institutions: 

Fed~ral Securities Low. The Holding Company is subject to thc periodic reporting, proxy solicitation, tender offer, 
insider trading restrictions and other requirements under the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”). 

Dcluwcrw C‘orponiiion Law. The Holding Company is incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware. Thus, it 
is subject to regulation by the State of Delaware and thc rights of its shareholders are governed by the General Corporation 
Law of the State of Delaware. 

New York Stare Banking Laws and Reguldons.  On October 5,2006, Carver Federal established a new 
subsidiary, CMR, as a state chartered limited purpose commcrcial bank in New York, to accept deposits of municipalitics 
and other governmental entities in the State ofNcw York. CMB is subject to extensive regulation, examination and 
supervision by the New York State Superintendcnl of Banks, as its primary regulator and the FDIC, as thc deposit 
insurer. 

In addition to being a regulator of CMB, the New York State Banking Department has adopted Section 6-L to the 
banking law arid regulations which impose restrictions and limitations on certain high cost home loans made by any individual 
or entity, including a federally-chartered savings bank, that originates morc than one high cost home loan in New York State in 
a 12-month period. Among other things, the regulations and statute prohibit certain mortgage loan provisions and certain acts 
and practices by originators and impose certain disclosure and reporting requirements. It is unclear whether these provisions 
would bc preempted by Section 5(a) of HOLA, as implemented by the lending and investment regulations of the OTS. The 
OTS has not yet adoptcd regulations regarding high-cost mortgage loans and is currently considering whether it will do so. 
Although the Bank does not originate loans that meet the definition of “high-cost mortgage loan” under the proposed 
regulations, in the event the Rank determines to originate such loans in the future, the Bank may be subject to such regulation, 
if adopted as proposcd. 

Establishment of anti-money laundering programs. 

Establishment of a program specifying procedures for obtaining identifying information from customers 
seeking to open new accounts, including verifying the identity of customers within a reasonable period of 
time, 

Establishment ol’cnhanced due diligence policies, procedures and controls designed to detect and report 
moncy laundering. 

Prohibition on correspondent accounts for fbreign shell banks and compliancc with recordkeeping 
ohligations with respect to correspondent accounts of foreign banks. 

FEDERAL AND STATE TAXATION 

Federal Taxation 

General. The Holding Company and the Bank currently file consolidated federal income tax returns, report their 
income fbr tax return purposes on the basis of a taxable-year ending March 3 1 st, using the accrual method of accounting and 



arc subject to federal incomc taxation in the same manner as other corporations with some exceptions, iiicluding in particular 
the Bank’s tax reserve for bad debts discussed below. The following discussion of tax matters is intended only as a summary 
and does not purport to bc a comprehensive description of the tax rules applicablc to the Rank or the Holding Company. 

I State and Local Taxation 

Bud Debt Resewex. Prior to fiscal 2004 the Rank met the requircment as a “small bank” (one with assets having an 
adjusted tax basis of$500 million or less) and was permitted to maintain a reserve for bad debts with respect to “qualifying 
loans,” which, in general, are loans secured by certain interests in real property, and to make, within specilied formula limits, 
annual additions to the reserve which are deductible for p~t -po~es  of computing the Bank’s taxable income. Since fiscal year 
2004. the Bank has not been considered to be a small bank because its total assets have exceeded $500 million. 

Distributions. To the extent that the Rank makes “non-dividend distributions” to shareholders, such distributions will 
be considered to result in distributions from the Bank’s “basc year reserve,” i.e., its reserve as of March 3 1, 1988, to the extent 
thercof and then from its supplemental reserve for losses on loans, and an amount based on the amount distributed will be 
included in the Bank’s taxable income. Non-dividend distributions include distributions in excess of the Bank’s current and 
accumulated earnings and profits, distributions in redemption of stock and distributions in partial or complete liquidation. 
However, dividends paid out of the Bank’s current or accuniulated earnings and profits, as calculated for federal income tax 
purposes, will not constitute non-dividend distributions and, therefore, will not be included in the Bank’s taxable income. 

The amount of additional taxable income created from a non-dividend distribution is an amount that, when reduced by 
the tax attributable to thc income, is equal to thc amount of the distribution. Thus, approxiinatcly one and one-half‘timcs the 
non-dividend distribution would be includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes, assuming a 34% federal 
corporate income tax rate. 

 minu nu lion ufDividends; Dividend-Received Deduction. The Holding Company may exclude from its income 
100% of dividends receivcd from the Bank as a member ofthe same affiliated group ofcorporations. The corporate dividends- 
received deduction is generally 70% in the case of dividends received from unaffiliated corporations with which the Holding 
Company and the Bank will not file a consolidated tax return, except that if the Holding Company or the Bank owns more than 
20% of the stock o f a  corporation distributing a dividend, thcn 80% of any dividends received may be deducted. 

State of New Yurk. The Bank and the Holding Company are subject to New York State franchise tax on their entire 
net income or one of several alternative bases, whichever results in the highest tax. “Enlire nct income” means federal taxable 
income with adjustments. The Rank and the Holding Company filc combined returns and are subject to taxation in the same 
manncr as other corporations with some exceptions, including the Bank’s deductions for additions to its reserve for bad debts. 
The New Y ork State franchise tax rate based upon entire net income for both h a 1  ycars 2007 and 2006 was 9.03% (including 
the Metropolitan Commuter Transportation District Surcharge) of net incomc. In general, the Holding Company is not 
requircd to pay New York State tax on dividends and interest receivcd from the Bank or 011 gains realized on thc sale of Bank 
stock. 60% of dividend income, and gains and losses from subsidiary capital are excluded from New York State entire net 
income. Distributions to Carver Federal received from Carver Asset Corporation are eligible for the New York State dividends 
received deduction. However, the Holding Company has been subject to a franchise tax rate of 3.5 1 % (including the 
Metropolitan Commuter Transportation District Surcharge) for both fiscal years 2007 and 2006 based upon alternative entire 
net income. For this purpose, alternative entire net income is determined by adding back 60% of dividend income, and gains 
and losses from subsidiary capital to New York State entire net income. 

New York State has enacted legislation that enabled the Bank to avoid the recapture ofthc New York State tax bad 
debt reserves that otherwise would have occurrcd as a result of thc changes in federal law and to continue to utilize either the 
federal method or a method based on a percentage of its taxable income for computing additions to its bad debt reserve. 

New Ymrk C@. The Bank and the Holding Company are also subject to a similarly calculated New York City banking 
corporation tax of 9% on income allocated to New York City. In this connection, legislation was enacted regarding the use and 
treatment of tax bad debt reserves that is substantially similar to the New York State legislation described above. The Hank 
and thc Holding Coinpany are subject to New York City banking corporation tax of 3% on alternative entire net income 
allocated to New York City. 

Delaware Tuxalion. As a Delaware holding company not earning income in Delaware, the Holding Company is 
exempted from Delaware corporate incomc tax but is required to file an annual report with and pay an annual franchise tax to 
the State of Delaware. 
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE HOLDING COMPANY 

The name, position, term of officc as officer and period during which he or she has served as an officer is provided 
below for cach executive officer ofthc Holding Company as ofJunc  15,2007. Each ofthe persons listed below is an execulivc 
officer of the Holding Company and the Rank, holding the samc office in each. 

Company and Carver Federal since June 1 ,  1999. In February 2005, Ms. Wright was elected Chairman of the Board. Prior to 
joining Carver, Ms. Wright was President & Chief Executive Officer of the Upper Manhatlati Empowerment Zone 
Development Corporation, a position she held since May 1996. 

formerly served as Senior Vice President, Corporate Secretary and Chief'of'Staff since May 2005. Prior to joining Carver, Mr. 
Swan served as Vice President, Finance & Administration at Time Warner Inc. since March 2003. 

Mr. Koehler was the President and Chief Executive Oflicer of CCR where he had been employed since 1998. He has an 
extensive background in many phases of banking with over 40 years experience primarily in the credit arena. 

Ms. Ifill was with Bank of America where she was responsible for thc growth of a $3 billion asset portfolio and client 
acquisitions and satisfaction, retiring after 28 years as SVP and Market Manager for the Premier Banking Division. 

Previously, Mr. Bason was Vice President and Real Estate Loan Officer at The Bank ofNew York where he had bccn 
employed sincc 1991. At the Bank of New York, Mr. Bason was responsible for developing and maintaining relationships 
with developers, builders, real estatc investors and brokers to provide construction and permanent real estatc financing. 

CCDC since September 2006. Previously, Ms. Bolden-Rivera was the Chief Credit Officer of CCB where she had been 
employed since 1995. 

2005. Mr. Felix was previously Deputy General Manager at Korea Exchange Bank's Regional Headquarters for the Americas 
where he was rosponsible for the administration of the bank's Internal Audit Department in the Western Hemisphere. 

Margaret D. Roberts, age 55, has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer since June 
2002 and formerly served as Senior Vice President and Chief Adiniiiistrativc Officer since October 1999. Ms. Roberts camc to 
Carver from Deutsche Rank where she had served as a Compensation Planning Consultant in Corporate Human Resources. 

ITEM IA. RISK FACIORS. 

Deborah C. Wright, age 49, has served as President and Chief Executive Officer and a Director of the Holding 

Roy Swan, age 43, has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since November 2006 and 

Charles F. Koehler, age 63, has served as Executive Vice President of Lending since September 2006. Previously, 

Susan M. Ifill, agc 47, has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Retail Officer since January 2007. Previously, 

James H. Bason, agc 52, has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Lending Officer since March 2003. 

Gina L. Bolden-Rivera, age 51, has served as Senior Vice President of Carver Federal Savings Bank and President of 

Carmelo Felix, age 57, has served as Senior Vice President and Director ol'Audit and Compliance sincc January 

Risk is an inherent part of' Carver's business and activities. The following is a suininary ofrisk factors relevant to 
the Company's operations which should be carefully reviewed. These risk factors do not necessarily appear in the order of' 
importance. 

Changes in interest rate environment may negatively affect Carver's net income, mortgage loan originations 
and valuation of available-for-sale securities. The Company's earnings depend largcly on the relationship between the 
yield on interest-earning assets, primarily our mortgage, construction and business loans and mortgage-backed securities, 
and thc cost o f  deposits and borrowings. This relationship, known as the interest ratc spread, is subject to fluctuation and is 
affected by economic and competitive factors which influence market interest rates, the volume and mix of interest-earning 
assets and interest-bearing liabilities, and the level ol'non-performing assets. Fluctuations in market interest rates affect 
customer demand for products and services. Carver is subject to interest rate risk to the degree that its intcrcst-bearing 
liabilities reprice or mature more slowly or more rapidly or on a different basis than its interest-earning assets. 

In addition, the actual amount of time before mortgage, construction and business loans and mortgage-backed 
securities arc repaid can be significantly impacted by changes in  mortgage prepayment rates and prevailing market interest 
rates. Mortgage prepayment rates will vary due to a number of factors, including the regional economy in the area where 
the underlying mortgages were originated, seasonal factors, demographic variables and the ability to assume thc underlying 
mortgages. IIowever, the major factors affecting prepayment rates are prevailing interest ratcs, related loan refinancing 
opportunities and competition. 

The Company's objective is to fund its liquidity needs primarily through lower costing deposit growth. However, 
from time to tune Carver Federal borrows from the FTTLB-NY. More recently, the cost ofdeposits and borrowings have 
become significantly higher with thc rising interest rate environment, which as negatively impacted net interest income. 
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During fiscal 2007, the Federal Open Market Committee (“FOMC”) raised the federal funds ratc two times (a total 
of 50 basis points). U.S. Treasury yields on the thirteen week maturities have increased in fiscal 2007 from fiscal 2006 
while the five and ten year maturities have decreased. This has resulted in further flattening and at times inversion of the 
U.S. Treasury yicld curve. The Bank’s short-term borrowings, as well as its deposits, are generally priced relative to short- 
term U.S. Treasury yields, whereas its mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities are generally priced relative to 
rncdium-term (two-to-five years) U.S. Treasury yields. The flattening or inversion of the yield curve reduces the spread 
between the yield on our interest-earning assets and the cost of deposits and borrowings, thercby reducing net income. 

factors that will cause rates to change. 
Interest rates are expected to continue to fluctuate and the Company cannot predict  future FRB actions or other 

The estimated lair value of our available-for-sale securities portfolio may increase or decrease depending on 
changes in interest rates. Carver Federal’s securities portfolio is comprised primarily of adjustable rate securities. Since 
interest rates have not risen as fist as in fiscal 2006, there has been an improvement in the valuation of the Bank’s available 
for sale securities. 

Carver’s results of operations are affected by economic conditions in the New York metropolitan area. At 
March 3 1, 2007, a significant portion of the Bank’s lending portfolio was concentrated in the New York metropolitan area. 
As a result of this geographic concentration, Carver’s results of operations are largely dependent on economic conditions in 
this area. Decreases in real cstate values could adversely affect the value of property used as collateral for loans to its 
borrowers. Adverse changes in the economy caused by inllation, recession, unemployment or other factors beyond our 
control may also have a negative effect on the ability of borrowers to make timely mortgage or business loan payments, 
which would have an adverse impact on our earnings. Consequently, deterioration in economic conditions in the New York 
metropolitan area could have a material adverse impact on the quality of the Bank’s loan portfolio, which could result in 
increased delinquencies, decreased interest income results as well as an adverse impact on loan loss experience with 
probable increased allowance for loan losses. Such deterioration also could adversely impact the demand for products and 
services, and, accordingly, fiirther negatively affect results of operations. 

During fiscal 2007, the national real estate market in general was somewhat weaker than a year ago but continued to 
support new and existing home sales at albeit reduced levels. The slowdown in the general housing market is evidenced by 
reports of reduced levels of new and existing home sales, increasing inventories of houses on thc market, stagnant to declining 
property values and an increase in the length of time houses remain on the market. However, Carver Federal’s direct local real 
estate markets exhibit continuing signs of strength, which appears to be due in part to the limited availability of affordable 
housing alternatives in the markets in which Carver Federal operates. 

No assurance can be given that these conditions will improve or will not worsen or that such conditions will not result 
in  a decrease in our interest income or an adverse impact on our loan losses. 

Strong competition within the Bank’s market areas could hurt expected profits and slow growth. The New 
York metropolitan area has a high density 01’ financial institutions, a number of which are significantly larger than Carver 
Federal and with greater financial resources. Additionally, various large out-of-state financial institutions continue to enter 
the New York metropolitan area market. All are considered competitors to varying degrees. 

Carver Federal faces intense competition both in making loans and attracting deposits. Competition for loans, both 
locally and in the aggregate, comes principally from mortgage banking companies, commercial banks, savings banks and 
savings and loan associations. Most direct competition for dcposits comes from commercial banks, savings banks, savings 
and loan associations and credit unions. The Bank also faces competition for deposits from money market mutual funds 
and other corporate and government securities funds as well as from other financial intermediaries such as brokerage firms 
and insurance companies. Market area competition is a factor in pricing the Bank’s loans and deposits, which could reduce 
net interest income. Competition also makes it more challenging to effectively grow loan and deposit balances. The 
Company’s profitability depends upon its continued ability to successfully compete in its market areas. 

exposure to lending risks. At March 31, 2007,  $340.9 million, or 58.20/0, of our total loans receivable portfolio consisted 
of non-residential and construction real estate loans compared to $246.6 million, or 49.70/0, at March 3 1, 2006. Non- 
residential and construction real estate loans generally involve a greater degree of crcdit risk than one- to four-family loans 
because they typically have larger balances and are morc sensitive to changes in the economy. Payments on these loans 
ollcn depend upon the successful operation and management of the underlying properties and the businesses which operate 
from within them; repayment of such loans may be affected by factors outside the borrower’s control, such as adverse 
conditions in the real estate market or the economy or changes in government regulation. 

2007, $51.2 million, or X.B%, of‘our total loans receivable consisted ofbusiness loans as compared to $445,000, or 0.1%, at  
March 31, 2006. Business loans generally involve a greater degree of credit risk than one- to four- family loans because 
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The Bank’s increased emphasis on non-rcsidential and construction real estate lending may create increased 

The Bank has increased the business loan portfolio during fiscal 2007 with the acquisition ol‘CCB. At March 31, 



they typically have larger balances and are more sensitive to changes in the economy. Payments on these loans often 
depend upon the successful operation and management of thc underlying business segment and the businesses which 
operate froin within them; repayment of such loans may be affected by factors outside the borrower’s control, such as 
adverse economic conditions, increased competition or changes in government regulation. 

The Bank may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of the acquisition, and acquisitions may result in 
unforeseen integration difficulties. The Company periodically explores acquisition opportunities through which it seeks to 
expand market share. Recently, the Company acquired CCB to expand its product line by entering the small business market. 
The success of the acquisition will depend on, among other things, Carver Fedcral’s ability to realize anticipated cost savings 
and to combine the businesscs of Carver Federal and CCR in a manner that does not materially disrupt the existing customer 
rclationships of Carver Federal or CCB or result in decreased revenues from any loss of customers. If’Carver Federal is not 
able to successfully achicvc these objectives, the anticipated benetits of thc merger may not be reahcd  fully or at all or may 
take longer to rea1i.x than expected. In addition, difficulty in intcgrating this and any other acquired business may rcsult in the 
Company not being able to realize cxpected revenue increases and cost savings, and may cause disruption ol‘its business, and 
may otherwise adversely affect its ability to achieve the anticipated benetits of the acquisition. 

Currently, the Company is on schedule with its CCR integration efforts, and expects to complete integration by the 
end of the second quarter of liscal 2008. It is possible that the integration process could result in the loss of key employees, the 
disruption of Carver Federal’s or CCB’s ongoing businesses or inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures and policies 
that adversely affect the ability of Carver Federal to maintain relationships with customers and employees or to achievc the 
anticipated benelits of the merger. 

The Bank operates in a highly regulated industry, which limits the manner and scope of our business activities. 
Carver Federal is subject to extensive supervision, regulation and examination by the OTS, by thc FDIC:, and, to a lesser extent, 
by the New York State Banking Department. As a result, we are limited in the manner in which we conduct our business, 
undertake new investments and activities and obtain financing. This regulatory structure is designed primarily for the 
protection of the deposit insurance funds and our depositors, and not to benefit our stockholders. This regulatory structure also 
gives the regulatory authorities extensive discretion in connection with their supervisory and enforcement activities and 
examination policies, including policies with respect to capital levels, the timing and amount of dividend paymcnts, the 
classification of assets and the establishment of adequate loan loss reserves for regulatory purposes. In addition, we must 
comply with significant anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism laws. Government agencies have substantial discretion to 
impose significant monetary penalties on institutions which fail to comply with these laws. 

On Octobcr 4, 2006, the OTS and other federal bank regulatory authorities published the Interagency Guidance on 
Nontraditional Mortgage Product Risks, or the Guidance. In general, the Guidance applies to all residential mortgage loan 
products that allow borrowers to defer repayment 01‘ principal or interest. The Guidance describes sound practices fbr inanaging 
risk, as wcll as marketing, originating and servicing nontraditional mortgage products, which include, among other things, 
interest-only loans. The Guidance sets forth Supervisory expectations with respect to loan tcnns and underwriting standards, 
portfolio and risk management practices and consumer protection. For cxaniple, the Guidancc indicates that originating 
interest-only loans with reduced documentation is considered a layering of risk and that institutions are expected to 
demonstrate mitigating Factors to support their underwriting decision and the borrower’s repayment capacity. Specifically, the 
Guidance indicates that a lender may accept a borrower’s statement as to the borrower’s income without obtaining verification 
only if there are mitigating factors that clearly minimize the necd for direct verification of repayment capacity and that, for 
many borrowers, institutions should be able to readily document income. 

From time to time, we may originate interest-only and intcrcst-only reduced documentation residential loans. We 
originate such loans Ibr sale to investors, such as the Federal National Mortgage Association, known as Fannie Mae. We do not 
originate negative amortixition or payment option loans. Reduccd documentation loans include stated income, full asset, or 
SIFA loans; stated income, stated asset, or STSA loans; and Super Streamline loans. SIFA and SISA loans require a prospective 
borrower to completc a standard mortgage loan application while the Super Streamline product rcquires the completion of an 
abbreviated application and is in cffect considered a “no documentation” loan. Each of thesc products requires the receipt of an 
appraisal of the real estate used as collateral for the mortgage loan and a credit report on the prospective borrower. The loans 
are priced according to our internal risk assessmciit of the loan giving consideration to thc loan-to-value ratio, the potential 
borrower’s credit scores and various other credit criteria. SIFA loans require thc verification of a potcntial borrower’s asset 
information on the loan application, but not the income infomiation provided. 

We are currcntly evaluating thc Guidance to determine our compliaiicc and whether or not we need to modify our risk 
management practices and underwriting guidelines as they relate to originations and purchases of the subject loans, or practices 
relating to communications with ConsLmers. Therefore, at this time, we cannot predict the impact the Guidance may have, if 
any, on our loan origination and purchase volumes or our underwriting procedurcs in future periods. 



Efforts to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act will involve significant expenditures, and non-compliance 
with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act may adversely affect us. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and the related rules and 
regulations promulgated by the SEC increase the scope, complexity and cost of corporate governance, reporting, and 
disclosure practice. The Company has experienced, and expects to continue to experience, greater compliance costs, 
including design, testing and audit costs related to internal controls, as a result of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. For example, 
under Section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley, beginning with Carver’s fiscal year ending March 3 1, 2008, the Company’s 
managcrnent will be required to issue a rcport on the Company‘s internal conlrols ovcr financial reporting and beginning with Carverk 
fiscal year ended March 31,2009, Carvcr’s management will also be required to file an auditors attestation report on thc Company’s 
intcrnal controls over financial reporting.. The Company expects the implementation of’ these new rules and regulations to 
continue to increase its accounting, legal, and other costs, and to make some activities more difficult, time consuming, and 
costly. In thc event that the Company is unablc to maintain or achieve coinpliancc with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and related 
rules, Carver’s profitability and the market price of Carver’s stock may be adverscly affected. 

us to obtain certain types of insurance, including directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, which could make it more 
dillicult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors or as executive officers. 

operations. Financial institution regulation has been the subject of significant legislation and may be the subject of further 
significant legislation in the future, none of which is in the Company’s control. Significant new laws or changes in, or 
repeals of, existing laws, including with respcct to federal and state taxation, may cause results of operations to differ 
materially. In addition, cost of compliancc could adversely affect Carver’s ability to operate profitably. Further, federal 
monetary policy significantly affects credit conditions for Carver Federal, particularly as implemented through the Federal 
Reserve System. A material change in any of these conditions could have a material impact on Carver Federal, and 
therefore on the Company’s results of operations. 

may prevent the Company from making future dividend payments or principal and interest payments on its debt 
obligation. Carver is a unitary savings and loan association holding company regulated by the OTS and almost all of its 
operating assets are owned by Carver Federal. Carver relies primarily on dividends from the Bank to pay cash dividends to 
its stockholders, to engage in share repurchase programs and to pay principal and interest on its trust prcrcrred debt 
obligation. The OTS regulates all capital distributions by the Bank to the Company, including dividend payments. As the 
subsidiary of a savings and loan association holding company, Carver Federal must tile a notice or an application 
(depending on the proposed dividend amount) with the OTS prior to each capital distribution. The OTS will disallow any 
proposed dividend that would result in failure to meet the OTS’ minimum capital requirements. Based on Carver Federal’s 
current financial condition, it is not expected that this provision will have any impact on the Company’s receipt of dividends 
from the Hank. Payment ol‘dividends by Carver Federal also may be restricted at any time, at the discretion of the OTS, if 
it deems the payment to constitute an unsafe or unsound banking practice. 

Company and its third party service providers use could be vulnerable to unlbreseen problems. Fire, power loss or other 
failures may ell‘ect Carver’s computer equipment and other techology, or that of the Company’s third party service providers. 
Also, the Company’s computer systems and network infrastructure could be damaged by “hacking” and “identity theft” which 
could adverscly affect the results of Carver’s operations, or that ofthc Company’s third party service providers. 

attract and retain key employees reflecting current markct opportunities and challenges. Competition for the best pcople is intense, 
and the Company’s size and limited resources may present additional challenges in being able to retain the best possible 
employees which could adversely affect the results of our operations. 

In addition, the rules adopted as a rcsult of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could make it more difficult or more costly for 

Changes in laws, government regulation and monetary policy may have a material effect on our results of 

The Bank’s ability to pay dividends or lend funds to the Company is subject to regulatory limitations which 

Carver faces system failure risks and security risks. The computer systems and network infrastructurc the 

Our business could suffer if we fail to retain skilled people. The Company’s success depends on its ability to 

A natural disaster could harm Carver’s business. Natural disasters could harm the Company’s operations 
directly through interference with communications, as well as through the destruction of ljcilities and financial information 
systems. Such disasters may also have an impact on collatcral underlying the Bank’s loans. The Company may face higher 
insurance costs in the event of such disasters. 

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS. 

Not Applicable. 
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES. 

The Bank currently conducts its business through one administrative office and ten branches (including the 1251h Street branch) 
and nine additional ATM locations. Carver Federal entered into a license agreement with Merrill Lynch on March 23,2007, to 
operate Investment Centers at the Bank's Malcolm X Boulevard and Atlantic Terminal branches but does not share any other 
owned or lcased spaces with any other businesses. The following table sets forth certain information regarding Carver 
Federal's offices and other material properties at March 3 I ,  2007. The Bank believes that such facilities are suitable and 
adequate for its operational needs. 

Branches Address Citvhtate 

Main Branch 75 West 125th Streel New York, NY 

Bedford-Sluyvesant Branch I28 I Fulton Street Brooklyn, NY 

Crown Heights Branch 

St Albans Branch 

Malcolm X Blvd. Branch 

Jamaica Ccntcr Branch 

Atlantic Terminal Branch 

Bradhurst Branch 

Livingston Branch 

Sunset Park Branch 

ATM Ccnters 

West 125th Street 

Wcst 137th Strcet 

Hanson Place 

5th Avenue 

Fulton Street 

Atlantic Avenue 

A1'M Machines" 

Hedford Avenue 

I I50 Carroll Street 

AirTrain 

1009- 10 15 Nostrand Avenue Brooklyn, NY 

1 15-02 Merrick Boulevard 

142 Malcolm X Houlevard 

158-45 Archcr Avenue 

4 Hansoii Place 

300 West 145th Streel 

1 I I Livingston Street 

140 58th Street 

503 West 125th Street 

601 Wcst 137th Strcct 

1 Hanson Place 

1400 5th Avenue 

1950 Fulton Street 

625 Atlantic Avenue 

1650 Redford Avcnuc 

I I SO Carroll Strcct 

93-40 Sutphin Boulcvard 

Jamaica, NY 

New York, NY 

Jamaica, New York 

Brooklyn, N Y  

New York, NY 

Brooklyn, NY 

Brooklyn, NY 

New York, NY 

New York, NY 

New York, NY 

New York, NY 

New York, NY 

New York, N Y  

New York, NY 

New York, NY 

Jamaica. NY 

Year 
ODened 

I996 

1989 

1975 

1996 

2001 

2003 

2004 

2004 

2004 

2004 

2003 

2003 

2004 

2004 

2005 

2003 

Owned or 
Leased 

Owned 

Owned 

Owncd 

Leased 

Leased 

Leased 

Leased 

Leased 

Leased 

Leased 

Leased 

Leased 

Leased 

Leased 

Leased 

Leased 

Lease 
Expiration 

Date 
n/a 

n/a 

nla 

021201 1 

04/20 1 1 

0712018 

07/20 I4 

1212009 

01/2015 

I0/20 IO 

03/20 I3 

10/20 I3 

0712009 

0s12013 

01/2010 

I 0/20 I 3 

YO Space 
Utilized 

100% 

70% 

100% 

75% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

I 00% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

Net Book 
Value 

$ 7,566 

1,49 1 

514 

404 

583 

916 

1,194 

366 

375 

49 1 

158 

141 

32 

I 5 5  

208 

32 

Total office properties and equipment, net $ 14,626 

* Stand alone ATMs, not under real estate lease agreements 
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ITEM 3. I,EGAL PROCEEDINGS. 

From time to time, Carver Federal is a party to various legal proceedings incident to its business. Certain claims, 
suits, complaints and investigations involving Carver Federal, arising in the ordinary course of  business, have been tiled or are 
pending. The Company is of  the opinion, after discussion with legal counsel representing Carver Federal in these proceedings, 
that the aggregate liability or loss, if any, arising from the ultimate disposition of these matters would not have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations. At March 3 1,2007, there were no 
material legal proceedings to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party or to which any of their property was subject. 

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS. 

During the quarter ended March 3 1,2007, no matters were submitted to a vote of our security holders through the 
solicitation of proxies or otherwise. 

PART 11 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND 
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES. 

The Holding Company’s common stock is listed on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol “CNY.” As of  
June 15,2007, thcrc wcrc 2,507,985 shares of the common stock outstanding, held by 1,013 stockholders of record. The 
following table shows the high and low per share sales prices of the common stock and the dividends declared for the quarters 
indicated. 

High Low Dividend High Low Dividend 
Fiscal Year 2007 
Junc 30,2006 $ 18.06 $ 16.35 $ 0.09 June 30,2005 $ 18.75 $ 16.90 $ 0.08 
Septemher30,200h $ 18.12 $ 16.40 $ 0.09 September30,2005 $ 17.35 $ 16.30 $ 0.08 
I)ecember31,2006 $ 16.86 $ 15.25 $ 0.09 December31,2005 $ 16.70 9; 15.00 9; 0.08 
M arch 31,2007 $ 16.98 $ 15.50 $ 0.09 Mxch31,2006 $ 17.32 $ 15.00 $ 0.0X 

Fiscal Year 2006 

The Board fbnncrly paid dividends on an annual basis and initially established the payment of a quarterly dividend to 
common shareholders on January 9,2003. Subsequently, each quarter the Board meets to decide on the amount per share to he 
declared. On May 30,2007, the Holding Company’s Board of Directors declared a $0.09 cash dividend to shareholders for thc 
lburth quarter of fiscal 2007. This represents a $0.04 per share increase from the $0.05 paid at inception of the Board 
establishing payment of a quarterly dividend in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. 

Under OTS regulations, the Bank will not be permitted to pay dividends to the Holding Company on its capital stock 
if its regulatory capital would be reduced below applicable regulatory capital requirements or if its stockholders’ equity would 
be reduced below the amount rcquirud to bc maintainud for the liquidation account, which was established in connection with 
the Hank’s conversion to stock form. The OTS capital distribution rcgulations applicable to savings institutions (such as the 
Bank) that meet their regulatory capital requirements permit, after not less than 30 days prior notice to the OTS, capital 
distributions during a calendar year that do not exceed the Bank’s net income for that year plus its retained net income for the 
prior two years. For information concerning the Bank’s liquidation account, scc Note 10 ofthe Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

Unlike the Bank, the Holding Company is not subject to OTS regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends to 
its stockholders, although the source of such dividends will be dependent, in part, upon capital distributions from the Bank. 
The Holding Company is subject to the requirements of Delaware law, which generally limit dividends to an amount equal to 
the cxccss nl’the net assets ofthe Company (the amount by which total assets exceed total liabilities) over its statutory capital, 
or if there is no such cxccss, to its net profits for thc current and/or immediately preceding fiscal year. 

On August 6,2002 the Holding Company announced a stock repurchase program to repurchase up to 23 1,635 shares 
of its outstanding common stock. To date, 113,474 shares of its common stock have been repurchased in open market 
transactions at an average price of $16.85 per share. The Holding Company intends to use repurchased shares to fund its stock- 
based benefit and compensation plans and for any other purpose the Board deems advisable in compliance with applicable law. 
The following table provides detail of common stock repurchases made by the Holding Company during the fourth quarter of 
fiscal 2007 
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Total Number Maximum 
Total of Shares Number of Shares 

Number of Average Purchased as part that May Yet Be 
Shares Price Paid of Publicly Purchased Under 

Purchased per Share Announced Plan the Plan 
January 1,2007 through 

February 1,2007 through 

March 1,2007 through 

January 3 I ,  2007 1,900 $ 16.42 1,900 126,461 

February 28,2007 1,500 $ 16.30 1,500 124,96 1 

March 3 1, 2007 3,900 $ 16.27 3,900 I2 I ,061 

7.300 % 16.32 7.300 

Carver has four equity compensation plans as follows: 
( 1 )  The Management Recognition Plan (“MRP”) which provides for automatic grants of restricted stock to certain 

employees and non-employee directors as of the date the plan became effective in June of 1995. Additionally, the MRP makes 
provision for added discretionary grants of restricted stock to those employees so selected by the Compensation Committee of 
the Board who administers the plan. There are no shares available for grant under the MRP. 

to the employees selected by the Compensation Committee. Carver terminated this plan in 2006 and there are no grants 
outstanding under it. 

(3) The 1995 Stock Option Plan provides for automatic option grants to certain employees and directors as of the date 
the plan became effective in September of 1995, and like the MRP, also makes provision for added discretionary option grants 
to those employees so selected by the Compensation Committee. The 1995 Stock Option Plan expired in 2005, however, 
options are still outstanding under this plan. 

(4) The 2006 Stock Incentive Plan became effective in September of 2006 and provides for discretionary option 
grants, stock appreciation rights and restricted stock to those employees and directors so selected by the Compensation 
Committee. 

entitled “Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans” in the Proxy Statement. 

(2) The Incentive Compensation Plan (“ICP”) provides for grants of cash bonuses, restricted stock and stock options 

Additional information regarding Carver’s equity compensation plans is incorporated by reference from the section 
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Stock Performance Graph 

The graph below matches Carver Bancorp 1nc.k cumulative 5-year total shareholder return on common stock with the 
cumulative total returns ofths AMEX Composite index, and a pccr group made up of AMEX listed companies in the 
Standard lndustrial Classification (“SIC”) codes 6030 - 6039, which reprcsents the SIC codes for savings and loan in- 
stitutions. The companics included in that group are: Carver Bancorp, Inc. Fcderal Trust Corp., Northeast Bancorp, 
Teche Holdings Company, Washington Savings bank F.S.B. and Westfield Financial Inc. The graph tracks the per- 
formance of a $100 investment in our common stock, in the peer group, and the index (with the reinvestment of all 
dividends) from March 3 1,2002 to March 3 1,2007. 

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN* 
Among Caner Bancorp Inc., The AMEXCornposite Index 

And SIC Code 6030-6039 (AMEXSTOCKS) 

$250 

$200 

$1 50 

$1 00 

$50 

$0 
3/02 3/03 3/04 3/05 3/06 3/07 

+Carver Bancorp Inc. - -p - AMM Composite - - -0- - ~ SIC Code 6030-6039 (AMEX STOCKS) 

* $100 invested on 3/31/02 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends 
Fiscal year ending March 31. 

3/02 3/03 3/04 3/05 - 3/06 - 3/01 
Carver Bancorp, Inc. 100.00 123.30 209.22 168.73 156.86 156.66 
AMEX Composite 100.00 89.68 139.62 161.45 194.20 216.95 
SIC Code 6030-6039 (AMEX 100.00 115.70 174.29 184.08 187.59 221.30 

The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicutive ?f:fiture stock price peflormance. 
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

The following selected consolidated financial and other data is as of and for the years ended March 31 and is derived 
in part from, and should be read in conjunction with the Company's consolidated financial statements and related notes (dollars 
in thousands): 

Selected Financial Condition Data: 
Assets 
Loans held-for-sale 
Total loans receivable, net 
Securities 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Deposits 
Borrowed funds 
Stockholders' equity 

Nuinher of deposit accounts 
Number of branches 
Operating Data: 
Interest income 
Interest expense 
Net interest income hefore provision for loan losses 
Provision for loan losses 

Net  interest income after provision for loan losses 
Non-interest income 
Non-interest expensc 
Incomc before income taxes 
Income tax (benefit) expense 
Net incomc 
Rasic earnings per common share 
Diluted earnings pcr common share 
Cash dividends pcr common share 

Selected Statistical Data: 
Return on average assets ( I )  
Return on avcragc cquity (2) 
Net interest margin (3) 
Average interest rate spread (4) 
Efficiency ratio (5) 
Opcrating cxpense to average assets (6) 
Average equity to average assets 
Dividcnd payout ratio (7) 
Asset Quality Ratios: 
Non-performing assets to total assets (8) 
Non-pcrforining loans to total loans receivable (X) 
Allowance for loan losses to total loans receivable 

( I )  Net income divided by average total assets. 
(2) Net income dividcd by avcragc total cquity. 

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 

Y; 739,952 
23,226 

580,551 
67,117 
17,350 

61 5,122 
6 1,093 
5 1.627 

$ 661,396 

493,432 
108,286 
22,904 

504,638 
93,792 
48,697 

$ 626,377 

421,987 
149,335 
20,420 

455,870 
115,299 
45,801 

$ 538,830 $ 509,845 

351,900 292,738 
139,877 165,585 
22,774 23,160 

375,5 I9 349,066 
104,282 108,996 
44,645 41,073 

46,034 41,614 40,199 38,578 4 1,220 
10 8 8 6 5 

$ 41,740 $ 32,385 $ 28,546 $ 26,234 $ 27,390 
19,234 13,493 9,758 8,700 8,983 
22,506 18,892 18,788 17,534 18,407 

276 
22,230 
2,869 

23.339 

18,892 
5,341 

19.134 
1,760 

$ 2,583 
$ 1.03 
$ 1 .00 
Y; 0.35 

(823) 
5,099 
1,329 

$ 3,770 
$ 1.50 
% I .45 
Y; 0.31 

18,788 
4,075 

18,696 
4, I67 
1,518 

$ 2,649 
$ 1.06 
$ 1.03 
$ 0.26 

17,534 
5,278 

15,480 
7,332 
2.493 

$ 4,839 
% 2.03 
$ 1.87 
$ 0.20 

18,407 
3,161 

14.704 
6,864 
3,033 

$ 3,831 
$ I .59 
$ 1.52 
$ 0.10 

0.37 ?4 
5.23 
3.44 
3.16 

91.98 
3.34 
7.05 

34.04 

0.60 Yo 
1.93 
2.97 
3.18 

78.96 
3.04 
7.54 

20.63 

0.61 ?4 0.42 '% 
0.74 0.55 
0.89 0.81 

0.45 Yo 
5.80 
3.41 
3.26 

81.77 
3.21 
7.84 

24.64 

0.16 O/o 
0.23 
0.96 

(3) Net interest income divided by average interest-earning assets. 
(4) The differcncc bctwccn thc wcightcd averagc yicld on interest-earning assets and the weighted average cost of 

( 5 )  Non-interest expense divided by the sum of net interest income and non-interest income. 
(6) Nun-interest expense less real estate owned expenses, divided by average total assets. 
(7 j Dividcnds paid to common stockholdcrs as a percentage of net income available to cwninon stockholders. 
(8 j Noli pcrfomiing asscts consist ofnon-accrual loans, loans accruing 90 days or morc past due, and property 

interest-bearing liabilities. 

acquired in scttlcmcnt of loans. 

0.93 '% 0.83 
11.40 9.77 
3.56 4.26 
3.40 4.0x 

67.86 68.18 
2.97 3.18 
8.13 8.48 
9.86 3.19 

0.39 % 0.36 
0.60 0.61 
1.16 1.40 
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS. 

Thc following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements presented elsewhere in this report. The Company’s results of operations are 
significantly affected by general economic and competitive conditions, particularly changes in market interest rates, 
government policies, changes in accounting standards and actions of regulatory agencies. 

Executive Summary 

Carver Bancorp, Tnc. is a savings and loan holding company organized under the laws of the state of Delaware. 
Carver is committed to providing superior customer service while offering a range of banking products and financial services 
to our retail and commercial customers. The Holding Company’s primary subsidiary is Carver Federal Savings Bank, which 
operates from ten branches in the New York City boroughs of Manhattan, Brooklyn and Queens. 

Merger with Community Capital Bank 

In addition to increasing the number of branches, ATM locations and other steps to grow organically, Carver 
actively pursues acquisition opportunities that are in markets consistent with its urban niche and that Carver believes will 
increase the Bank’s long-term shareholder value. On September 29,2006, the Bank acquired CCB, a Brooklyn-based New 
York State chartered commercial bank with approximately $165.4 million in assets and two branches in a cash transaction of 
$1 1.1 million. Under the terms of‘the merger agreement, CCB’s shareholders were paid $40.00 per outstanding share 
(including options which immediately vested with the consummation of the merger) and the Bank incurred an additional 
$879,000 in transaction costs related to this acquisition. The combined entity is operating under Carver Federal’s thrift 
chartcr and Carver Federal continues to be supervised by the OTS. The transaction, which was accounted for under the 
purchase accounting method, included the recognition of approximately $760,000 of identifiable intangible assets, or core 
deposit intangibles, and exccss ofpurchase price over the fair value of-identifiable net assets (“goodwill”) of $5.1 million. At 
March 3 1,2007 goodwill increased to $5.7 million due to additional purchase accounting adjustments for deferred taxes and 
prepaid expenses. The goodwill and intangible assets from this transaction are not deductible for tax purposes. During the 
second quarter of fiscal year 2007, the Bank accrued $1.3 million in certain merger related expenses associated with the 
acquisition including severance, early vendor contract termination fees, and systems integration and conversion fees. 

By providing Carver with a commercial banking platform, the transaction with CCB better positions the Bank to 
capitalize on a densely populated small business market and the growing affluence of its local market. The commercial 
banking platform has the potential to boost earnings and fees from lending and deposit accounts because small business loans 
are typically higher yielding than the Bank’s traditional real estate mortgage loans and small business core deposit accounts 
typically generate higher fee income than retail accounts. Carver is on track in its CCB integration efforts. Carver expccts to 
generate cost efficiencies from the CCB acquisition, of which some or all may be reinvested into initiatives to enhance the 
small business platform and the long-term growth prospects for the Company. 

Fiscal 2007 

Fiscal 2007 was a challenging and exciting year for the Company. The Bank achieved significant growth in its asset 
base through thc acquisition of CCB, an award-winning small business lender. The Company also announced a strategic 
alliance with Merrill Lynch & Co., whereby Merrill Lynch will provide Carver customers access to wealth management 
financial advice and products. The changing demographics and growing affluence of the Bank’s local market areas drove the 
Company’s decision to align with a global player in investment products capable of providing its customers with financial 
advice and the broadest array of products. 

The interest rate environment continued to be extremely challenging in liscal 2007. The Federal Reserve raised 
short term interest rates during the fiscal year by 50 basis points, and 200 basis points during the fiscal 2006. The increase in 
short-term rates was greater than that of long-term rates, and the result was a yield curve that was flat and at times inverted. 
The shape of the yield curve resulted in compression in net interest margins in thc entire industry, which also affected the 
Bank’s net interest margin. To combat the impact of net interest margin compression, the Bank not only continued its asset 
liability management strategy of replacing securities as they run ofl‘ with higher yielding mortgage loans and replacing 
higher costing borrowings with lower costing deposits; during September 2006, the Bank accelerated its asset liability 
management strategy and cxecuted a series of transactions designed to hasten the rcpositioning and deleveraging ol‘ the 
Bank’s balance sheet. The Bank sold $47.1 million in lower yielding investments and used the proceeds to repay certain 
higher cost deposits and borrowings. In addition, the Bank transferred approximately $30.0 million of primarily one- to four- 1 
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family interest-only loans lyom held-for-investment to held-for-salc with the intention of liquidating the loans and using the 
proceeds to reduce borrowings further. As a result of the transfer, the Bank recognized a $I  .3  million pre-tax charge during 
the quarter ending September 30,2006. 

In fiscal 2007, the Bank experienced growth over fiscal 2006 in its core business with increases in its total loan 
portfolio and deposits, primarily resulting from the acquisition of CCB. Despite a weakening real estate market in many 
parts of the United States, local real estate markets remained strong and continued to support Carver’s ability to increase its 
loan portfolio notwithstanding loan repayments that remained relatively high and consistent with fiscal 2006 levels. Growth 
in construction, commercial mortgage and business loans, primarily the result of the CCB acquisition, were partially offset by 
declines in one- to four-family and multifamily residential loans during fiscal 2007. Declines in one- to four-family and 
multifamily residential loans are consistent with the Bank’s focus on relatively higher yielding loans that pass the Bank’s 
underwriting standards. Growth in checking, money market and certificates of deposits, primarily the result ol‘ the CCB 
acquisition, were partially offset by a modest decline in savings and club deposits during fiscal 2007. Because of the Bank’s 
decision to repay some of its maturing higher cost deposits, total deposits woiild have decreascd in 2007 but for the CCB 
acquisition. Securities and borrowings portfolios decreascd during fiscal 2007, which is consistent with the Company’s 
strategy to reduce the lower yielding securities and invest in higher yielding mortgages and loans. 

In June 2006, Carvcr Federal was sclected by the U.S. Department of Treasury to receive an allocation ofs59.0 
million in New Markets Tax Credits. The NMTC award is uscd to stimulate economic development in low- to modcrate- 
income communities, The NMTC award enables the Bank to invest with community and devclopment partners in economic 
development projects with attractive terms including, in some cases, below market interest rates, which inay have the effect 
of attracting capital to underserved communities and facilitating the rcvitalization of the community, pursuant to the goals of 
the NMTC program. The NMTC program provides a credit to Carver Federal against federal income taxes when the Bank 
makcs qualified investments. The credits are allocated over seven years from the time of‘the qualified investment. During 
thc seven year period, assuming the Bank meets compliance requirements, the Bank will receive 30% of the invested award 
amount (5% over each of three years, and 6% over cach of four years). The NMTC award allows the Bank to invest with 
community and development partners in local economic development projects on terms that are attractive to the Bank and its 
partners, as a substantial portion of the award benefit is captured by the community through the economic development 
activity and the favorable terms ofthe investment. The Bank’s NMTC award began in December 2006 when the Bank 
invested $29.5 million, one-half of its $59.0 million award. During liscal2007, the Bank recognized $1.5 million in tax 
bunefrts related to the NMTC award. 

Asset quality remained solid in fiscal 2007 notwithstanding the Bank’s loan portfolio growth and diversification into 
small business lending. The Company believes that the Bank’s loan loss provision recorded in fiscal 2007 and the Rank’s 
allowance for loan losses are adequate. 

Expenses increased in fiscal 2007, primarily as a result of the acquisition of CCR and the related operating and 
merger related expenses, and costs associated with the Hank’s balance sheet repositioning. In addition, investinents in 
growth initiatives such as recently opened branch and ATM locations, new product offerings, and marketing efforts 
contributed to the Bank’s expensc position. When combined, these expenses rosulted in a substantial increase in the Bank’s 
efficiency ratio. Some ofthe expenses, such as the niergcr related expenses and costs associated with thc Bank’s balance 
sheet rcpositioning, arc non-recurring items and will not have an on-going impact on the Bank’s expcnses. The Bank expects 
to realize efficiencies from the CCR acquisition, some or all of which may be reinvested into the business to cnhance the 
Company’s long-term growth prospects; and, as the recently opened branches and ATM locations become more seasoned, the 
Rank expects greater revenue contributions, which should have the effect of mitigating thc impact ofexpcnses on the Bank’s 
efficiency ratio. 

Fiscal 2008 

The outlook fbr fiscal 2008 reflects many ol’the economic and competitive factors that the Bank and the banking 
industry faced in fiscal 2007. As a result, the Bank expects the operating environment to remain challenging. In this 
challenging climate, the Bank will continue to focus on growth in its traditional businesses, namely the cxpansion of real 
estate loans and retail deposits. In addition, the recent acquisition of CCB expands the Bank’s core business arid the Bank 
expccts to acceleratc its penetration into new coininercial banking opportuiiitics as noted above. The Bank expects its new 
business and marketing efforts to core customer groups including small business owners, landlords, and churches and other 
non-profits to drive the Bank’s deposit gathering success. New products introduced in fiscal 2007, including a lock-box 
service h r  landlords to collect rental payments, a checking overdraft line ofcredit (in an effort to continue building our 
checking account deposit base) and participation in the Certificate of Deposit Account Registry Services program to more 
efficiently address the collateral needs of large balance depositors, are expected to gain momentum. With the recent 
acquisition of CCB, Carver Federal is positioned to aggressively pursuing business operating deposit accounts. 
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The Bank believes the efforts of its cnhanced stable of lending officers will beneflt from the continued strength of 
the local economy. Loan originations md  the purchase mortgage market, combined with the anticipated reduced level of 
loan prepayments, should result in continued strong loan portfolio growth in fiscal 2008. The Bank introduced sub-prime and 
jumbo mortgages, primarily for sale in the secondary market, in fiscal 2007 to address the needs of prospective borrowers 
with modest credit issues. Managemenl believes that a responsible lending program coupled with consumer education efforts 
makes these products important components of the Bank’s product linc, while providing fee income for the Bank because 
most sub-prime and jumbo mortgages are iininediately sold following underwriting. The Bank will further cmphasize 
promotion of these products in fiscal 2008 in an cf’fort to further fuel fee income growth. As discussed above, the Hank will 
target small businesses to add attractive loan and deposit accounts, and continue its focus on originating and purchasing 
primarily commcrcial real estate and construction loans for portfolio. Carver Federal expects to increase core deposits as 
well as loan balances, thereby increasing net interest margin and fee income. If a continued flat or inverted U.S. Treasury 
yield curve persists, thc Bank may continue to utilize a portion ofthe cash flow generated by operations and loan rcpayments 
to reduce its sccurities and borrowing portfolios, thereby limiting asset growth. 

Furthermore, Carver expects to rcrnain competitive in contests for resources from the public sector to extend the 
Rank’s reach, notwithstanding a lield of competitors that includes banks with substantially greater resources than Carver. 
Carver believes its proven ability to deliver mainstream financial products and services in historically underserved markets 
well positions the Bank to compete for such public sector award competitions. 

Critical Accounting Policies 

Various elements of our accounting policies, by their nature, are inherently subject to estimation techniques, valuation 
assumptions and other subjective assessments. Carvcr’s policy with respect to the methodologies used to determine the 
allowance for loan losses is the most critical accounting policy. This policy is important to the presentation of Carver’s 
financial condition and results of operations, and it involves a higher degrcc of’complexity and requires managemcnt to make 
difficult and subjective judgments, which often require assumptions or estimates about highly uncertain matters. The use of 
different judgments, assumptions and estimates could result in material differences in our results of operations or financial 
condition. 

See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of our critical accounting policies, 
including those related to allowance for loan losses, and an explanation of the methods and assumptions underlying their 
application. 

AssetLiability Management 

Net interest income, the primary component of Carver Federal’s net income, is determined by thc difference or 
“spread” between the yield earned on interest-earning asscts and the rates paid on its interest-bearing liabilities and the relative 
amounts of such assets and liabilities. Because Carver Federal’s interest-bearing liabilities consist primarily of shorter term 
deposit accounts, Carver Federal’s interest rate spread can be adversely affected by changes in  general interest rates if its 
interest-earning assets arc not sufficiently sensitive to changes in interest rates. The Bank has sought to reduce its exposure to 
changes in interest rates by more closely matching the effective maturities and repricing periods of its interest-earning assets 
and interest-bearing liabilities through ;I variety of strategies, including the origination and purchase of adjustable-rate 
mortgage loans for its portf‘olio, investment in adjustablc-rate mortgage-backed securities and shorter-term investment 
securities and the sale of all long term fixed-rate mortgage loans originated into the secondary market. 

Discussion of Market Risk-Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis 

As a financial institution, the Hank’s primary component of market risk is interest rate volatility. Fluctuations in 
interest rates will ultimately impact both the level of income and expense recorded on a large portion of the Bank’s assets and 
liabilities, and the market value of all interest-earning assets, other than those which are short term in maturity. Since virtually 
all ofthe Company’s interest-bearing assets and liabilities are held by the Bank, most of the Company’s interest rate risk 
exposure is retained by the Bank. As a result, all significant interest rate risk management procedures arc pcrformed at the 
Bank. Based upon the Bank’s nature of operations, the Bank is not subject to foreign currency exchange or commodity pricc 
risk. The Bank does not own any trading asscts. 

Carver Federal seeks to manage its interest rate risk by monitoring and controlling the variation in repricing intervals 
between its assets and liabilities. To a lesser extent, Carver Federal also monitors its interest rate sensitivity by analyzing the 
estimated changes in market value of its assets and liabilities assuming various interest rate scenarios. As discussed more fully 
below, there are a variety of factors that influence the rcpricing characteristics of any given asset or liability. 
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The matching of‘assets and liabilities may be analyzed by examining the extent to which such assets and liabilities are 
“interest rate sensitive” and by monitoring an institution’s interest rate sensitivity gap. An asset or liability is said to be interest 
rate sensitive within a specific period if it will mature or reprice within that period. The interest rate sensitivity gap is detined 
as the difference between the amount of interest-earning assets maturing or repricing within a specific period of time and the 
amount of interest-bearing liabilities maturing or repricing within that same time period. A gap is considered positive when the 
amount of interest rate sensitive assets cxceeds the amount of interest rate sensitive liabilities and is considered negative when 
the amount of interest rate sensitive liabilities exceeds the amount of interest rate sensitive assets. Generally, during a period of 
filling interest rates, a negative gap could result in an increase in net interest income, while a positive gap could adversely 
afl‘ect net interest income. Conversely, during a period of rising interest ratcs a negative gap could adversely affect net interest 
income, while a positive gap could result in an increase in net interest income. As illustrated below, Carver Federal had a 
negative one-year gap equal to 12.76% of total rate sensitive assets at March 3 1,2007. As a result, Carver Federal’s net 
interest income could be negatively affected by rising interest rates and positively affected by falling interest rates. 

The following table scts forth information regarding the projected maturities, prepayments and repricing of the major 
rate-sensitive asset and liability categories of Carver Federal as of March 3 1,2007. Maturity repricing dates have been 
projected by applying estimated prepayment rates based on the current rate environment. The information presented in the 
following table is derived in part from data incorporated in “Schedule CMR: Consolidated Maturity and Rate,” which is part of 
the Hank’s quarterly reports filed with the OTS. The repricing and other assumptions are not necessarily representative of the 
Bank’s actual results. Classifications of items in the table below are different from those presented in other tablcs and the 
financial statements and accompanying notes included herein and do not reflect non-performing loans (dollars in thousands): 

< 3 MUS. 4-12 MOS. 1-3 Yrs. - Tvtal 3-5 Yrs. 5-10 Yrs. 10+ Yrs. 
Rate Scnsitive Assets: 
Idoms 
Moflgage Racked Securities 
Fcderal Funds Sold 
Investment Securitics 

Total interest-earning asscts 

Rate SenrEtivc Liabilities: 
NOW accounts 
Savings Accounts 
Moncy market accounts 
Certificate of Deposits 
Borrowings 

Total interest-bearing liabilities 

Interest Sensitivity Gap 

Cumulativc Lntercst Sensitivity Gap 
Ratio of Cumulativc Gap lo Total Rate 
Sensitive asscts 

$ 199,554 $ 85,197 $ 109,408 $ 116,888 $ 28,577 $ 64,153 $ 603,777 
146 20,21 x 16,673 2,048 39,085 

1,300 1,300 
1,749 4,863 1 1,047 10,830 2,280 30,769 

202,603 90,206 140,673 133,561 41,455 66,433 674,93 1 

2,224 2,566 h, 157 5,220 6,903 5,839 28,909 
10,615 12,246 29,384 24,911 32,941 21,863 137,960 
3,6 I 6 4,171 10,009 8,486 11,221 9,492 46,995 

I 19,670 178,173 36,523 13,388 347,753 
14,800 30,s I7 15,276 60,893 

150,925 227,913 97,349 52,005 5 1,065 43,194 6223 I O  

$ 51,678 $ (137,767) $ 43,324 $ XI,556 ’6 (9,610) $ 23,239 $ 52,420 

$ 51,678 $ (86,089) %: (42,765) $ 38,791 $ 29,181 $ 52,420 

7.66% -12.76% -6.34% 5.75% 4.32% 7.77% 

The table above assumes that tixed maturity deposits are not withdrawn prior to maturity and that transaction accounts 
will decay as disclosed in the table above. 

Certain shortcomings are inherent in the method of analysis presented in the tablc above. Although certain assets and 
liabilities may have similar maturities or periods of repricing, they may react in dif‘krcnt degrees to changes in the market 
interest rates. The interest rates on certain types ofasscts and liabilities may fluctuate in advance of changes in market interest 
rates, while rates on other types of assets and liabilities may lag behind changes in market interest rates. Certain assets, such as 
adjustable-rate mortgages, generally have features that restrict changes in interest rates on a short-term basis and over the life 
of the asset. In the evcnt of a change in interest rates, prepayments and carly withdrawal levels would likely deviate 
significantly from those assumed in calculating the table. Additionally, credit risk may increase as many borrowers may 
cxperience an inability to service their debt in the event of a rise in interest rate. Virtually all of Ihc adjustable-rate loans in 
Carver Federal’s portfblio contain conditions that restrict the periodic change in interest rate. 

Ner Porflolio Value (“NPV’Y Anulysis. As part of its efforts to maximize net interest income while managing risks 
associated with changing interest rates, management also uses the NPV methodology. NPV is the present value of expected 
net cash flows from existing asscts less the present value of expected cash llows from existing liabilities plus the present value 
of net expected cash inflows from existing financial derivatives and off-balance-sheet contracts. 
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Under this methodology, interest rate risk exposure is assessed by reviewing the estimated changes in NPV that 
would hypothetically occur if interest rates rapidly rise or fall along the yield curve. Projected values of NPV at both higher 
and lower regulatory defined rate scenarios arc compared to base case values (no change in rates) to determine the sensitivity to 
changing interest rates. 

Presented below, as of March 3 1,2007, is an analysis of. the Bank’s interest rate risk as measured by changes in NPV 
for instantaneous and sustained parallel shifts of IO0 basis points in market interest rates. Such limits have been established 
with consideration of the impact of various rate changcs and the Bank’s current capital position. The Bank considers its level 
of interest rate risk for fiscal 2007, as measured by changcs in NPV, to be “minimal”. Thc information set forth below relates 
solely to the Rank; however, because virtually all of the Company’s interest rate risk exposure lies at the Bank level, 
management believes the table below also similarly reflects an analysis of the Company’s interest rate risk (dollars in 
thousands j: 

Net Portfolio Value NPV as % of PV of Assets 
Change in Rate $ Amount $ Change % Change NPV Ratio Change 

+300 bp 70,050 -25,205 -26% 9.50% -289 tip 
+200 bp 78,751 - 1  6,504 -17% 10.53% -187 bp 
+lo0 bp 87,260 -7,995 -8% 11.51% - 89 bp 

0 bP 95,255 -- -- 12.40% _ _  bp 
(100)bl-J 103,264 8,009 8% 13.26% 87 bp 
(200) bP 110,730 15,475 16% 14.05% 165 bp 

March 31, 
- 2007 

Risk M asures: +200 BP Rate Shock 
Pre-Shock NPV Ratio: NPV as % of PV of Asscts 
Post-Shock NPV Ratio 
Sensitivity Measure: Decline in NPV Ratio 

12.40Yo 
10.5 3 Yo 
187 bp 

Certain shortcomings are inherent in the methodology used in the above intercst r?..: risk measurements. Modeling 
changes in NPV require the making of certain assumptions, which may or may not reflect the manner in which actual yields 
and costs respond to changes in market interest rates. In this regard, the NPV table presented assumcs that the composition of 
Carver Federal’s interest scnsitive assets and liabilities existing at the beginning of a period remains constant over the pcriod 
being measured and also assumes that a particular change in interest rates is reflected uniformly across the yield curve 
regardless of the duration to maturity or repricing of specific assets and liabilities. Accordingly, although the NPV table 
provides an indication of Carvcr Fcdcral’s interest rate risk exposure at a particular point in lime, such measurements are not 
intended to and do not provide a precise forecast ofthe effect of changes in market interest rates on Carver Federal’s net 
interest income and may differ from actual results. 
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Average Balance, Interest and Averagu Yields and Hates 

The following table sets forth certain information relating to Carver Federal’s average interest-earning assets and 
average interest-bearing liabilities and related yields for the year ended March 3 1. The table also presents information for the 
years indicated with respect to the difference between the weighted average yield earned on intorest-earning assets and the 
weighted averagc rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities, or “interest rate spread,” which savings institutions have traditionally 
uscd as an indicator of profitability. Another indicator of an institution’s profitability is its “net intcrest margin,” which is its 
net interest income divided by the average balance of interest-earning assets. Net interest income is affected by the interest rate 
spread and by the relative amounts of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities. When interest-earning assets 
approximate or exceed interest-bearing liabilities, any positive intcrest rate spread will generatc net interest income (dollars in 
thousands): 

Interest Earning Assets: 

Loans 
lnvestrnent securitics 
Mortgage-hacked securities 
I‘ed funds sold 
‘lotal interest carning assets 
Non-interest earning assets 
Total assets 

Interest Bearing Liabilities: 
Deposits: 
NOW demand 
Savings and clubs 
Money market savings 
Certificates of deposit 
Mortgagors deposits 
Total deposits 
Uorrowed money 
Total interest hearing liabilities 

Non-interest-bearing liabilities: 
Demand 
Other liabilities 
Total liabilities 
Stockholders’ equity 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ 
equity 
Net interest income 

Average intercst ratc spread 

Net interest margin 

Ratio of avgerage intercst-carning 
assets to interest-bearing liabilities 

Average Average Average 
Average Yield/ Average Yield Average Yield/ 
Balance Interest Cost Balance lnterest Cost Balance Interest cost 

s 558,058 $ 37,27x 6.68% $ 443,461 $ 26,563 5.99% S 384,916 $ 22,940 5.96% 
27,161 1,325 4.8X% 25,698 97 1 3 . 7 ~  29,547 827 2.80% 
64,682 2,877 4.45% 113,574 4,439 3.9 I %  125,643 4,605 3.67% 

5,145 26 1 5.07% 12,166 412 3.39% 10,724 174 1.62% 
655,046 41,741 6.37% 594,899 32,385 5.44% 550,830 28,546 5.18% 
44.516 35.1 9x 

$ 699.622 S; 630.097 
3 1,677 

S 582.507 

$ 25,313 $ 98 0.39% $ 24,397 $ 74 0.30% $ 22,933 $ 69 0.30% 
136,785 93 I 0.68% 137,934 919 0.67% 133,621 80 I 0.60% 
43,303 1,133 2.62% 36,583 60 I 1.64% 3(1,1 16 302 1 .00% 

3 12,452 13,036 4.17% 237,992 7,297 3.07% 208,584 4,258 2.04% 
2,154 30 1.39% 2,044 30 I .47% 2,217 25 1.13% 

520,007 15,228 2.93% 438,950 x,92 1 2.03% 397,471 5,455 1.37% 
78,853 4,007 5.08% 107,551 4,572 4.25% 109,787 4,303 3.92% 

598,860 19,235 3.21% 546,501 13,493 2.47Vo 507,258 9,758 1.92% 

40,676 
10,739 

650,275 

49,347 

29,079 
6,980 

582,560 

47,531 

22,857 
6,724 

536,839 

45,668 

$ 699,622 

S 22,506 

3.16% 

3.44% 

109.38% 

$ 630,097 

S 18.892 

2.97% 

3.18% 

108.86% 

$ 582,507 

$ 18.788 
. I  

3.26% 

3.41% 

108.59% 
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Rate/Volume Analysis 

The following table sets forth inlbnnation regarding the extent to which changes in intcrcst rates and changes in 
volume of interest related assets and liabilitics have affected Carver Federal’s interest income and cxpcnse during the years 
ended March 3 1 (in thousands): 

2007 VI. 2006 2006 vs. 2005 
Increase (Decrease) due to Increase (Decrease) due to 

Volume Rate Total Volume Rate Total 
Interest Earning Assets: 
Loans $ 6,864 $ 3,060 $ 9,924 $ 3,489 $ 116 $ 3,605 

Mortgage-hacked securitics (3.377) I ,  102 (2,276) (442) 306 ( I  36) 

Total interest earning assets 4,722 4,539 9,260 2,962 900 3,862 

Investment securities 1,473 172 1,645 (108) 289 I81 

Fed funds sold, PHLB stock & other (238) 205 (33) 23 I89 212 

Interest Bearing Liabilities: 
Deposits 
NOW demand 
Savings and clubs 
Money market savings 
Certificates of deposit 

3 20 23 4 I 5 
( 8 )  20 12 26 89 11s 

110 356 467 65 193 258 
2,283 2,632 4,915 600 2,137 2,737 

Mortgagors deposits 2 (2) 0 (2) 8 6 
Total deposits 2,390 3,026 5,417 693 2,428 3,121 

Total interest bcaring liabilities 1,170 3,919 5,090 605 2,792 3,397 
Borrowed money (1,220) 893 (327) (88) 3 64 276 

Net change in interest income $ 3,552 $ 620 $ 4,170 $ 2,357 $ (1,892) $ 465 

For each category of intcrest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, information is providcd for changes 
attributable to: (1) changes in volume (changes in volume multiplied by prior rate); (2) changes in ratttc (change in rate 
multiplied by old volume); and ( 3 )  changes in rateholumc. Changes in rateholume variancc are allocated proportionately 
between changes in rate and changes in volume. 

Comparison of Financial Condition at March 31,2007 and 2006 

At March 31,2007, total assets increased by $78.6 million, or 11.9%. to $740.0 million compared to $661.4 million at 
March 3 I ,  2006. The increase in total assets was primarily attributable to the acquisition of‘CCB which had $165.4 million in 
total assets, partially offset by a reduction in Carver Federal’s securities portfolio as part of its balance sheet repositioning 
effort. 

Net loans, beforc allowance for loan losses, including deferred fees, premiums, discounts and loans held-for-sale, 
increased by $1 11 .X million, or 22.94, to $609.2 million as of March 3 I ,  2007 compared to $497.4 million one year ago. The 
net loan growth during fiscal 2007 primarily reflects the loan portfolio acquired with CCB o f  $102.6 million, $100.2 million 
net of purchase discounts, loan originations of$]  30.0 million, and loan purchases of $58.2 million, partially offset by principal 
repayments of $146.0 million, loans sold to various third party purchasers of $30.8 million and the decrease of premiums and 
increase in discounts of$796,000 and $2.9 million, respectively. The non-residential real estate loan portfolio, including loans 
held-for-sale, increased by $49.1 million, or 31.9%, to $203.2 million at March 3 1, 2007 compared to $154.0 million at March 
3 1,2006 primarily as a result of loans acquired with CCB of $41.2 million, originations of $3 1.1 million and purchases of $9.5 
million, partially offset by repayments of $30.3 million. Thc construction loan portfolio increased by $45.2 million, or 48.9%, 
to $137.7 million at March 31,2007 compared to $92.5 million at March 31,2006 primarily due to loans acquired with CCB of 
$6.2 million and originations and purchases of $56.8 and $38.5 million, respectively, partially offset by repayments of $56.2 
million. Consumer and business loans increased by $50.8 million to $52.8 as a result of  an increase in busincss loans due to 
the acquisition of the CCH portfolio. 

Partially offsetting the increase in net loans wcre decreases in the one- to four-family and multifamily portfolios and 
the decrease and increase in premiums and discounts, respectively. The one- to four-family mortgage loan portfolio, including 
loans held for sale, decreased by $20.6 million, or 14.4%, to $122.8 million at March 31, 2007 compared to $143.4 million at 
March 3 1,2006. The decrease in one- to four-family loans is primarily due to repayments and loan sales ol’$22.2 million and 
$30.8 million, respectively, partially offset by loan originations of $32.4 million. The multifamily real estate loan portfolio 
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decreased by $12.8 million, or 12.3%, to $9 I .9 million at March 3 1,2007 compared to $104.7 million at March 3 1,2006 as 
repayments of $21 .5 million exceeded originations of $8.7 million. The decrease in premiums of $796,000 is primarily the 
result of repayments of loans. The increase in the discounts is primarily the result of the purchase accounting associated with 
the acquisition of CCB. The Bank continues to grow its balance sheet thi*ough focusing on the origination of loans in the 
markets it serves and will continue to augment these originations with loan purchases. 

Total securities at March 3 I ,  2007 decreased $41.2 million to $67.1 milliort front $108.3 million at March 3 1,2006, 
reflecting a decline of $33.9 million in available-for-sale securities and a $7.3 million decrease in held-to-maturity securities. 
The decrease in available-for-sale securities primarily reflects $35.0 million of principal repayments and maturities, and $57.9 
million from salcs of securities partially offset by the acquisition ofthe CCB portfolio of $50.7 million. The $7.3 million 
decrease in held-to-maturity securities reflects principal payments and maturities. Available-for-sale securities represented 
7 1.5% ofthe total securities portfolio at March 3 1 ,  2007 cornpared to 75.6% at March 3 1, 2006. The current strategy is to 
reduce the investment portfolio through normal cash flows and rcinvest the proceeds into higher yielding loans. However, the 
Bank may invest in securities from time to time to help diversify its asset portfolio and satisfy collateral requirements for 
certain deposits. 

At March 31, 2007, total liabilities increased $75.6 million, or 12.3%0, to $688.3 million compared to $612.7 million at 
March 3 1 ,  2006. Deposits increased $1 10.5 million, or 21.9%, to $61 5.1 million at March 3 1,2007 from $504.6 million at 
March 3 1,2006. The increase in deposits was primarily attributable to the acquisition of the CCB deposit portfolio of $144.1 
million. Excluding the acquisition, deposits decreased $33.7 million. 

Total FHLB-NY borrowings decreascd $33.1 million, or 40.9%, to $47.8 million at March 3 I ,  2007 from $80.9 
million at March 3 I ,  2006 as a result of net repayments of maturing advanccs that were partially offset by the acquisition of the 
CCB FHLB-NY borrowings of$12.5 million. 

At March 3 I ,  2007, stockholders’ equity increased $2.9 million, or 6.0%, to $5 I .6 million compared to $48.7 million 
at March 3 I ,  2006, The increase in stockholders’ equity was primarily attributable to additional retained earnings of $1.7 
million and an improvement of $1.1 million in accumulated other comprehensive income related to mark-to-market of the 
Bank’s available-for-sale securities and employec pension accounting of $765,000 and $360,000, respectively. 
capital levels meet regulatory requirements of a well-capitalized financial institution. 

The Bank’s 

Comparison of Operating Results for the Years Ended March 31,2007 and 2006 

Net Income 

For fiscal 2007, the Company recorded net income of $2.6 million, or $1.00 per diluted common share, compared to 
$3.8 million, or $1.45 per diluted common share, for the prior fiscal year. The $1.2 million decrease is primarily due to an 
increase of $4.2 million in non-interest expense and a decrease ol‘ $2.5 million in non-interest income, partially offset by an 
increase of $3.3 million in net interest income after provision for loan losses, and a decrease of $2.2 million in the Company’s 
income tax provision cornpared to the prior i-iscal year. 

Interest Income 

Jnterest income increased in fiscal 2007 by $9.4 million froin the prior liscal year, or 28.9%, to $41.7 million. The 
average balance of interest-earning assets increascd to $655.0 million for fiscal 2007 from $594.9 million for the prior fiscal 
year. Adding to the increase was a rise in the average yield on interest-earning assets to 6.37% for fiscal 2007 compared to 
5.44% for liscal 2006. 

lntcrest income on loans increased by $ I  0.7 million, or 40.3%, to $37.3 million for i>scal 2007 compared to $26.6 
million for the prior fiscal year. The increase in interest income from loans was primarily the result o fa  $1 14.7 million increase 
in average loan balances to $558.1 million for fiscal 2007 compared to $443.5 million for fiscal 2006, coupled with the effects 
of a 69 basis point increase in the average rate earned on loans to 6.68% for fiscal 2007 from 5.99% for the prior fiscal year. 
The increase in the average balance of loans reflects the acquisition ol‘ the CCB loan portfolio. The increase in the average rate 
earned on loans was principally due to the acquisition of the higher yielding CCB business loan portfolio and an increase in the 
average rate on mortgage loans. 

Tnterest income on mortgage-backed securities decreased by $1.6 million, or 35.2%, to $2.9 million for fiscal 2007 
compared to $4.4 million for the prior fiscal year, reflecting a decrease of $48.9 million in the average balance of mortgage- 
backed securities to $64.7 million for fiscal 2007 compared to $ I  13.6 million for fiscal 2006. The decrease in the average 
balance was partially offset by the CCB acquisition. Partially offsctting the decline in income was a 54 basis point increase in 
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the average rate earned on mortgage-backed securities to 4.45% fhr fiscal 2007 from 3.91% Ibr the prior fiscal year. The net 
decrease in the average balance of such securities demonstrates Management’s commitment to invest proceeds received from 
the cash flows from the repayment of securities into higher yielding assets and the sale of lower yielding securities to reposition 
the balance sheet. 

Interest income on investment securities increased by approximately $354,000, or 36.5%, to $1.3 million for fiscal 
2007 compared to $97 1,000 for the prior fiscal year. The increase in interest income on investment securities reflects a 7 I 
basis point increase in the average rate earned on investment securities to 4.67% for fiscal 2007 from 3.78% for the prior fiscal 
year and an increase o1‘$1.5 million in the average balance of investment securities to $27.2 million for tiscal 2007 compared 
to $25.7 million for fiscal 2006. The increase in the average balance results from the acquisition of CCB, partially offset by 
maturities and the sale of securities with the repositioning of the balance sheet. 

Interest income on federal funds decreased $15 1,000, or 36.6%, to $26 1,000 for tiscal 2007 compared to $4 12,000 
for the prior fiscal year. The decrease is primarily attributable to a $7.0 million decrease in the average balance of federal funds 
year over year partially offset by a I69 basis point increase in the average rate earned on federal funds. This large increase in 
the average rate earned on federal funds was realized as the FRB raised the federal funds rate. 

Interest Expense 

Interest expense increased by $5.7 million, or 42.6%, to $19.2 million for fiscal 2007 compared to $13.5 million for 
the prior fiscal year. The increase in interest expense reflects an increase of $52.4 million in the average balance of interest- 
bearing liabilities to $598.9 million in fiscal 2007 from $546.5 million in fiscal 2006. Additionally, the total cost of interest- 
bearing liabilities increased 74 basis points to 3.21% in fiscal 2007 compared to 2.47% in the prior year. The increase in the 
average balance of- interest-bearing liabilities in fiscal 2007 compared to liscal 2006 was primarily due to the acquisition of 
CCB partially offset by a decrease in borrowed funds and the repayment ol‘certain higher costing deposits with the 
repositioning of the balance sheet. 

Interest expense on deposits increased $6.3 million, or 70.7%, to $1 5.2 million for fiscal 2007 compared to $8.9 
million for the prior fiscal year. This increase is attributable to an $8 1.1 million, or 1 8.50/0, increase in the average balance of 
interest-bearing deposits to $520.0 million for fiscal 2007 compared to $439.0 million for fiscal 2006 coupled with a 90 basis 
point increase year-over-year in the cost of average deposits. The increase in the average balance of interest-bearing deposits 
was primarily due to the acquisition of CCB. The increase in the average rate paid on deposits was principally due to the rise 
in the intercst rate environment throughout fiscal 2007. 

Interest expense on advances and other borrowed money decreased by $565,000, or 12.4%. to $4.0 million for fiscal 
2007 compared to $4.6 million for the prior fiscal year. The decrease in interest expense on borrowed money for fiscal 2007 
reflects a $28.7 million decline in the average balance of borrowed money reflecting management’s strategy of using deposit 
growth and cash flows from the repayment of mortgage-backed securities to repay FHLB-NY advances. Partially offsetting 
the decrease was a rise of 83 basis points in the average cost of borrowed money, primarily the result of increases in the 
indexed rate of trust preferred debt securities which adjust quarterly and have increased in the current interest rate environment. 

Net Interest h o m e  

Net interest income represents the difference between income on interest-earning assets and expense on interest- 
bearing liabilities. Net interest income depends primarily upon the volume of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing 
liabilities and the corresponding interest rates earned and paid. Our net interest income is significantly impacted by changes in 
interest rate and market yield curves. See “Discussion of Market Risk-Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis” for further 
discussion on the potential impact ol‘ changes in interest rates on our results of operations. 

Net interest income before the provision for loan losses increased $3.6 million, or 19.1 %, to $22.5 million for fiscal 
2007 compared to $1 8.9 million for the prior fiscal year. This increase was achieved as a result of an increase in both the 
average balance and the yield on average intcrcst-earning assets of $60.3 million and 93 basis points, respectively. Offsetting 
the increase in net interest income was an increase in the average balance and cost ofintcrest-bearing liabilities of $52.0 
million and 74 basis points, respectively. The result was a 19 basis point increase in the interest rate spread to 3.1 6% for fiscal 
2007 compared to 2.97% for the prior fiscal year. The net interest margin also increased to 3.44% for fiscal 2007 compared to 
3.18% for fiscal 2006. 

Provision for Loan Losses 

During fiscal 2007 a $276,000 provision was recorded for loan losses. The Bank rocords provisions for loan losses, 
which are charged to earnings, in order to maintain the allowance for loan losses at a level that is considered appropriate to 
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absorb probable losses inherent in the existing loan portfolio. Factors considered when evaluating the adequacy of the 
allowance for loan losscs include the volume and type of lending conducted, the Bank’s previous loan loss experience, the 
known and inherent risks in the loan portfolio, adverse situations that may affect the borrowers’ ability to repay, the estimated 
value of any underlying collateral, trends in the local and national economy and trends in the real estate market. 

During fiscal 2007, the Bank had net charge-offs of $73,000 compared to $82,000 for fiscal 2006. At March 31,2007, 
non-performing loans totaled $4.5 million, or 0.74% of total loans, compared to $2.7 million, or 0.55% of total loans, at March 
31, 2006. At March 31,2007, the Bank’s allowance for loan losses was $5.4 million compared to $4.0 million at March 31, 
2006, resulting in a ratio of the allowance to non-performing assets of I 19.9% at March 3 1,2007 comparcd to 147.1 % at 
March 31,2006, and a ratio of‘allowancc for possible loan losses to total loans of 0.89% and 0.81% at March 31,2007 and 
March 3 1,2006, respectively. The Bank belicvcs its reported allowance for loan losses at March 3 1,2007 is adequate to 
provide for estimated probable losses in the loan portfolio. For further discussion oL‘non-pcrforming loans and allowance for 
loan losscs, scc “Item 1-Business-General Description of Business-Asset Quality” and Notc 1 oFNotes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Non-Interest Income 

Non-interest income is comprised of loan fccs and service charges, fee income from banking services and charges, 
gains or losses from the sale of securities, loans and other assets and certain other miscellaneous non-interest income. Non- 
interest income decreased $2.5 million, or 46.30/, to $2.9 inillion for fiscal 2007 compared to $5.3 million for fiscal 2006. The 
decline in non-interest income was comprised primarily of a decrease of $993,000 in loan fees and service charges due 
primarily to lower loan prepayment penalty income, $624,000 in losses associated with the repositioning of the balance sheet, 
$702,000 in the write-down of‘loans held for sale, a decrease of $159,000 in the gain on the sale of loans and $108,000 loss on 
the sale of real estate owned. Partially offsetting these dccrcases were increases in other non-interest income and deposit fees 
and charges of $96,000 and $18,000, respectively. The decline in the gain on the sale of loans was primarily attributable to a 
gain on a bulk sale of loans during 2006. 

Nun-Interest Expense 

Non-interest expcnse increased by $4.2 million, or 22.0%, to $23.3 million f’or fiscal 2007 compared to $19.1 million 
for the prior fiscal year. The increase in non-interest expense was primarily attributable to the acquisition of CCB and the 
resulting opcrating and non-recurring merger related expenses. Non-rccurring merger related expenses represented $1.3 
million of‘ the increase, and employee compensation and hcncfits, net occupancy expense, equipment, net, and othcr non- 
interest expense increased $958,000, $383,000, $132,000 and $I  .5 million, respectively. 

Income Tax Expense 

Income tax benefit was $823,000 for fiscal 2007, as compared to an income tax expense of $ I .3 inillion for fiscal 
2006. The Bank rccognized a $1 .S million benetit in 2007 from ihe NMTC program andpre-tax income was $3.3 million less 
in 2007 comparcd to 2006. The two items account for the $2.2 million change in taxes from 2007 to 2006. 

Comparison of Operating Results for the Years Ended March 31,2006 and 2005 

Net Income 

The Bank reported net income for fiscal 2006 of$3.8 million compared to $2.6 million for the prior fiscal year, Net income 
available to common stockholders Tor fiscal 2006 was $3.8 million, or $1.47 per diluted common share compared to $2.5 million, or 
$1.03 per diluted common share, for iiscal2005. Thc increase in net income was primarily due to higher non-interest income o f s l . 3  
million, a declinc in income tax expense of$lX9,000 and an incrcase in net interest income of$104,000 partially offset by an increase 
in non-intercst expcnse of $438,000. 

Interest Income 

Interest income increased in fiscal 2006 by $3.8 million, or 13.5% to $32.4 million, horn the prior fiscal year. The average 
balance of interest-earning assets incrciiscd to $594.9 million for tiscal 2006 Trom $550.8 million for the prior tiscal year. Adding to 
the increase was a rise in the average yield on interest-earning asscts to 5.44% for tiscal 2006 compared to 5.18% for fiscal 2005. 

Interest incoinc on loans increased by $3.6 million, or 15.8%, to $26.6 million for tiscal2006 compared to $22.9 million for 
the prior tiscal year. The increase in interest income from loans was primarily the rcsult of a $58.5 million increase in average loan 
balances to $443.5 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $384.9 million for fiscal 2005, couplcd with the effects o f a  3 basis point 
incrcasc in thc average rate earned on loans to 5.99?4 for fiscal 2006 from 5.96% Tor the prior fiscal ycar. The increase in the average 
balance of loans reflects originations and purchases in cxccss of principal collections. The minimal increase in the average rate 
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earned on loans was principally due to the repricing of certain construction loans that arc tied to short term rates that have increased 
with the rise in the overnight Tederal funds rate, see “-Liquidity and Capital Resources.” 

Interest income on mortgage-backed securities decreased by $166,000, or 3.6%, to $4.4 million for fiscal 2006 compared to 
$4.6 million for the prior fiscal year, reflecting a decrease of$12.1 million in the average balance of mortgagc-backed securities to 
$1 13.6 million Tor fiscal 2006 compared to $125.6 million for tiscal 2005. Partially offsetting the decline was a 24 basis point 
increase in the average rate earned on mortgage-backed securities to 3.91% for fiscal 2006 from 3.67% Tor the prior fiscal year. The 
decrease in the average balance of such securities demonstrates Management’s commitment to invest proceeds received from 
increased deposits and the cash tlows from the repayment of investments into higher yielding assets. 

Intcrcst income on investment sccurities increased by approximately $144,000, or 1 7.4%, to $97 1,000 for fiscal 2006 
compared to $827,000 for the prior fiscal year. The increase in interest income on investment securities reflects a 98 basis point 
increase in the average ratc earned on investment securities to 3.78% for fiscal 2006 from 2.80% for the prior fiscal year partially 
offset by a decrease oT$3.8 million in the average balance of investment securities to $25.7 inillion for fiscal 2006 compared to $29.5 
million for fiscal 2005. 

Interest income on Fcdcral funds increased $238,000, or 136.8%, to $412,000 Tor fiscal 2006 compared to $174,000 Tor the 
prior fiscal year. The incrcase is primarily attributablc to a 177 basis point increase in the average rate earned on federal funds 
coupled with a $1.4 million increase in the average balance of federal funds year ovcr year. This large increase in the rcturns on 
federal fiinds was realized as the FRB continually raised thc federal funds rate over the coursc of the entire fiscal year. 

Interest Expense 

lntcrcst cxpense increased by $3.7 million, or 38.3%, to $13.5 million for tiscal 2006 compared to $9.8 million for the prior 
fiscal year. The increase in interest expense reflects an increase of $39.2 million in the average balance of interest-bearing liabilities 
to $546.5 million in fiscal 2006 from $507.3 million in fiscal 2005. Additionally, the total cost of interest-bearing liabilities increased 
55 basis points to 2.47% in fiscal 2006 compared to 1.92% in the prior year. The incrcasc in the average balance of intcrcst-hearing 
liabilities in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005 was due to increases in both the average halance of interest-bearing deposits and the 
average balance of borrowed money. 

Interest cxpense on deposits increased $3.5 million, or 63.5%, to $8.9 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $ 5 5  million for 
the prior fiscal year. This increase i s  attributable to a $4 I .7 million, or 10.5%, increase in the average baliince of interest-bearing 
deposits to $436.9 million for fiscal 2006 comparcd to $395.3 million for fiscal 2005 coupled with a 66 basis point increase year over 
year in the cost of average deposits. The increase in the average balance of interest-bearing deposits was primarily due to an increase 
in the average balance of certificates of deposit of$29.4 million, or 14. I %, an increase in the average balance ofmoney market 
accounts of $6.5 million, or 21.5%, an increase in the average balance of savings and club accounts of $4.3 million, or 3.2%, and an 
increase in the averagc balance of checking accounts of$l.5 million, or 6.4%. The increase in the averagc rate paid on deposits was 
principally due to the rise in the interest ratc environment throughout fiscal 2006. 

Interest expense on borrowed money increased by $269,000 or 6.3%, to $4.6 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $4.3 
million for the prior fiscal year. The increase in interest expcnse on borrowed money for fiscal 2006 reflects a rise of 33 basis points 
in the average cost of borrowed money, primarily the result orincreases in the indexed rate of trust preferred debt securities which 
adjust quarterly and have increased in the current interest rate environment. Partially offsetting thc increase was a $2.2 million 
decline in the iiveragc balance of borrowed money reflecting management’s strategy of using deposit growth and cash flows from the 
repayment of mortgage-backed securities to repay FHLR-NY advances. 

Net Interest Income 

Net interest income represents the difference between income on interest-earning assets and expense on interest-bearing 
liabilities. Net interest income depends primarily upon the volume of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and the 
corresponding interest ratcs earned and paid. Our net interest income is significantly impacted by changes in interest rate and market 
yield curves. See “-Discussion of Market Risk-Intcrcst Rate Sensitivity Analysis” for further discussion on the potential impact of 
changcs in interest rates on our results of operations. 

Net interest income before the provision for loan losses increased $104,000, or 0.6%, to $1 8.9 million for fiscal 2006 
compared to $ I  X.8 million for the prior fiscal year. This modest increase was achicvcd as a result of an increase in both the average 
balance and the return on average interest-earning assets of $44.1 million and 26 basis points, respectively. Mainly offsetting the 
increase in net interest income was an increase in the average balancc and cost of interest-bcaring liabilities of$39.2 million and 55 
basts points, respcctively. The result was it 29 basis point decrease in the interest rate sprcad to 2.97% for fiscal 2006 compared to 
3.26% for the prior fiscal year. The net intcrcst margin also decreased to 3.18% for fiscal 2006 compared to 3.41% for fiscal 2005. 
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Provisionjbfor Loan Losses 

During fiscal 2005 no provision was rccorded for loan losses. The Bank rccords provisions for loan losses, which are 
charged to earnings, in order to maintain the allowance for loan losses at a lcvel that is considered appropriate to absorb probable 
losscs inherent in the existing loan portfolio. Factors considered when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for loan losscs 
include the volume and type of lending conductcd, the Bank’s previous loan loss expcricncc, the known and inherent risks in the loan 
portfolio, adverse situations that may affect the borrowers’ ability to repay, the estimated value of any underlying collateral and trends 
in the local and national economy and trends in the real estate market. 

During fiscal 2006, the Bank had net charge-offs of $82,000 compared to $28,000 for fiscal 2005. At March 3 1,2006, non- 
performing loans totaled $2.8 million or 0.55% of total loans compared to $998,000, or 0.23% or total loans, at March 3 I ,  2005. At 
March 3 1, 2006, the Rank’s allowance for loan losses was $4.0 niillion comparcd to $4.1 million at March 31, 2005, resulting in a 
ratio or the allowance to non-performing loans of 147.1% at March 3 1 ,  2006 compared to 410.7% at March 3 I ,  2005, and a ratio of 
allowance for possible loan losses to total loans of0.810io and 0.96% at March 31,2006 and March 31,2005, respectively. The Bank 
believes its reported allowance for loan loss at March 3 I ,  2006 is adequate to provide for estimated probable losses in the loan 
portfolio. For furthcr discussion of non-performing loans and allowance for loan losses, see “Itcm 1-Business-General Description 
of Business-Asset Quality” and Note I of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Non-Interest Income 

Non-interest income is comprised of loan fees and service charges, fee incomc from banking services and charges, gains or 
losses from the salc of securities, loans and other assets and certain other miscellaneous non-interest income. Non-interest income 
increased $1.3 million, or 3 I .  I%, to $5.3 million Tor fiscal 2006 compared to $4.1 million for fiscal 2005. The rise in non-interest 
income was comprised of an increase of $363,000 in loan fecs and service charges, primarily greater loan prepayment penalty income 
and late charge fees. Additional depository fees and charges of $246,000 were achieved primarily from higher ATM usage, growth in 
debit card incomc and commissions earned on thc sale of investments and life insurancc. Further contributing to the rise in non- 
interest income was additional gains on the sale of loans of $267,000, predominantly from thc bulk sale of $10.7 million ofresidential 
one-to four fainily mortgage loans. An increase of $77,000 in other income was also achieved primarily as a result of additional 
income earned on the Bank’s investment in a bank owned life insurance program. Further contributing to the increase in non-interest 
income year over year was the Company’s recognition of a $1 .5 million impairment charge deemed other than temporary in the 
second quarter of fiscal 2005, resulting from the decline in market price or 150,000 shares of IFSB stock that the Company previously 
held. Partially offsetting that impairment chargc in fiscal 2005 was the receipt of a net $1.1 million Community Development 
Financial Institutions grant from the Department of the Treasury and a $94,000 gain from thc sale of securities. 

Nun-Interest Expense 

Non-interest expense increased by $438,000, or 2.3%, to $19.1 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $1 8.7 million for the 
prior fiscal year. The increase in non-interest expense was primarily attributable to increases in net occupancy and equipment 
expenses of $327,000 and $33 1,000, rcspcctively, resulting from the full ycar effect in tiscal 2006 orthe new branch office and ATM 
center openings in fiscal 2005. Also contributing to the rise in non-interest expcnsc were increases in retail banking chargeoffs, legal 
fees and insurance costs of $196,OOO, $1 60,000 and $1 12,000, respectively. Partially offsetting the increase in non-interest expense 
was a charge of$X47,000 in fiscal 2005 for merger and acquisition expenses related to the attempted acquisition of TFSR. Much of 
the incrcase in the Bank’s operating expcnses was a result ofthe investment made in fiscal 2004 and 2005 to grow the franchise. 
During fiscal 2006, in an effort to reduce non-interest expenses, the Bank implemented cost cutting strategies by outsourcing our 
ATM driving technology as well as a number of corporate administrative functions. 

Income Tax Expensc 

Income tax expense was $1.3 million for tiscal 2006, a decline of $ I X9,000 or 12.5%, from $1.5 million for fiscal 2005 as a 
result o ra  $500,000 recovery of income tax expense in fiscal 2006 attributable to the release o f  contingency rcscrves for closed tax 
examination years. As a result the effective tax rate in fiscal 2006 was 26.1%, compared to 36.4% for fiscal 2005. It is anticipated 
that thc effective tax rate for fiscal 2007 will be more comparative to that of fiscal 2005. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Liquidity is a measure ofthe Bank’s ability to generate adequate cash to meet financial obligations. The principal 
cash requircmcnts of a financial institution are to cover potential deposit outflows, fund increasus in its loan and investment 
portfolios and cover its ongoing operating expenses. The Company’s primary sources of funds are deposits, borrowed funds, 
principal and interest payments on loans, mortgage-backed securities and investment securitics and fee income. While 
maturities and schcduled amortization of‘lows, mortgage-backed securities and investment securities are predictable sources of‘ 
funds, deposit flows and loan and mortgage-backed securities prepayments are strongly influenced by changes in general 
interest rates, economic conditions and competition. 

49 



Management believes the Rank’s short-term assets have sufficient liquidity to cover loan demand, potential 
fluctuations in deposit accounts and to meet other anticipated cash requirements. In addition, as previously discussed, the Bank 
has the ability to borrow funds from the FHLB-NY to meet liquidity needs. The Bank monitors its liquidity utilizing 
guidelines that arc contained in a policy developed by management ofthe Bank and approved by the Bank’s Board of 
Directors. The Bank’s several liquidity measurements are evaluated on a frequent basis. The Bank was in compliance with this 
policy as 01‘ March 3 1,2007. 

Congress eliminated the statutory liquidity requirement that required federal savings banks to maintain a minimum 
amount o f  liquid assets of between 4% and lo%, as determined by the Director of the OTS, the Bank’s primary federal 
regulator. The Bank is required to maiotain sufficient liquidity to ensure its safe and sound operation. As a result ol‘the 
elimination of the liquidity requirement, the Bank manages its liquidity through a Board-approvcd liquidity policy. The Bank’s 
most liquid assets are cash and short-term investments. The level of these assets is dependcnt on the Rank’s operating, 
investing and financing activities during any given period. At March 31,2007 and 2006, assets qualifying for Short-term 
liquidity, including cash and short-term invcstrnents, totaled $2 1.9 million and $25.2 million, respectively. 

The levels of the Bank’s short-term liquid assets are dependent on the Bank’s operating, financing and investing 
activities during any given period. The most significant liquidity challenge the Bank currently faces is the variability in its cash 
flows as a result of mortgage refinance activity. As mortgage interest rates incrcasc, customers’ refinance activities tend to 
decline, causing the cash flow from both the mortgage loan portfolio and the mortgage-hacked securities portfolio to 
decelerate. The federal funds rate was raised in fiscal 2006 eight scparate times resulting in an additional increase in the 
federal funds ratc of200 basis points. The federal f‘unds rate was again raised in fiscal 2007 twice resulting in an additional 
increase in the federal funds rate of50 basis points. While the Bank experienced rclativuly high loan and securities repayments 
over the last two fiscal years primarily as a result of increased mortgage loan refinancing activity caused by the low longer 
term interest rate environment, management anticipates a leveling of thesc prepayments in fiscal 2008 as longer term rates 
remain at current levels or begin to climb the effect of which can hinder liquidity. 

Thc Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows present the change in cash from operating, investing and financing 
activities. During fiscal 2007, cash and cash equivalents decreased by $5.6 million. Net cash used in operating activities was 
$13.7 million, representing primarily the disbursement of funds to originate loans held-for-sale. Net cash provided by 
investing activities was $88.6 million, which primarily the resulted froin repayments and maturities of loans and proceeds 
from the salc of’ available-for-sale securities sales partially offset by the disbursement of funds to originate loans held-for- 
investments. Net cash used in financing activities was $80.5 million, reflecting primarily net decreases in deposits and by 
repayments of borrowings from the FHLB-NY. 

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations 

The Bank is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of  business in order to meet the 
financing needs of itssustomers. These instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit, interest rate and liquidity 
risk. In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”), these 
instruments are not recorded in the consolidated financial statemcnts. Such instruments primarily include lending 
commitments. 

Lending commitments include commitments to originate mortgage and consumer loans and commitments to fund unused 
lines of credit. The Bank also has contractual obligations related to operating leases. Additionally, the Hank has a contingent 
liability related to a standby lctter of credit. The Bank has outstanding commitments and contractual obligations at March 3 1 
as follows (in thousands): 

2007 2006 

Commitments to originate mortgage loans $ 107,115 $ 64,163 

Lines ol‘credit 300 
Commitments to originate commercial and consumer loans 214 439 

Letters ol’credit 
Total 

50 

1.79s 
$ 107,629 $ 66,397 



The Bank has contractual obligations at March 31,2007 as f’ollows (in thousands): 

Contractual 
Payments due by period 

LCSS than 1 - 3  3 - 5  More than 
Obligations Total 1 year years years 5 years 

Long tenn debt obligations: 
FHLB advances $ 47,775 $ 32,500 $ 15,107 $ - $ 168 
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in 
junior subordinated debentures 13,318 13,318 

Total long term debt obligations h 1,093 3 2,5 00 15,107 13,486 

Operating lease obligations: 
Lease obligations for rental properties 8,139 915 1,924 1,716 3,584 

Total contractual obligations $ 69,232 $ 33,415 $ 17,031 $ 1,716 $ 17,070 

Regulatory Capital Position 

regulation, see “Item 1-Regulation and Supervision-Federal Banking Regulation-Capital Requirements.” 
The Bank must satisfy three minimum capital standards establishcd by the OTS. For a description of the OTS capital 

The Bank presently exceeds all capital requirements as currently promulgated. At March 3 1,2007, the Bank had 
tangible, core, and total risk-bawd capital ratios o1‘7.9%, 7.9% and 10.3%, respectively, and was considered well capitalized. 

The following table reconciles the Bank’s stockholders’ equity at March 3 1 2007 under GAAP lo regulatory capital 
requirements (in thousands): 

GAAP Tangible Leverage Risk-Based 
Capital Equity Capital Capital 

Stockholders‘ Equity at March 3 1, 2007 $ 64,543 $ 64,543 $ 64,543 $ 64,543 

Add : 

Deduct: 
General valuation allowances 

Unrealized gains on securities available-for-sale, net 
Goodwill and qualifying intangible assets, net 
Other 

Regulatory Capital 
Minimum Capital requirement 

Regulatory Capital Excess 

( I )  Carver Federal only 

5,409 

372 3 72 372 
6,400 6,400 6,400 

57,802 57,802 63,2 1 1 
14.64 1 29.293 49.24 1 

(31) (31) (31) 

$ 43,161 $ 28,509 $ 13,970 

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices 

GAAP, which require the measurement of financial position and operating results in terms of historical dollars without 
considering the changes in the relative purchasing power of money over time due to inflation. The impact of inflation is 
reflected in the increased cost of Carver Federal’s operations. Unlike most industrial companies, nearly all the assets and 
liabilities of the Bank are monetary in nature. As a result, interest rates have a greater impact on Carver Federal’s performance 
than do the effects of the general level of inflation. Interest rates do not necessarily move in the same direction or to the same 
extent as the prices of goods and services. 

The financial statements and accompanying notes appearing elsewhere herein have been prepared in accordance with 

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK. 

The information required by this item appears under the caption “Discussion of Market Risk-Interest Rate Sensitivity 
Analysis” in Item 7, incorporated herein by reference. 

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA. 
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Report uf Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

I To thc Board of Directors and Stockholders 
I Carver Bancorp, Tnc.: 

I 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of Carver Bancorp, Tnc. and 

subsidiaries as of March 3 I ,  2007 and 2006, and the related consolidatcd statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity 
and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31,2007. These 
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these consolidated financial stateinents based on our audits. 

(United States), Those standards require that wc plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes cxamining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant cstiinates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Wc believe that 
our audits provide a rcasonable basis for our opinion. 

financial position of Carver Bancorp, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 3 I ,  2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations 
and their cash flows for each of the years in the thrce-year period ended March 3 1,2007, in conformity with U.S. gcncrally 
accepted accounting principles. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

KPMG LLP 
New York, New York 
June 29.2007 
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CARVER BANCOKP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED SIATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 

(In thousands) 

March 31, March 31, 
2007 2006 

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and due from banks 
Federal funds sold 
Interest earning deposits 

Total cash and cash equivalents 
Securities: 

Available-for-sale, at fair value (including pledged as collateral of$34,649 and $79,211 
at March 3 1,2007 and 2006, respcctively) 

Held-to-maturity, at amortized cost (including pledged as collatcral of $1 8,58 1 and 126,039 
at March 31,2007 and 2006, respectively; fair value of $19,005 and $25,880 at March 3 1, 
2007 and 2006, respectively) 
Total securities 

Loans held-for-sale 

Loans receivable: 
Real estate mortgage loans 
Consumer and commercial business loans 
Allowance for loan losses 

Total loans receivable, net 

Oflice properties and equipment, net 
Federal 1 lome Loan Bank of New York stock, at cost 
Hank owned life insurance 
Accrued interest reccivable 
C~oodwill 
Core deposit intangiblcs, net 
Other assets 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Liabilitics: 

Dcposits 
Advances from the Federal Horiic Loan Bank of Ncw York and other borrowed money 
Other liabilities 

Total liabilities 
Stockholders' equity: 

Coinmon stock (par valuc $0.01 per share: 10,000,000 shares authorized; 2,524,69 I shares issued; 

Additional paid-in capital 
Rctained earnings 
Unamortiied awards of corninon stock under hSOP and management recognition plan ("MRP") 
'I'reasury stock, at cost ( 1  6,706 and 17,869 sharcs at March 3 1 ,  2007 and 2006, respectively) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 

Total liabilities and stockholders' cquity 

2,SO7,985 and 2,506,X22 outstanding at March 3 1 ,  2007 and 2006, respectively) 

Total stockholders' equity 

$ 14,619 $ 13,604 
1,300 8,700 
1,43 1 600 

17,350 22,904 

47,980 81,882 

19,137 26,404 
67,117 108,286 

23,226 -- 

533,667 
52,293 
(5,409) 

580,55 1 

14,626 
3,239 
8,795 
4,335 
5,716 

684 
14,3 13 

495,994 
1,453 

(4,015) 
493,432 

13,194 
4,627 
8,479 
2,970 

_ _  
-_ 

7.504 
$ 739,952 $ 661,396 

$ 615,122 6 1. ,093 $ 504,638 94,195 

12,110 13,866 
688,325 612,699 

25 25 
23,996 23,935 
27,436 25,736 

(4) (22)  
(277) (303) 
45 1 (674) 

5 1,627 48,697 
$ 739,952 $ 661,396 

See accornpanying notes to consolidated financial statcments 
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CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STA1'EMENTS OF INCOME 

(In thousands, except per share data) 

Interest Income: 
Loans 
Mortgage-backcd securities 
Investment securities 
Federal funds sold 
Total interest incomc 

Years Ended March 31, 
2007 2006 2005 

$ 31,271 $ 26,563 $ 22,940 
2,877 4,439 4,605 
1,325 97 1 827 

26 1 
41.740 

412 
32.385 

174 
28,546 

lntercst expense: 
Deposits 15,227 x,92 I 5,455 

Total interest expcnse 19,234 13,493 9,758 
Advances and other borrowed money 4,007 4,572 4,303 

Net interest income 22,506 18,892 18,788 

_ _  Provision for loan losses 276 -- 
Net interest incomc after provision for loan losscs 22,230 18,892 18,788 

Non-intercst income: 
Depository fees and charges 
Loan fees and service charges 
Write-down of loans held for sale 
lrnpainncnt of securities 
Ciain (loss) on sale of securities 
Gain on sale of loans 
Loss on sale of rcal estate owned 
Grant income 
Other 

Total non-interest income 

Non-interest expense: 
Employee compensation and benefits 
Net occupancy expense 
Equipment, net 
Merger related expcnses 
Other 

Total non-interest expense 

2,476 
1,238 
(702) 

2,458 
2,23 1 

-_ 

2,869 5,341 

2,212 
1,675 

(1,547) 
94 

211 

1,140 
224 

4,075 

10,470 9,512 9,46 I 
2,667 2,284 1,957 

1,258 -- 847 

23,339 19,134 18,696 

2,07 I 1,939 1,608 

6,873 5,399 4,823 

Income before income taxcs 1,760 5,099 4,167 
Income tax (benefit) expcnse 

Net income 
(823) 1,329 1,518 

2,583 3,770 2,649 

Ilividends payable to preferred stock -- _ _  114 

Net income available to common stockholders $ 2,583 $ 3,770 $ 2,535 

Earnings per common share: 
Basic 
I)i I uted 

$ 1.03 $ 1.50 $ 1 .Oh 
$ 1 .OO $ 1.45 $ 1.03 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statcments 
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CONS01 ,IDA 

Ralance - March 3 I ,  2004 
Cumprehensive income : 
Net income 
Changc in net unrealized gain on 
availablc-for-sale securities, nct of 
taxes 

Dividends paid 
Preferred stock rcdempliin 
Treasury stnck activity 
Allocation of ESOP Stock 
Purchasc of shares for M R P  

BalancL-March 31,2005 

Net income 
Loss on pension liability 
Change in net unrcalized loss on 
available-fnr-sale sccurities, net of 
taxes 

Dividends paid 
Treasury stock activity 
Allocalion of ESOP Stock 
Purchasc of shares for MRP 
Balanc+March 31,2006 

Net income 
Minimum pension liability 
adjustment 
Adjustment to initially implement 
SFAS 158 
Change in net unrcalized loss on 
availablc-for-sale securities, nct of 
l a X W  

Dividends paid 
Trcasury stock activity 
AlhCdtinn ofESOP Stock 

Purchase of shams for MHI’ 
Ralance-March 31,2007 

See accompanying notes 
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CARVER BANCOFU’, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Dollars in thuusands) 

Cash flows from operating activitics: 
Net income 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities: 

Provision for loan losses 
Stock based compensation cxpense 
Depreciation expense 
Amortization of premiums and discounts 
Impairment chargc on securities 
Loss from sale of securities 
Gain on sale of loans 
Writedown on loans held-for-sale 
Loss on sale of real estate owned 
Originations of loans held-for-salc 
Procccds from sale of loans hcld-for-sale 

Changes in assets and liabilities: 
Increase in accrued interest receivable 
Increase in other assets 
(Decrwse) increase in other liabilities 

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities 
Cash flows from investing activities: 

Purchases of securities: 
Available-for-sale 
Held-to-maturity 

Proceeds from principal payments, maturities and calls of securities: 
Available-for-sale 
Held-to-maturity 

Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities 
Originations of’ loans held-for-investment 
Loans purchased from third parties 
Principal collections on loans 
Proceeds from salcs of loan originations held-lor-investment 
Redemption (purchase) of FHLB-NY slock 
Additions to premises and equipment 
Proceeds liorn sale of real cstate owned 
Payments for acquisition, net of cash acquired 

Nct cash provided by (uscd in) investing activities 
Cash llows from financing activities: 

Net (decrease) increase in deposits 
Net repayment of FHLU advances and other borrowings 
Common stock repurchased 
Dividends paid 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activitics 
Nct (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 
Cash and cash equivalents at end o f  the year 

Supplemental information: 
Noncash Transfers- 

Change in unrealized loss on valuation of available-for-salc investments, net 

Cash paid for- 
Interest 
Income taxes 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 

Years Ended March 31, 

2007 2006 200s 

$ 2,583 $ 3,770 $ 2,649 

276 -_. 

426 233 
,581 1,546 
,145) 863 
.. _. 

624 __ 

(192) 
702 
I 08 

(24,708) 
14,422 

.. 

(1 2,646) 
12.197 

._ 

358 
,423 
,502 
,547 

(94) 

(I  3,680) 

(213) 
(7,618) 
(4.452) 

7, I63 (4,487) 

(26,X I I )  (83,219) 
.. (1  9) 

26,539 
7,185 

57,942 
(105,284) 

(58,191) 
146,410 
16,548 

1,388 

( 1,869) 
404 

(2,425) 

60,645 
4,816 
1,575 

(98,704) 
(96,140) 
I 13,482 
10,697 

49 8 

(1 ,082) 
.. 

5 1,383 
11,996 
7,288 

(78,170) 
(104,734) 

1 12,603 

(549) 
(3,399) 

.. 

._ .. 

88,647 (3 1,043) (86,XOI j 

(33,657) 48,768 79,789 
(45,660) (2 1,507) 10,959 

(321) (115) (1,021) 
(883) (782) (793) 

( m 5 2  1) 26,364 88,934 
(5,554) 2,484 (2,354) 
22,904 20,420 22,774 

$ 17,350 $ 22,904 $ 20,420 

19,510 rfi 13,502 $ 9,718 
652 $ 2,107 $ 2,395 
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CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIAFUES 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Nature of operations 

Carver Bancorp, Inc. (on a stand-alone basis, the “Holding Company” or “Registrant”), was incorporated in May 1996 
and its principal wholly-owned subsidiary is Carver Fcderal Savings Bank (the “Bank” or “Carver Federal”). CFSB Realty 
Corp., CFSR Credit Corp. and Carver Community Development Corp. are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Bank. CFSB 
Credit Corp. is currently inactive. The Bank owns a majority interest in Carvcr Asset Corporation, a real estate investment 
trust formed in February 2004. The Bank was chartered in 1948 and began operations in 1949 as Carver Federal Savings and 
Loan Association, a federally chartered mutual savings and loan association. The Bank converted to a federal savings bank in 
1986. On October 24, 1994, the Bank converted from mutual to stock form and issued 2,314,275 sharcs of its common stock, 
par value $0.01 per share. On October 17, 1996, the Bank completcd its reorganization into a holding company structure (the 
“Reorganization”) and became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Holding Company. Collectivcly, the Holding Company, the 
Bank and the Holding Company’s other direct and indirect subsidiaries are referred to herein as the “Company” or “Carver.” 

In September 2003, the Holding Company formed Carver Statutory Trust I (thc “Trust”) for the sole purpose of 
issuing trust preferrcd securities and invcsting the proceeds in an equivalent amount ol‘ floating rate junior subordinated 
debentures of the TIolding Company. In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board lnterpretation No. 46 (revised 
December 2003), Consoliddon qf Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation ojARB No. 51, effective April 1,2004, the 
Trust is not consolidated for financial reporting purposes. 

On October 5, 2006, Carver Federal established Carver Municipal Bank (“CMB”), a wholly owned, New York State 
chartered limited purpose commercial bank, with the intention of expanding Carver Federal’s ability to compete for municipal 
and state agency deposits and provide other fee income based services. The Bank invested $2.0 million ol‘capital into CMB at 
its formation. In the State of New York, municipal entities may deposit funds only with commercial banks, other than except 
through limited exceptions, and CMB provides Carver Federal with a platform to enter into this new line of business. 

Carver Federal’s principal business consists of attracting deposit accounts through its branches and investing those 
funds in mortgage loans and othcr investments permitted by federal savings banks. The Bank has ten branches located 
throughout the City of New York that primarily serve the communities in which they operate. 

Basis of consolidated financial statement presentation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts ofthe Holding Company, the Hank and the Bank’s wholly 
owned or majority owned subsidiaries, Carver Asset Corporation, CFSB Realty Corp., CMB, Carver Community Development 
Corporation, and CFSB Credit Corp. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated statement of 
linancial condition and revenues and expenses for the period then ended. Estimates that are particularly susceptible to 
significant changes in the near-term relate to prepayment assumptions on mortgage-backed securities and mortgagc loans, the 
determination ol‘the allowance for loan losses and, if applicable, the valuation of real estate owned. Actual results could differ 
significantly rrom those estimates. 

Management belicvcs that prepayment assumptions on mortgage-backed securities and mortgagc loans are appropriate 
and the allowance for loan losses is adequate. While management uses available information to recognize losses on loans, 
future additions to the allowance for loan losses or future write downs of real estate owned may be necessary based on changes 
in economic conditions in the areas where Carver Federal has extended mortgages and other credit instruments 

In addition, the Office of Thrift Supervision (“OTS”), Carver Federal’s regulator, as an integral part of its examination 
process, periodically reviews Carver Federal’s allowance for loan losses and, if applicable, real estate owned valuations. The 
OTS may require Carvcr Federal to recogni~e additions to the allowance [or loan losses or additional write downs of real estate 
owned based on their judgments about infonnation available to them at the time of their examination. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash, amounts due from depository 
institutions, federal funds sold and other short-term instruments with original maturities of three months or less. Federal funds 
sold are generally sold for one-day periods. The amounts due from depository institutions include a non-interest bearing 
account held at the Federal Keserve Bank (“FRB”) where any additional cash rcserve required on demand deposits would be 
maintained. Currently, this reserve requirement is zero since the Bank’s vault cash satisfies cash reserve requirements for 
deposits. 

I 

Securities 

When purchased, securitics are designated in either the securities held-to-maturity portfolio or securities available-for- 
sale portfolio. Securities are classified as held-to-maturity and carried at amortized cost only if the Bank has a positive intent 
and ability to hold such securities to maturity. Securities held-to-maturity are carried at cost, adjusted for the amortization of‘ 
premiums and the accretion of discounts using the level-yield method over the remaining period until maturity. 

If not classified as held-to-maturity, securities are classified as available-fbr-sale demonstrating management’s ability 
to sell in response to actual or anticipated changes in interest rates and resulting prepayment risk or any other factors. 
Available-for-sale securities are reported at ljir value. UnrealiLcd holding gains or losses for securities available-for-sale are 
excluded from earnings and reported net of deferred income taxes as a separate component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss), a component of Stockholders’ Equity. Any impairment in the available-for-sale securities 
deeincd other-than-temporary, is written down against the cost basis and charged to carnings. No impairment charge was 
rccorded for fiscal 2007 or 2006, however, during fiscal 2005, Carver recorded a $1.5 million charge to earnings for 
impairment in available-for-sale securities related to 150,000 shares of Independence Federal Savings Bank (“IFSB”) common 

offset capital gains to the extent such gains occur before the 5‘h anniversary of the sale of the IFSB shares. 

1 

I 

I 
I 

stock held in portfolio. The capital loss realized by the Company on the sale of TFSR shares can be utilized by the Company to 

I Gains or losses on sales 01‘ securities of all classifications are recognized based on the specific identification method. 

Loans Held-for-Sale 

I Loans receivable are carried at unpaid principal balances plus unamortized premiums and certain deferred direct loan 
origination costs, less the allowance for loan losses and deferred loan fccs and discounts. 

Loans held-for-sale are carried at the lower of cost or markct value. Premiums paid and discounts obtained on such 
loans held-for-sale are deferred as an adjustment to the carrying value of the loans until the loans are sold. 

The Bank defers loan origination fees and certain direct loan origination costs and accretes such ainounls as an 
~ adjustment of yield over the expected lives of the related loans using methodologies which approximate the interest method. 

Premiums and discounts on loans purchased are amortized or accretcd as an adjustment of yield over the contractual lives, of 
the related loans, adjusted for prepayments when applicable, using methodologies which approximate the interest method. 

Loans Receivable 
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Loans are generally placed on non-accrual status when they are past due 90 days or more as to contractual obligations 
or whcn other circumstances indicate that collection is questionable. When a loan is placed on non-accrual status, any interest 
accrued but not received is reversed against interest income. Payments reccived on a non-accrual loan are either applied to the 
outstanding principal balance or recorded as interest income, depending on an assessment of the ability to collect the loan. A 
non-accrual loan i s  restored to accrual status when principal and intcrest payments bccome less than 90 days past due and its 
hture collectibility is reasonably assured 

Allowance fur Loan Losses 

An allowance for loan losses is maintaincd at a level considered adequate to provide for potential loan losses. 
Management is responsible for determining the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses and the periodic provisioning for 
estimated losses included in the consolidated financial statements. The cvaluation process is undertaken on a quarterly basis, 
but may increase in frequency should conditions arise that would rcquire management’s prompt attention, such as business 
combinations and opportunities to dispose of non-performing and marginally perfbrming loans by bulk sale or any 
development which may indicate an adversc trend. 



Carver Federal maintains a loan review system, which allows for a periodic review of its loan portfolio and the early 
identification of potential problem loans. Such system takes into consideration, among other things, delinquency status, size of 
loans, type of collateral and financial condition of the borrowers. Loan loss allowances are established for problem loans based 
on a review of such information andor appraisals of the underlying collatcral. On the remainder of its loan portfolio, loan loss 
allowances are based upon a combination of factors including, but not limited to, actual loan loss experience, composition of 
loan portfolio, current economic conditions and management’s j udgment. Although managcment believes that adequate loan 
loss allowances have been established, actual losses arc dependent upon future events and, as such, further additions to the 
level of the loan loss allowance may be necessary in the future. 

The methodology employed for assessing the appropriateness of the allowance consists of the following criteria: 

Establishment of reserve amounts for all specifically identified criticized loans that have been designated as 
requiring attention by management’s internal loan review program, as discussed further below 

An average loss factor, giving effect to historical loss experience over several years and linked to cyclical 
trends, i s  applied to smaller balance homogenous types of loans not subject to specific review. These loans 
include residential one- to four-family, multifamily, nonresidential and construction loans and also include 
consumer and business loans. 

Recognition is also given to the changed risk profile brought about by business combinations, customer knowledge, 
the results of ongoing credit quality monitoring processes and the cyclical nature of economic and business conditions. An 
important consideration in applying these methodologies is the concentration of real estate related loans located in the New 
Y ork City metropolitan area. 

The initial allocation or specific-allowance methodology commences with loan officers and underwriters grading the 
quality of their loans on a nine-category risk classification scale. Loans identified from this process as below investment grade 
are referred to the Internal Asset Review Committee for further analysis and identification ofthose factors that may ultimately 
affect the full recovery or collectibility of principal and/or interest. These loans are subject to continuous review and 
monitoring while they remain in the criticized category. Additionally, thc Internal Asset Review Committee is responsible for 
performing periodic reviews of’the loan portfolio that are independent from the identification process employed by loan 
officers and underwriters. Gradings that fall into criticized categories arc further evaluated and reserve amounts, if necessary, 
are established for each loan. 

The second allocation or loss factor approach to common or homogeneous loans is made by applying the average loss 
factor based on several years of loss experience to the outstanding balances in each loan category. It gives recognition to the 
loss experience of acquired businesses, business cycle changes and the real estate components of loans. Since many loans 
depend upon the sufficiency of collateral, any adverse trend in the real estate markets could seriously affect underlying values 
available to protect against loss. 

A loan is considered to be impaired, as defined by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (YSFAS’’) No. 114, 
“Accounting by Creditrirs for Impuirment of a /,om ” (“SFAS 1 I,,’), when it is probable that Carver Federal will be unable to 
collect all principal and interest amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Carver Federal tests 
loans covered under SFAS 1 14 for impairment if they arc on non-accrual status or have been restructured. Consumer credit 
non-accrual loans are not tested for impairment because thcy are included in large groups of smaller-balance homogeneous 
loans that, by definition are excluded from the scope of SFAS 114. Impaired loans are required to be measured based upon the 
present value of‘expected future cash flows, discounted at the loan’s initial effective interest rate, or at the loan’s market price 
or fair value ofthe collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. Ifthe loan valuation is less than the recorded value of’the loan, 
an impairment reserve must be established for the differcnce. The impairment reserve is established by either an allocation of 
the allowance for credit losses or by a provision for credit losses, depending on various circumstances. Impairment reserves 
are not needed when credit losses have been recorded so that the recorded investment in an impaired loan is less than the loan 
valuation. 

Segment Rcporting 

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 13 I ,  “Disclosures uhout Segments oj’an 
Enterprise md Related Infirrmation If, the Company has determined that all of its activities constitute one reportable operating 
segment. 

Concentration of Risk 

The Bank’s principal lending activities are concentrated in loans secured by real estate, a substantial portion of which 
is located in New Y ork City. Accordingly, the ultimate collectibility of a substantial portion of the Company’s loan portfolio is 
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susceptible to changes in New York’s real estate market conditions. 

I Office Properties and Equipment 

Office properties and equipment are comprised of land, at cost, and buildings, building improvements, furnishings and 
equipment and leasehold improvements, at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and 
amortization charges are computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 

Buildings and improvements 
Furnishings and equipment 
Leasehold improvements 

I0 to 25 years 
3 to 5 years 
Lesser of useful life or remaining term of lease 

Maintenance, repairs and minor improvements are charged to nun-interest expense in the period incurred. 

Federal Home Loan Bank Stock 

The Federal IIome: Loan Hank of New York (“FHLB-NY”) has assigned to the Bank a mandated membership stock 
purchase, based on the Bank’s asset size. In addition, for all borrowing activity, the Bank is required to purchase shares of 
FHLB-NY non-marketable capital stock at par. Such shares are redeemed by FHLB-NY at par with reductions in the Bank’s 
borrowing levels. The Bank carries this investment at historical cost. 

Bank Owned Life Insurance 

Rank Owned Life Insurance (“BOLI”) is carried at its cash surrender value on the balance sheet and is classified as a 
non-interest-earning asset. Death benefits proceeds rcceived in excess of the policy’s cash surrender value are recognized to 
income. Returns on the BOLJ assets are added to the carrying value and included as non-interest income in the consolidated 
statement of operations. Any receipt of benefit proceeds is recorded as a reduction to the carrying value ofthe BOLT asset. At 
March 3 1, 2007, Carver held no  policy loans against its BOLT cash surrender values or restrictions on the use of the procccds. 

Mortgage Servicing Rights 

Mortgage servicing rights on originated loans that have been sold arc capitalized by allocating the total cost of the 
mortgage loans between the mortgage servicing rights and the loans based on their relative fair values. Mortgage servicing 
rights are carried at the lower of cost or fair value and are amortized in proportion to, and over the period of, net servicing 
income. The estimated fair value of mortgage servicing rights is determined through a discountcd analysis of future cash flows, 
incorporating numerous assumptions including servicing income, servicing costs, market discount rates, prepayment speeds 
and default rates. 

Real Estate Owned 

Real estate acquired by foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure is recorded at the fair value at the date of acquisition 
and thereafter carried at the lower of cost or lair value less estimated selling costs. The fair value of such assets is determined 
based primarily upon independent appraisals and other relevant factors. The amounts ultimately recoverable from real estate 
owned could differ from the net carrying valuc of these properties because of economic conditions. 

Costs incurred to improve propcrties or prepare them lor sale are capitalized. Revenues and expenses related to the 
holding and operating of properties are rccognixed in operations as carned or incurred. Gains or losses on sale of properties are 
recognized as incurred. At March 3 1,2007, the Hank had no foreclosed real estate, however as a result of a property tax 
redemption, thc Bank took fee ownership of a vacant tract of land in Bayshore, N Y  with a carrying amount of $28,000 and is 
included with other assets on the statement of condition. 

Identifiable Intangible Assets 

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill und Olher Intangible Assets ” 
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are no longer amortized, rather they are assessed, at least annually, 
for impairment. 

Identifiable intangible assets rclate primarily to core deposit premiums, resulting from the valuation of‘ core deposit 
intangibles acquired in the purchase of branches of other financial institutions. These identifiable intangible assets arc 
amortized using the straight-line method over a period of 5 ycars but not exceeding the estimated average remaining life of the 
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existing customer deposits acquired. Amortization periods for intangible assets are monitored to determine if events and 
circumstances requirc such periods to be reduced. 

Income Taxes 

Carver Fcderal accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Temporary differences between the 
basis of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and tax purposes are measured as of the balance sheet date. Deferred tax 
liabilities or recognizable deferred tax assets are calculated on such differences, using current statutory rates, which result in 
Future taxable or deductible amounts. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the 
period that includes the enactment date. 

Impairment 

The Company annually evaluates long-lived assets, certain identifiable intangibles and deferred costs for indication of 
impairment in value. When required, asset impairment will be recorded as an expense in the current period. In fiscal 2005, as 
a result of the attempted acquisition of lFSB, Carver invested in 150,000 shares of IFSB common stock totaling $3.1 million. 
During fiscal 2005 Carver recognized an impairment on these shares of $1.5 million and on May 1 1,2005, subsequent to the 
termination of that acquisition agreemcnt, the Company sold its entire equity investment in IFSB I’or an aggregate price of $1.6 
million. The capital loss realized by the Company on the sale of IFSB shares can be utilized by the Company to offset capital 
gains to the extent such gains occur before the 5‘h anniversary ol‘the sale of the IFSB shares. 

Earnings per Common Share 

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by thc weighted- 
average number of‘ common shares outstanding. Dilutcd EPS includes any additional common shares as if all potentially 
dilutive common shares were issued (e.g., outstanding share awards undcr the Company’s stock option plans). For the purpose 
of these calculations, unreleascd shares of the Carver Federal Savings Rank Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) arc not 
considered to be outstanding. 

Treasury Stock 

Treasury stock is recordcd at cost and is presented as a reduction ofstockholders’ equity. 

Pension Plans 

The Company’s pension bcnefit and post-retirement health and welfare benefit obligations, and the related costs, are 
calculated using actuarial concepts, within the framework of SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” and SFAS 
No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Post-retirement Benefits Other than Pensions,” respectively. The measurement of such 
obligations and expenses requires that certain assumptions be made regarding sevcral factors, most notably including the 
discount rate and the expected return on plan assets. The Company evaluates these critical assumptions on an annual basis. 
Other factors considered by the Company include retirement patterns, mortality, turnovcr, and the rate of-compensation 
increase. 

Under Statement ofFinancia1 Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefits Pension 
and Olher Post-retirement Plans- an amendment ofSFAS Statement Nos. 87, 88, I06 and 132(R)”, actuarial gain and losses, 
prior services cost or credits, and any remaining transition assets or obligations that have not been recognized undcr previous 
accounting standards must be recognized in  “accumulated other comprehensive income or loss”, net of taxes eff‘ects, until they 
are amortized as a component of net of‘pcriodic benefit cost. In addition, under SFAS No. 158 the measurement date (i.e., the 
date at which plan assets and the bcnefit obligation are measured for financial reporting purposes) is required to be the 
company’s fiscal year end. The company presently uses a December 3 1 measurement date for its pension, as permitted by 
SFAS Nos. 87 and 106. In accordance with SFAS No. 158, the Company will adopt a year-end measurement date on March 
3 1,2008. 

Stock-Based Compensation Plans 

Paymcnt,” (“SFAS No. 123 R”). This statement replaccs Statement ofFinancia1 Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting 
,for Stock-Bused Compmration, ” and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Siock Issued to 
Employees, ” (“APB No. 25”). SFAS No. 123R requires that all stock-based compensation be recognized as an expense in the 
i-inancial statements and that such cost be measured at the fair value of’the award. This statement was adopted using thc 
modified prospective method of application, which requires the Company to recognize compensation expense on a prospective 
basis. Therefore, prior period financial statements have not been restated. Under this method, in addition to reflecting 
compensation expense fbr new share-bascd awards, expense i s  also recognized to reflect the remaining service period of‘ 

Effective April 1 , 2006, the Company adoptcd Statement of’ Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, “Share-Based 
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awards that had been included in pro forma disclosures in prior periods. SFAS No. 123R also requires that excess tax bencfits 
rclated to stock option exercises be reflected as financing cash inflows instead of operating cash inflows. 

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123K on April 1,2006, the Company applied APB No. 25 and related 
interpretations in accounting for its stock option plans. As each granted stock option entitled the holder to purchasc shares of 
the Company’s common stock at an cxercise price equal to 100% of the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant, no 
compensation cost for such options was recognized. Had compensation cost for the stock option plans been determined, using a 
Black-Scholes option-pricing model, based on the fair value at the date of grant for awards made under those plans, consistent 
with the method set forth in SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-based Compcnsation,” as amended by Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, ‘ilccountingfbr Stock-hosed Compensation - Trunsilion und Disclosure,” (“SFAS 
No. 148”), the Company’s pro fbnna net income in the years ended March 3 1,2006 and 2005 would have been as follows: 

2006 2005 
Net Income available to common shareholders: 

As reported $ 3,770 $ 2,535 
Total stock-based employee compensation expense 
determined under fair value based methods for 

all awards, net o f  related tax effects (1 05) ( 124) 
Pro forma $ 3,665 $ 2,411 

Basic earnings per share: 
As reported 
Pro forma 

Diluted earnings pcr share: 
As reported 
Pro forma 

$ 1.50 $ 1.06 
I .46 1.01 

$ 1.45 $ 1.03 
1.43 0.98 

Weighted averagc number o f  shares outstanding 2,506,029 2,381,980 

Compcnsation expense is recognized for the Bank’s ESOP equal to the fair value of shares committcd to be released 
for allocation to participant accounts. Any difference between the fair value at that time and the ESOP’s original acquisition 
cost is charged or credited to stockholders’ equity (additional paid-in capital). The cost ofunallocated ESOP sharcs (shares not 
yet committed to be released) is reflected as a reduction o1‘stockholders’ equity. 

employees and non-employee dircctors. All option granted, vested and unexcrcised as of March 3 1,2006 will still be 
accounted for under APB No. 25. No compensation cxpense is recognized ifthe exercise price of‘thc option is greater than or 
equal to the Sair mdrket value of thc underlying stock on the date of grant. 

The Company grants “incentive stock options” only to its employees and grants “nonqualified stock options” to 

Immaterial Restatement 

The March 3 1,2006 Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition reflects an immaterial restatement to correctly 
dcconsolidate Carver’s Statutory Trust I subsidiary, amounting to an increase in othcr assets and other borrowed money of 
$403,000. The outstanding number of unvested shares granted under the Company’s Management Recognition Plan (“MRP”) 
had not been included as potentially dilutive shares when calculating the diluted EPS for the past several years. For each of thc 
fiscal years ended March 3 1,2005 and 2006, the outstanding number of unvestcd MRP shares was 14,735 and 26,539, 
respectively. Taking these potentially dilutive shares into account, the diluted EPS would have been $1 .@3, $1 -45 and $1.00 
fbr 2005,2006 and 2007 respectively compared to reported diluted EPS of $1.03, $ I  .47 and $1.01. Management believes 
these misstatements to be immaterial. 

Reclassifications 

Certain amounts in the consolidated financial statements prcsented for prior years have been reclassi lied to conform to 
the current year presentation. 
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NOTE 2. SECURITIES 

The following is a summary of securities at March 3 1,2007 (in thousands): 

Available-for-Sale: 
Mortgage-backed securities: 

Government National Mortgage Association 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 
Federal National Mortgage Association 
Other 

Total mortgage-backed securities 
U.S. Government Agency Securities 

Total available-for-sale 

Held-to-Maturity : 
Mortgage-backed securities: 

Government National Mortgage Association 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 
Fedcral National Mortgage Association 
Other 
Total mortgage-backed socurities 

Total held-to-maturity 
Total securities 

Other 

Amortized Gross Unrealized Estimated 
cost  Gains Losses Fair-Value 

$ 13,637 $ 47 $ (65) $ 13,619 
I ,116 12 (3) 1,125 
5,905 30 (40) 5,895 

517 20 537 
21,175 109 (108) 21,176 
26,417 387 26,804 
47,592 496 (108) 47,980 

727 25 752 
13,308 9 ( 166) 13,151 
4,792 53 (50) 4,795 

120 - 120 
18,947 87 (2 16) 18,818 

I 91) (31 1 X7 -. . _. \- I 
~ ~~ ~ 

19,137 87 (219) 19,005 
$ 66,729 $ 583 $ (327) $ 66,985 

The following is a summary of securities at March 3 1,2006 (in thousands): 

Estimated 
cost Gains Losses Fair Value 

Amortized Gross Unrealized 

Available-for-Sale: 
Mortgage-backed securities: 

Government National Mortgage Association $ 63,499 $ 48 $ (540) $ 63,007 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 2,229 8 (28) 2,209 

Total mortgage-backcd securities 70,424 59 (678) 69,805 
U.S. Government Agency Securities 12,386 (309) 12,077 

Total available-for-sale 82,810 59 (987) 8 1,882 

Federal National Mortgage Association 4,696 3 (110) 4,589 

Held-to-Maturity: 
Mortgage-backed securities: 

Government National Mortgage Association 809 36 845 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 17,372 15 (500) 16,887 
Federal National Mortgage Association 7,900 34 ( 1 07) 7,827 
Other 70 70 
Total mortgage-backed securities 26,151 85 (607) 25,629 

Other 
Total held-to-maturity 

Total securities 

253 (2) 25 1 
26.404 85 (6091 25.880 

$ 109,214 $ 144 $ (11596j $ 107:762 

The net unrealized gain on availablc-for-sale securities was $388,000 ($240,000 afler taxes) at March 31,2007 
and net unrealized loss of $928,000 ($575,000 allcr taxes) at March 3 1,2006. On November 30,2002 the Bank transferred 
$22.8 million of mortgage-backed securities from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity as a result of management’s intention 
to hold thcse securities in portfolio until maturity. A relatcd unrealized gain of $468,000 was recorded as a separate component 
ofstockholders’ equity and is being amortized ovcr the remaining lives of the securities as an adjustment to yield. As of March 
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3 I ,  2007 the carrying value of these securities was $9.5 million and a related net unrealized gain of $132,000 continues to be 
reported. 

Therc was a loss of $624,000 resulting from the sale of available-for-sale securities in fiscal 2007. In fiscal 2005, 
Carver recorded a $1.5 million charge to earnings for impairment in available-for-sale securities related to 150,000 shares of 
Tndependence Federal Savings Bank (“IFSB”) common stock held in portfolio and the stock was subsequcntly sold in fiscal 
2006. The capital loss realized by the Company on the sale of IFSB shares can be utilized by the Company to offset capital 
gains to the extent such gains occur before the 5‘h anniversary of the sale ol‘ the TFSB shares. Additionally, sales of available- 
for-sale securities in fiscal 2005 resulted in gross realized gains of $94,000. 

At March 31,2007 the Bank pledged securities of $39.4 million as collateral for advances from the FHLB-NY. 
The following is a summary of the carrying value (amortized cost) and fair value of securities at March 3 I ,  2007, by 

remaining period to contractual maturity (ignoring earlier call dates, if any). Actual maturities may differ from contractual 
maturities because certain security issuers have the right to call or prepay their obligations. 

Amortizcd Weighted Avg 
cost Fair Value Rate 

Available-for-Sale: 
Less than one year 
One through five years 
Five through ten years 
After ten years 

Held-to-maturity : 
One through five years 
Five through ten years 
After ten years 

$ 3,468 $ 3,475 6.13% 
10,032 10,128 5.55% 
14,574 14,781 5.46% 
19,518 19,596 4.99% 

$ 47,592 $ 47,980 5.33% 

$ 28 $ 28 5.63% 
I90 187 5.62% 

18,919 18,790 5.54% 
$ 19,137 $ 19,005 5.54% 

The unrealized losses and fair value of securities in an unrealized loss position at March 3 1 ,  2007 for less than 12 
months and 12 months or longer were as follows (in thousands): 

Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total 
Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair 

Losses Value Losses Value Losses Value 

Available-for-Sale: 
Mortgage-backed securities $ (108) $ 9,498 - $  (108) $ 9,498 
Total available-for-sale (108) 9,498 ( 1  08) 9,498 

Weld-to-Maturity : 
Mortgage-backed securities ( 2  16) 15,24 I (2 16) 15,241 
U.S. Government Agency Securities (3) 187 (3) 187 
Total held-to-maturity (2  19) 15,428 (219) 15,428 

$ (327) $ 24,926 - $  (327) $ 24,926 Total sccuritics 
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The unrealized losses and fair value of securities in an unrealized loss position at March 3 I ,  2006 were as follows (in 
thousands): 

Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total 
Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair 

Losses Value Losses Value Losses Value 
Mortgage-backed securities $ (152) $ 19,051 $ (526) $ 39,795 $ (678) $ 58,846 
U.S. Government Agency Securities (141) 5,725 (168) 6,352 (309) 12,077 

Total available-for-sale (293) 24,716 (694) 46,147 (987) 70,923 

Held-to-Maturity : 
Mortgage-backed securities (502) 16,777 ( 105) 5,973 (607) 22,150 
U.S. Government Agency Secuntios (2) 25 1 (2) 25 I 
Total Held-to- Maturity 
Total securities 

(502) 16,777 (107) 6,224 (609) 23,OO I 
$ (795’1 $ 41.553 $ (801) $ 52.371 $ 11.596) $ 93.924 

A total of 24 securities had an unrealized loss at March 3 1,2007 compared to 46 at March 3 1,2006. Based on 
cstimated fair valuc, all the securities in an unrealized loss position were United States government agency-backed securities, 
which represents 20.3% and 86.7% of total securities at March 31,2007 and 2006, respectively. The cause of the temporary 
impairment is directly related to the change in interest rates. In general, as interest rates rise, the fair value of securities will 
decline, and conversely as interest rates declinc, the fair value 01‘ securities will increase. Management considers fluctuations 
in fair value as a result of interest rate changes to be temporary, which is consistent with the Bank’s experience. The 
impairments are deemed temporary based on the direct relationship of the decline in fair value to movements in interest rates, 
the lilk of the investments and their high credit quality. To combat the impacl ofnet interest margin compression, the Bank not 
only continued its asset liability management strategy of replacing securities as they run off with higher yielding mortgage 
loans and replacing highcr costing borrowings with lower costing deposits; in addition, during September 2006, the Bank 
accelerated its asset liability managerncnt strategy and executed a series of transactions designed to hasten the repositioning 
and de-leveraging of the Bank’s balance sheet. The Bank sold $47.1 million in lower yielding investments and used the 
proceeds to repay certain higher cost deposits and borrowings. At this time the Bank does not intend to sell additional 
securities. 

NOTE 3. LOANS RECETVABLE, NET 

The following is a summary of loans receivable and loans held-for-sale, net of allowance for loan losses at March 31 (dollars in 
thousands): 

Gross loans receivable: 
One- to four-family 
Multifami 1 y 
Non-residential 
Construction 
Business 
Consumer 

Total loans receivable 

Add: 

Less: 
Premium on loans 

Deferred Ikes and loan discounts 
Allowance for loan losses 

Total loans receivable, net 

2007 
Amount Percent 

$ 100,910 17.22% 
91,877 15.68% 

203,187 34.68% 
137,697 23.50% 
5 1,226 8.74% 

1,067 
585.964 

0.18% 
100.00% 

990 

(994) 
(5,409) 

$ 580.551 

2006 
Amount Percent 

$ 143,433 28.91% 
104,718 21.1 I %  
154,044 3 I .05% 
92,5 I 1 18.65% 

445 0.09% 
1,008 0.20% 

496,159 100.00% 

1,890 

At March 3 1,2007, 89.9% of the Company’s real estate loans receivable was principally secured by properties located 
in New York City. 
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The mortgagc loan portfolios serviced for Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA”) and other third parties 
are not included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The unpaid principal balances of these loans 
aggregated $38.8 million, $33.2 million and $17.9 million at March 31,2007,2006, and 2005, respectively. Custodial escrow 
balances, maintained in connection with the above-mentioned loan servicing, were approximately $1 11,000, $ 1  14,000 and 
$56,000 at March 3 1,2007,2006 and 2005, respectively. During the years ended March 3 1,2007,2006 and 2005, the Bank 
recognized a gain on the sale of loans of $192,000, $35 1,000 and $277,000, respectively. 

At March 31,2007 the Bank pledged $268.3 million in total mortgage loans as collateral for advances from the 
FHLB-NY. 

The following is an analysis of the allowance for loan losses for the years ended Mirch 3 1 (in thousands): 

2007 2006 200s 

Balance at beginning of the year $ 4,015 $ 4,097 $ 4,125 
Provision charged to operations 276 
Recoveries of amounts previously charged-off 47 35 45 
Charge-offs of loans (120) (1 17) (73) 
Acquisition of CCB 1,191 
Balance at end of the year $ 5,409 $ 4,015 $ 4,097 

Non-accrual loans consist of loans for which the accrual of interest has been discounted as a result of such loans 
becoming 90 days or more delinquent as to principal and/or intercst payments. lnterest income on non-accrual loans is 
recorded when reccived. Kestructured loans consist of‘ loans whcre borrowers have been granted concessions in regards to the 
terms of their loans due to financial or other difficulties, which rendcred them unable to repay their loans under the original 
contractual terms. 

At March 31,2007,2006 and 2005, the recorded investment in impaired loans was $4.5 million, $2.8 million and 
$998,000, respectively, all of which represented non-accrual loans. The related allowance for loan losses for these impaired 
loans was approximately $756,000, $276,000 and $160,000 at March 3 1,2007,2006 and 2005, respectively. The impaired 
loan portfolio is primarily collateral dependent. The average recorded investment in impaired loans during thc fiscal years 
ended March 3 I ,  2007,2006 and 2005 was approximately $3.6 million, $2.2 million and $ I  .6 million, respectively. For the 
fiscal years ended March 3 1,2007,2006 and 2005, the Company did not recognize any interest income on these impaired 
loans. lnterest income of $3 19,000, $79,000 and $83,000, for the fiscal ycars ended March 3 I ,  2007,2006 and 2005, 
respectively, would have been recorded on impaired loans had they performed in accordance with their original terms. 

result of a property tax redemption. The increase in non-accrual loans reflects a $3.8 million group of loans to one borrower 
that were restructured and was partially offset by non-performing loans that were paid off and payments on other loans which 
returned them to performing status. 

At March 3 I ,  2007 other non-perfonning assets consists of a $28,000 parcel ol‘land that Carver Federal acquired as a 

At March 3 I ,  2007 and 2006, there were no loans to officers or directors of the Company. 

NOTE 4. OFFICE PROPERTIES AND EQUIPMENT, NET 

The detail of office properties and equipment as of March 3 I is as follows (in thousands): 

2007 2006 

Land 
Building and improvements 

$ 415 
9,834 

Leasehold improvements 5,262 
Furniture and equipment 10,039 

25,550 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (1 0,924) 

Office properties and equipment, net $ 14,626 

$ 415 
9,391 
4,404 
8,367 

22,577 

$ 13,194 
(9,383) 

Dcpreciation and amortization charged to operations for the fiscal years ended March 31,2007,2006 and 2005 
amounted to $1.6 million, $1.5 million and $1.5 million, respectively. 
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NOTE 5. ACCRUED INTEREST RECElVABLE 

Thc detail of accrued interest receivable as of March 3 1 is as follows (in thousands): 

Loans receivable 
Mortgage-backed securities 
lnveslments and other interest bearing assets 

Total accrued interest receivable 

2007 2006 

$ 3,689 $ 2,300 
590 482 

56 188 
$ 4,335 $ 2,970 

NOTE 6. DEPOSITS 

Deposit balances and weighted average stated interest rates as of March 3 1 are as follows (dollars in thousands): 

2007 2006 
Percent of Weighted Percent of Weighted 

Total Average Total Average 
Amount Deposits Rate Amount Deposits Rate 

Non-interest-bearing demand $ 5039 1 8.27% 0.00% $ 31,085 6.16% 0.00% 
NOW accounts 28,9 I0 4.70'1/0 0.31% 27,904 5.53% 0.31% 
Savings and club 137,960 22.43% 0.78% 139,724 27.69% 0.68% 
Money market savings account 46,996 7.64% 2.18% 40,045 7.93% 2.4 I '% 
Certihates of deposit 347,753 5 6.5 3 yo 4.28% 263,963 52.3 1% 3.76% 

2,612 0.43% 1.39% 1,917 0.38% 1.47%) 
.% 615,122 100.00% 2.78% $ 504,638 100.00% 2.37% 

Scheduled maturities of certificates of'deposit are as follows for the year ended March 3 1,2007 (in thousands): 

Period to Maturity 
Total Percent 

Rate i 1 Yr. 1-2 Yrs. 2-3 Yrs. 3+ Yrs. 2007 of Total 

0%-0.99% $ 12,401 $ 26 $ - $ 12 $ 12,439 3.58% 

2% - 3.99% 85,567 12,480 13,047 3,901 114,995 33.07% 
4% and over 164,455 24,530 10,491 199,476 57.36% 

1% - 1.99% 20,72 1 122 20,843 5.99% 

Total $ 283,144 $ 37,158 $ 13,047 $ 14,404 $ 347,753 100.00% 

The aggregate amount of certificates of deposit with minimum denominations of $100,000 or more was approximately 
$217.4 million at March 3 1,2007 compared to $183.5 million at March 3 1,2006. As of March 3 1,2007 the Bank had pledgcd 
$ I  1.8 million of investment securities as collateral for certain large deposits. 

Interest expense on deposits is as follows for the years ended March 3 1 (in thousands): 

2007 2006 2005 

NOW demand $ 97 $ 74 $ 69 

Money market savings 1,133 60 1 3 02 
Certificates of deposit 13,079 7,321 4,268 

15,270 8,945 5,465 

Savings and clubs 93 1 919 80 1 

Mortgagors deposits 30 30 25 

Penalty for early withdrawal of 
certificatcs of deposit 
Total interest cxpense 

(43) (24) (10) 
$ 15.227 $ 8.921 $ 5.455 



NOTE 7. BORROWED MONEY 

Federal Home Loan Bank Advances. FHLB-NY advances and wcighted average interest rates by remaining pcriod to 
maturity at March 3 1 are as follows (dollars in thousands): 

Maturing 2007 
Year Ended Weighted 
March 31, Average Rate Amount 

2007 -- % $ 
2008 4.58% 32,500 
2009 3.78% 15,107 
2013 3.50% 168 

4.32% $ 47,775 

2006 
Weighted 

Average Rate Amount 
4.40% $ 49,434 
3.65% 16,200 
3.78% 15,107 
3.50% 194 
4.13% $ 80,935 

As a member of the FHLB-NY, the Bank may have outstanding FHLB-NY borrowings in a combination of term 
advances and overnight funds of up to 25% of its total asscts, or approximately $185 million at March 31,2007. Borrowings 
arc secured by the Bank’s investment in FITLB-NY stock and by a blanket security agreement. This agreement requires the 
Bank to maintain as collateral certain qualifying assets (principally mortgage loans and securities) not otherwise pledged. At 
March 3 I ,  2007, advances were sccured by pledges of the Bank’s investment in the capital stock of the FHLB-NY totaling $3.2 
million and a blanket assignment ofthe Bank’s unpledged qualifying mortgage loans of $ 1  75.3 million and mortgage-backed 
and investment securities of $39.4 million. The Bank has sufficient Collateral at the FHLB-NY to be able to borrow an 
additional $58.4 million from the FHLB-NY at March 31,2007. 

Subordinuted Debt Srcurities. On September 17,2003, Carvcr Statutory Trust I, issued 13,000 shares, liquidation 
amount $1,000 per share, of floating rate capital securities. Gross proceeds from the sale of these trust prcfkrred debt securities 
of $13.0 million, and proceeds from the sale of the trust’s common securities of $403,000 thousand, were used to purchase 
approximately $ 1  3.4 million aggregate principal amount of the Holding Company’s floating rate junior subordinated debt 
securities due 2033. The trust preferred debt securities are redeemable at par quarterly at the option of the Company beginning 
on or after September 17,2008 and havc a mandatory redemption date of September 17,2033. Cash distributions on thc trust 
preferred debt securities are cumulative and payable at a floating rate pcr annum resetting quarterly with a margin of‘3.05% 
over the three-month LIBOR. 

The following table sets forth certain information regarding Carver Federal’s borrowings as of and for the years ended 
March 3 1 (dollars in thousands): 

Amounts outstanding at the end of year: 
FHLB advances 
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in junior subordinated debentures 

FHLB advances 
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in junior subordinated debentures 

Rate paid at year end: 

Maximum amount of borrowing outstanding at any month end: 
FHLB advances 
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in junior subordinated debentures 

Approximate average amounts outstanding for year: 
FHLB advances 
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in junior subordinated debentures 

FHLB advances 
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in junior subordinated debentures 

Approximate weighted average rate paid during year: 

2007 2006 

$ 47,775 $ 80,935 
$ 13,318 $ 13,260 

4.32% 4.13% 
8.40% 7.97% 

$ 93,975 $ 112,488 
$ 13,318 $ 13,260 

$ 65,567 $ 94,798 
$ 13,286 $ 13,230 

4.36% 3.81% 
8.33% 7.50% 

2005 

$ 102,500 
$ 13,202 

3.78% 
6.08% 

$ 112,506 
$ 13,202 

$ 97,013 
$ 13,171 

3.71% 
5.49% 
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NOTE 8. lNCOME TAXES 

The components of income tax (benetjt) expense for the years cnded March 3 1 are as follow (in thousands): 

2007 2006 2005 
Federal income tax expense (benefit): 

Current $ 1,887 $ 1,155 $ 1,978 
Deferred (3,018) 35 (782) 

(1,131) 1,190 1,196 
State and local income tax expense: 

Current 313 196 41 8 
Deferred (5) (57) (96) 

308 139 322 

Valuation allowance 

Total provision for income tax (beneftt) exper $ (823) $ 1,329 $ 1,5 18 

The following is a reconciliation ofthe expected Federal income tax rate to the consolidated effective tax rate for the 
years ended March 3 1 (dollars in thousands): 

2007 2006 2005 
Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent 

Statutory Federal income tax $ 598 34.0% $ 1,734 34.0% $ 1,417 34.0% 
State and local income taxes, net of 

Federal tax benetit 204 11.6% 92 1.8% 213 5.1% 
New markets tax credit ( I  ,475) -83.8% 
General business credit (69) -3.9% (73) -1.5% 
Release of contingency reserve (500) -9.8% 
Other (81) -4.6% 76 1.5?4 (112) -2.79’0 
Total income tax (benefit) expense $ (823) -46.7% $ 1,329 26.0% $ 1,518 36.4% 

Carver Federal’s stockholders’ cquity includes approximately $2.8 million at each of March 3 1,2007,2006 and 2005, 
which has been segregated for federal income tax purposes as a bad dcbt reserve. The use of this amount for purposes other 
than to absorb losses on loans may result in taxable income for federal income taxes at the then currcnt tax rate. 

Tax effects of existing temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and deferred 
tax liabilities are included in other assets at March 31 are as follows (in thousands): 

2007 2006 
Deferred Tax Assets: 

Income from affiliate $ 1,876 $ 1,975 
Allowance for loan losses 1,839 1,365 
Deferred loan fees 371 235 
Compensation and benefits I09 113 
Non-accrual loan interest 587 284 
Reserve for losses on other assets 65 
Capital loss carryforward 59 1 591 
Dcferred rent 111 
Purchase accounting adjustment 702 
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities 240 
New markets tax credit 1,242 
Minimum pension liability 173 
Other 2 2 

Total Deferred Tax Assets $ 7,430 $ 5,043 

Defcrred Tax Liabilities: 
Dcpreciation 
Minimum pension liability 

128 352 
50 

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securitics 228 
Total Doferred Tax Liabilities 406 352 
Net Deferred Tax Assets $ 7,024 $ 4,691 
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In June 2006, thc Bank was awarded a $59 million allocation under the NMTC program froin the Community 
Development Financial Institution Fund (“CDFI”) of the Department of the Treasury. The NMTC program, administered by 
the Department of the Treasury’s CDFI Fund, permits certain entities to receive a credit against federal income taxes for 
making qualified investments to help stimulate growth and create jobs in selected communities. The allocation was awarded to 
CCDC, a for-profit subsidiary created by the Bank to administer the initiative. The credit totals 39% of thc award or 
approximately $23 million in tax credits. The credits are allocated over a seven-year period, consistent with CCDC’s ability to 
make loans or other investments meeting CDFT guidelines and subject to agreements with the CDFT. A portion of the benefit of‘ 
the tax credit will be shared with the community and developers through a variety of means, including loan pricing and loan 
products. The Bank’s tax benefits began to accrue in December 2006, when a qualifying funding was made. 

A valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets at March 31,2007 and 2006 was not required since it i s  more 
likely than not that the results of future operations will generate sufficient future taxable incornc to realize the deferred tax 
asset. 

NOTE 9. EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE 

The following table reconciles the earnings available to ccimrnon shareholders (numerator) and the weighted average 
common stock outstanding (denominator) for both basic and diluted earnings per share for years ended March 3 1 (in 
thousands): 

2007 2006 2005 

Net income $ 2,583 $ 3,770 $ 2,649 
Preferred stock dividends 
Net income - basic 
Impact of  c o nv ers io n/p o t en t ial conv ers ion o f con  v e rt ib le preferred 
s tockto  common stock 
Net income - dilutcd 

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 
Effect of  d ilu tive o p lion s 
Effect ofdilutive securities convertible preferred s tock 

(1  14) 
2,583 3,770 2,535 

114 
$ 2,583 $ 3,770 $ 2,649 

2,51 I 2,506 2,382 
57 5 9 84 

113 
Effect ofdilutive MKP shares 18 27 15 
Weighted avcrage common shares outstanding - diluted 2,586 2,592 2,594 

NOTE 10. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

Conversion and Stock Ofering. On October 24, 1994, the Bank issued in an initial public offering 2,314,375 shares of 
common stock, par value $0.01 (the “Common Stock”), at a price of $10 per share resulting in net proceeds of $2 1.5 million. 
As part of the initial public offering, the Rank established a liquidation account at the time of conversion, in an amount equal to 
the surplus and reserves of the Rank at September 30, 1994. In the unlikely event of a complete liquidation of the Bank (and 
only in such event), eligible depositors who continue to maintain accounts shall be cntitled to receive a distribution from the 
liquidation account. The total amount of the liquidation account may be decreased if the balances of eligible deposits 
decreased as measured on the annual determination dates. The Bank is not permitted to pay dividends to the Holding Company 
on its capital stock if the effect thereof would cause its net worth to be reduced below either: (i) thc amount required for thc 
liquidation account, or (ii) the amount required for the Bank to comply with applicable minimum regulatory capital 
requirements. 

Hegulutoly Capital. The operations and profitability of the Bank are significantly affected by legislation and the 
policies of the various regulatory agencies. The OTS has promulgated capital requirements for financial institutions consisting 
of minimum tangible and core capital ratios of 1.5% and 3.0%, respectively, of the institution’s adjusted total assets and a 
minimum risk-based capital ratio of KOYO of‘the institution’s risk weighted assets. Although the minimum core capital ratio is 
3 .O%, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation lmprovement Act (“FDICIA”), as amended, stipulates that an institution with 
less than 4.0% core capital is deemed undercapitalized. At March 31, 2007 and 2006, thc Bank exceeded all of its regulatory 
capital requirements. 
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The following is a summary of the Bank’s actual capital amounts as of March 31,2007 and 2006 compared to the 
OTS requirements for minimum capital adequacy and for classification as a well-capitalized institution (in thousands): 

GAAP Tangible Leverage Risk-Based 
Capital Equity Capital Capital 

Stockholders’ Equity at March 3 I ,  2007 ( I )  $ 64,543 $ 64,543 $ 64,543 $ 64,543 

Add: 

Deduct: 
Gcneral valuation allowances 

Unrealized gains on securities available-for-sale, net 
Goodwill and qualifling intangible asscts, net 
Other 

Regulatory Capital 
Minimum Capital requircrncnt 
Regulatory Capital Excess 

( I )  Carver Federal only 

5,409 

372 3 72 372 
6,400 6,400 6,400 

(31) (31) (31) 
57,802 57,802 h3,2 I 1 
14,641 29,293 49,24 1 

$ 43,161 $ 28,509 $ 13,970 

Comprehensive Income. Comprehensive income represents net income and certain amounts reported directly in 
stockholders’ equity, such as the nct unrealized gain or loss on securities available for sale and loss on pension liability. The 
Holding Company has reported its comprehensive income for fiscal 2007,2006 and 2005 in the Consolidated Statements of 
Changes in Stockholdcrs’ Equity and Comprehensive Incomc. Carver Federal’s accumulated other comprehensive income or 
loss included net unrealized gains on securities at March 3 1 ,  2007 of $372,000 and net unrealized losses on securities at March 
3 1,2006 of $393,000. Included in thc amounts at March 31,2006 were unrealized gains of $183,000 relating to available-for- 
sale securities that were transferred during fiscal 2003 to held-to-maturity. This unrealized gain is an unrealized gain reported 
as a separate component of stockholders’ equity and is amortized over the remaining lives of the securities as an adjustment to 
yield. Also included in accumulated other comprehensive income at March 3 1,2007 was a gain on the Bank’s pension plan 
liabilities of $79,000, net of taxes. At March 31,2006, there was a loss on the Bank’s employee pension plan liability of 
$2X 1,000, net of taxes, included in accumulated other comprehensive loss. 

NOTE 11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT AND STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS 

Pension Phn.  Carver Federal has a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering all who were participants 
prior to curtailment of the plan. The benefits are based on each employec’s term of service through the date of curtailment. 
Carver Federal’s policy was to fund the plan with contributions which equal the maximum amount deductible for federal 
income tax purposes. The plan was curtailed during the fiscal year ended March 31,2001. 

amounts recognized in Carver Federal’s consolidated financial statements at March 3 1 (in thousands): 
The following table sets forth the plan’s changes in benetit obligation, changes in plan assets and funded status and 

2007 2006 
Change in projectcd benefit obligation during the year 
Projected benefit obligation at the beginning of year $ 2,892 $ 2,785 
Interest cost 159 1 ti3 
Actuarial loss 55 197 
Bcncfits paid (219) (253) 
Projected benefit obligation at end of year $ 2,887 $ 2,892 

Change in fair value of plan assets during the year 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 
Actual rcturn on plan assets 
Benefits paid 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 

Funded status 
Unrecognized loss 
Accrucd pension cost 
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$ 2,870 $ 2,950 
226 173 

(219) (2531 
$ 2,877 $ 2,870 

$ 10 $ (22) 
454 

$ 10 $ 432 



Nct periodic pension benefit includes the following components for the years ended March 3 1 (in thousands): 

Interest cost 
Expected return on plan assets 
Net periodic pension (benefit) 

2007 2006 2005 

$ 159 $ 163 $ 167 
(220) (227) (2362 

$ (61) s (64) $ (69) 

Significant actuarial assumptions used in determining plan benefits for the years ended March 3 1 are as follows: 

2007 2006 2005 
Annual salary increasc (1 ) 
Expected long-term return on  assets 8.00% 8.00% 8.00% 
Discount rate used in measurement of benefit obligations 5.88% 5.75% 6.10% 

(1) The annual salary increase rate is not applicablc as the plan is froLen and no ncw bcncfits accrue. 

Directors ‘Retirement Plan. Concurrent with the conversion to the stock form of ownership, Carver Federal adopted a 
retirement plan for non-employee directors. The plan was curtailed during the fiscal year ended March 3 1,2001. The benefits 
are payable based on the term of service as a director through the date of curtailment. The following table sets forth the plan’s 
changes in benefit obligation, changcs in plan assets and funded status and amounts recognized in Carver Federal’s 
consolidated financial statements at March 3 1 (in thousands): 

2007 2006 
Change in projected benefit obligation during the year: 
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 102 $ 136 
Interest cost 5 I 
Actuarial gain (50) (7) 
Benefits paid 0 (34) 

Projected benefit obligation at end of year $ 36 $ 102 

Change in fair value of plan assets during the year 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ - $  - 

Employer contributions 21 34 
Benefits paid 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 

(21) (34) 
$ - $  - 

Funded status $ (36) $ (102) 
Unrecognized (gain) 
Accrued pension cost 

- (22) 
$ (36) $ (124) 

Impact of Applvinp SFAS No. 158 on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Condition 

The following table indicates the impact of applying SFAS No. 158 on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of 
Condition at March 3 1, 2007 (in thousands): 

Before 
Application 

of SPAS No. 158 

Liability for pension benefit costs $ 550 
Deferred income taxes (173) 
Total Liabilities 688,044 
Accumulated other comprehensive 

income, net of tax 170 
Total stockholders’ equity 5 1,346 
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After 
Application SFAS No. 158 

Adjurtrncnt of SFAS No. 158 

$ (504) $ 46 
223 50 
28 1 688,325 

28 1 45 1 
281 5 1,627 



Net pcriodic pension costs for the years ended March 3 I are as f’ollows (in thousands): 

Interesl cost 
Net periodic pension cost 

2007 2006 2005 
$ 5 $  6 $  9 
$ 5 $  6 $  9 

The actuarial assumptions used in determining plan benefits include a discount rate of5.875%, 5.75%, and 6.1% for 
the years ended March 3 1,2007,2006 and 2005, respectively. 

Suvings Incentive Plun. Carver has a savings incentive plan, pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Code, for all eligible 
employees of the Bank. The Bank matches contributions to the 401(k) Plan equal to 100% ofpre-tax contributions made by 
each employee up to a maximum of4% of their pay, subject to 1RS limitations. All such matching contributions are fully 
vested and non-forfeitable at all times regardless ofthe years of service with the Bank. Under the profit-sharing feature, if the 
Bank achieves a minimum of 70% of its net income goal as mentioned previously, the Compensation Committee may 
authorize an annual non-elective contribution to the 40 I(k) Plan on behalf of each eligible employee up to 2% of the 
employee’s annual pay, subject to IRS limitations. This non-elective contribution may be made regardless of whether the 
employee makes a contribution to the 401(k) Plan. Non-elective Bank contributions, if awarded, vest 20% each year for the 
first five years ofcmployment and are fully vested thereafter. To be eligible for the matching contribution, the employee must 
be 21 years of age and have completed at least one year of service. To be eligible for the non-elective Carver contribution, thc 
employee must also be employed as of the last day of the plan year. Total savings incentive plan expenscs for the years ended 
March 31,2007,2006 and 2005 were $196,000, $198,000 and $1 74,000, respectively. 

BOLL The Bank owns one BOLl plan which was formed to offset future employee benefit costs and provide 
additional benefits due to its tax exempt nature. Only officer level employees are covered under this program. 

An initial investment of$8.0 million was made to the BOLT program on September 21,2004. At March 31,2007 the 
Consolidated Statement of Conditions reflects a net cash surrender value of $8.8 million. The related income is reflected in the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations as a component of other non-interest income. 

Munugement Recognition Plan C‘MRP”). The MRP provided for grants of restricted stock to certain employees at 
September 12, 1995 adoption ofthe MRP. On March 28,2005 the plan was amended for all future awards. The MRP 
provides for additional discretionary grants of restricted stock to those employees selected by the committee established to 
administer the MRP. Awards granted prior to March 28,2005, generally vest in three to five equal annual installments 
commencing on the first anniversary date of the award, provided the recipient is still an employee of the Holding Company or 
the Bank on such date. Under thc amended plan awards granted after March 28,2005 vest based on a the-year performance- 
accelerated vesting schedule. Ten percent of the awarded shares vest in each of the first four years and the remainder in the 
fifth year but the Compensation Committee may accelerate vesting at any time. Awards will become 100% vested upon 
termination of service due to death or disability. Whcn shares become vested and are distributed, the recipients will receive an 
amount equal to any accrued dividends with respect thereto. There are no shares available to grant under the MRP. Pursuant 
to the MRP, the Bank recognized $1 18,000, $134,000 and $158,000 as expense for the years ended March 31,2007,2006 and 
2005, respectively. 

Emnployee Stock Ownership Plun. Effective upon conversion, an ESOP was established for all eligible employees. The 
ESOP used $1,821,000 in proceeds from a term loan obtaincd from a third-party institution to purchase 182,132 shares of Bank 
common stock in the initial public offering. Each year until the loan paid off in June of2004, the Bank made discretionary 
contributions to the ESOP, which were equal to principal and interest payments required on the term loan less any dividends 
received by the ESOP on unallocated shares. 

Shares purchased with the loan proceeds were initially pledged as collateral for the term loan. Currently, shares are 
purchased in the open market in accordance with Carver’s common stock repurchase program and are held in a suspense 
account for future allocation among the participants on the basis of compensation, as described by the Plan, in the year of 
allocation. In May 2006, Carver amended the ESOP so that no new participants are eligible to enter after December 31,2006 
and the Compensation Committee voted to cease discretionary contributions after the 2006 allocation. ESOP compensation 
expense was $125,000, $200,000 and $200,000 for the years ended March 3 1,2007,2006 and 2005, respectively. 

The ESOP shares at March 3 1 are as follows (in thousands): 

. .  . . .  

Allocated shares 
Unallocated shares 
Total ESOP shares 
Fair value of unallocated shares 

73 

73 72 
1 

73 73 
$ 10 $ 10 



Stock Option Plans. During 1995, the Holding Company adopted the I995 Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) to advance 
the interests of the Bank through providing stock options to select key employees and directors ol’thc Bank and its affiliates. 
The number of shares reserved for issuance under the plan was 338,862. The 1995 plan expired by its term and no new options 
may be granted under it, howevcr, stock options granted under the 1995 Plan continue in accordance with their tcnns. At 
March 31,2007, there were 240,087 options outstanding and 192,110 were excrcisable. Options are grantcd at the fair market 
value of Carver Federal common stock at thc time of the grant for a period not to exceed ten years. Under the 1995 Plan option 
grants generally vest on an annual basis ratably over either three or five years, commencing alter one year of service and, in 
some instanccs, portions of option grants vest at the time of the grant. On March 28, 2005, the plan was amended and vesting 
of future awards is based on a five-year performance-accelerated vcsting schedule. Ten percent of the awarded options vest in 
each ol‘ the first four years and the remainder in the tjfth year, but the Committee may accelerate vesting at any time. All 
options arc exercisable immediately upon a participant’s disability, death or a change in control, as defined in the Plan. 

options, stock appreciation rights and restricted stock to employees and directors who are sclectcd to receive awards by the 
Committee. The 2006 Incentive Plan authorizes Carver to grant awards with respect to 300,000 shares, but no more than 
150,000 shares of restricted stock may be granted. Options are granted at a price not less than fair market value of Carver 
Federal common stock at the time of the grant fbr a period not to exceed 10 years. Shares generally vest in 20% increments 
over 5 years, however, the Committee may specify a different vesting schedule. At March 31,2007, there were 16,469 options 
outstanding under the 2006 lncentive Plan and none were exercisable. 
participant’s disability, death or a change in control, as defined in the Plan, il‘thc person is employed on that date. 

In September 2006, Carver shareholders approved the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan which provides for the grant of stock 

All options are exercisable immediately upon a 

Information regarding stock options as of and for the years cnded March 31 is as fbllows: 

Weighted Weighted Weighted 
2007 2006 2005 

Average 
Exercise 

Average 
Exercise 

Average 
Exercise 

Options Price Options Price Options Price 
Outstanding, beginning of year 238,061 $ 12.90 225,292 $ 12.37 229,636 $ 11.25 
Granted 
Exercised 
Forfeited 
Outstanding, end of year 

21,019 16.50 35,277 16.98 39,347 19.65 
(1 1,776) 9.57 (9,903) 9.57 (3  5,954) 12.75 

( 7 2  I 7) 17.44 (1 2,605) 17.44 (7,737) 14.38 
240,087 $ 13.24 238,061 $ 12.90 225,292 $ 12.37 

Exercisable, at year end 192,110 
-____ 

144,836- ~ 151,846 

Information regarding stock options as of and for the year ended March 3 1,2007 is as follows : 

Range of 
bercise  Prices 

$ 8.00 $ 8.99 
9.00 9.99 

10.00 10.99 
12.00 12.99 
13.00 13.99 
16.00 16.99 
17.00 17.99 
19.00 19.99 
20.00 20.99 
21.00 21.99 

Total 

Options Outstanding 
Weighted Weighted 
Awrage Average 

Remaining Exercise 

60,000 3 years $ 8.17 

3,000 3years 10.38 

1,000 1 yoar 13.81 
46,267 7 years 16.48 
29,592 7 years 17.19 
27,243 6years 19.65 

381 7years 21.76 

Shares Life Price 

32,000 4years 9.93 

39,875 5 years 12.10 

729 Xyears 20.00 

240.087 

Options Exercisable 
Weighted 
Awrage 
Exercise 

60,000 $ 8.17 
32,000 9.93 
3,000 10.38 

39,475 12.10 
1,000 13.8 I 

29,798 16.48 
I 1,092 17.19 
14,635 19.65 

729 20.00 
381 21.76 

Shares Price 

192,110 
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The fair value of the option grants was estimatcd on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model applying the following weighted average assumptions for the years ended March 3 1 : 

2007 2006 2005 
Risk-free intcrest rate 4.5% 3.5% 2.5% 
Volatility 19.0% 35.0% 45.0% 
Annual dividends $ 0.32 $ 0.28 $ 0.20 
Expectcd life of option grants 7 Yrs 7 yrs 7 Yrs 

Under the provisions of SFAS No. 123R, the Company recorded compensation expense of$234,000 during the year 
ended March 31, 2007. As of March 3 1,2007, the total remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options 
granted under thc Company’s plan was $140,000, which is expected to be rccognized over a wcighted-average vesting period 
of 1.7 years. 

Pri-filrmance Compensation Plan. In 2006, Carver adopted the Performance Compensation Plan of Carver Bancorp, 
Inc. This plan provides for cash payments to officers or employees designated by the Compensation Committee, which also 
determines the amount awarded to such participants. Vesting is generally 20% a year over 5 years and awards are fully vested 
on a change in control (as defined), or termination of employment by death or disability, but the Committee may accelerate 
vesting at any time. Payments are made as soon as practicable after the end of the fiscal year in which amounts vest. In fiscal 
year 2007, the Company granted its first awards under the new Plan. The amount granted was $370,000. The amount 
recognized in fiscal year 2007 was $62,000. The remaining vesting period for this initial grant is 4.2 years. 

NOTE 12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Credit Rrlated Commitments. The Bank is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal 
course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. 

These financial instruments primarily include commitments to extend credit and to sell loans. Those instruments 
involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and intercst rate risk in excess of the amount recognized in the statements of 
financial condition. The contract amounts of those instruments reflect the extent of involvement the Hank has in particular 
classcs of financial instruments. 

The Bank’s exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument for 
commitments to extend credit is represented by the contractual notional amount of those instruments. The Bank uses the same 
credit policies making commitments as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments. 

The Bank had outstanding commitments at March 3 1 as follows (in thousands): 

2007 2006 

Commitmcnts to originate mortgage loans $ 107,115 $ 64,163 

Lines of credit 300 
commitments to originate commercial and consumer loans 214 439 

Letters of credit 1,795 
Total $ 107,629 $ 66,397 

At March 3 1,2007, ofthe $107.3 million in outstanding commitments to originate loans, $75.4 million represented 
construction loans at an average rate of 8.3’7’0, $24.9 million represented commitments to originate non-residential mortgage 
loans at a weighted average rate of 8.2% and $7.0 million represented one- to four-family residential loans at a weighted 
average rate of‘7.0%. 

The balance ol’commitments on commercial and consumer loans at March 3 1,2007 is primarily undisbursed funds 
from approved unsecured commercial lines of credit. All such lines carry adjustable rates mainly tied to prime. 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition 
cstablished in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require 
payment o f a  fee. Since some of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment 
amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements. The Bank evaluates each customer’s creditworthiness on a 
case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained ifdeemcd necessary by the Hank upon extcnsion of credit is based on 
management’s credit evaluation of the counter-party. 
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Lease Commitments. Rentals, including real estate taxes, under long term operating leases for certain branches 
aggregated approximately $903,000, $717,000, and $479,000 for the years ended March 31,2007,2006 and 2005, 
respectively. As of March 3 1,2007, minimum rental commitments under all noncancellable leases with initial or remaining 
terms of more than one year and expiring through 2018 follow (in thousands): 

Year Ending 
March 31, 

2008 
2009 
2010 
201 1 
2012 

Thereafter 

Minimum 
Rental 

$ 915 
946 
978 
972 
744 

3,584 
$ 8,139 

The Bank also has, in the normal course of business, commitments for services and supplies. 

LegulProcecu’ings. From time to time, Carver Federal is a party to various legal proceedings incidental to its 
business. Certain claims, suits, complaints and investigations involving Carver Federal, arising in the ordinary course of 
business, have been filed or are pending. The Company is of the opinion, after discussion with legal counsel representing 
Carver Federal in these proceedings, that the aggregate liability or loss, if any, arising from the ultimate disposition of these 
matters would not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations. At 
March 3 1,2007, there were no material legal proceedings to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party or to which any 
of their property was subject. 

NOTE 13. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

SFAS 107 “Dtrclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments ” requires the Bank to disclose, in addition to the 
carrying value, the fair value of certain financial instruments, both assets and liabilities recorded on and off balancc shect, for 
which it is practicable to cstimatc fair value. SFAS 107 defines financial instrument as cash, evidence ol’ownership o f  an 
cntity, or a contract that conveys or imposes on an entity the contractual right or obligation to either receive or deliver cash or 
another financial instrument. The fair value of a financial instrument is defined as the amount at which the instrument could be 
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than a forced or liquidation sale and is best evidenced by a 
quoted market price if one exists. In cases where quoted market prices are not available, estimated fair values have been 
determined by the Bank using the best available data and estimation mcthodology suitable for each category of financial 
instrument. For those loans and deposits with floating interest rates, it is presumed that estimated fair values generally 
approximate their recorded book balances. The estimation methodologies used and the estimated fair values and carrying 
values of the Bank’s financial instruments are set forth below: 

Cash and cash equivalents and accrued interest receivable 

they mature in three months or less. 

Securities 

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents and accrued interest receivable approximate fair value because 

b 

The fair values for securities available-for-sale, mortgage-backed securities held-to-maturity and investment securities 
held-to-maturity are based on quotcd market or dealer prices, if available. If quoted market or dealer prices are not available, 
fair value is estimated using quoted market or dealer prices for similar securities. 

Loans receivable and loan held-fur-sale 

at which similar loans would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and for the same remaining maturities of such 
loans. 

Mortgage Servicing rights 

servicing cash flows using current market assumptions for prepayments, servicing costs and other factors. 

Deposits 

The fair value of loans receivable and held-for-sale is estimated by discounting future cash flows, using current rates 

The lair value of mortgage servicing rights is determined by discounting the present value of estimated future 

The fair value of demand, savings and club accounts is equal to the amount payable on demand at the reporting date. 
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The fair value of certificates of deposit i s  estimated using rates currently offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities 
The fair value estimates do not include the benetit that results from the low-cost hnding provided by deposit liabilities 
compared to the cost of  borrowing funds in the market. 

Borrowings 

using the rates currently available to the Bank for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities. 

Commitments 

The fair values of advances from the Federal Homc Loan Bank of New York and other borrowed money are estimated 

The fair market value of unearned fees associated with financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk at March 3 1, 
2007 approximates the fees received. The fair value is not considered material. 

thousands): 
The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Bank’s financial instruments at March 31 are as follows (in 

2007 2006 
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated 
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value 

Financial Assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Investment securities avai lable-for-sale 
Mortgage backed securities available-for-sale 
Mortgage backed securities held-to-maturity 
Loans rcceivable 
Loans held-for-sale 
Accrued interest receivable 
Mortgage servicing rights 

Deposits 
Advances from FHLB ofNew York 
Other borrowed money 

Financial Liabilities: 

$ 17,350 
26,804 
21,176 
19,137 

580,551 
23,226 

4,335 
388 

$ 17,350 
26,804 
21,176 
19,005 

580,854 
23,226 

4,335 
467 

$ 22,904 $ 22,904 
12,078 12,078 
69,804 69,804 
26,404 25,880 

493,432 488,258 

2,970 2,970 
339 325 

$ 615,122 $ 614,199 $ 504,638 $ 506,886 

13,318 13,318 13,260 13,260 
47,775 47,307 80,935 79,848 

Limitations 

The h i r  value estimates are made at a discrete point in time based on relevant market information about the financial 
instruments. These estimates do not reflect any premium or discount that could result from offering for sale at one time the 
entirc holdings of a particular financial instrument. Because no quoted market value exists for a significant portion of the 
Bank’s financial instruments, fair value estimates are based on judgments regarding future expected loss experience, current 
economic conditions, risk characteristics of various financial instruments, and other factors. These estimates are subjective in 
nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment and, thereforc, cannot be determincd with precision. 
Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates. 

value anticipated future business and the value of asscts and liabilities that are not considered financial instruments. Other 
significant assets and liabilities that are not considered financial assets and liabilities include premises and equipment. In 
addition, the tax ramifications related to the realization of unrealizcd gains and losses can have a significant effect on fair value 
estimates and have not been considered in any of thc estimates. 

Finally, reasonable comparability between financial institutions may not be likely due to the wide range o f  permitted 
valuation techniques and numerous estimates which must be made given the absence of active secondary markets for many of 
the financial instruments. This lack of uniform valuation methodologies introduces a greater degree of subjectivity to these 
estimated fair values. 

In addition, the fair value estimates are based on existing off balance sheet financial instruments without attempting to 
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NOTE 14. ACQUISITION OF COMMUNITY CAPITAL BANK 
On September 29,2006, the Bank completed its acquisition of Community Capital Bank (“CCB”), a Brooklyn-based 

New York State chartered commercial bank with approximately $165.4 million in assets and two branches in a cash transaction 
totaling approximately $1 1.1 million. Under the terms of the merger agreement, CCB’s shareholders were paid $40.00 per 
outstanding share (including options which immediately vested with the consummation on the merger) and the Bank incurred 
an additional $879,000 in transaction costs rclated to this acquisition. The combined entity operates under Carver Federal’s 
thrift charter and Carver Federal will continue to be supervised by the Officc of Thrift Supervision (“OTS”). 

The transaction, which was accounted for under the purchase accounting method, included the recognition of 
approximately $760,000 of core deposit intangibles and $ 5 .  I million representing the excess of the purchase price over the fair 
valuc of identifiable net assets (“goodwill”). At the time of acquisition (Scptember 29,2006), the fair value of‘CCB’s assets 
and liabilities were as follows (in thousands): 

Fair Value 

Assets 

Cash and due from banks 
Securities 
Total loans receivable, net 
Other assets 
Total assets 

Liabilities 

Deposits 
Borrowings 
Other liabilities 
Total liabilities 

$ 9,496 
50,707 
98,805 

6.412 
165,420 

144,142 
12,500 
2,683 

159,325 

Tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed 6,095 

Excess of the purchase price over the fair value 
of identifiable net assets 5,066 
Core deposit intangibles 760 

Total purchase price $ 11,921 
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Thc following information presents the unauditcd pro forma rcsults of operations for the years ended March 3 1,2007 and 
2006, as though the acquisition had occurred on April 1,2005. The pro forma data was derived by combining the historical 
consolidated financial information of  Carver Federal and CCB using the purchase method of accounting for business 
combinations (the income tax effects on the pre-tax earnings of CCB have been provided using a combined statutory tax 
rate of 38.8%). The pro fonna results do not necessarily indicate results that would have been obtained had the acquisition 
actually occurred on April 1,2005 or the results that may be achieved in the future (in thousands, except per share data): 

Combined 
Carver 

Carver CCB & CCB 
Twelve Six Twelve 
Months Months Months 
Ended Ended Ended Pro Forma 

March 31, June 30, March 31, Adjust- Pro Forma 
2007 2006 2007 ments Combined 

Total interest income $ 41,740 $ 4,934 $ 46,674 $ (67) (') $ 46,607 
Total interest expense 19,234 2,590 21,824 2 1,824 

Nct interest incomc before 
provision for loan losses 22,506 2,344 24,850 (67) 24,783 

Provision for loan losses 276 210 486 486 
Net interest income after 

provision for loan losses 22,230 2,134 24,364 (67) 24,297 

Total non-interest income 2,869 7x0 3,649 3,649 
Total non-interest expense 23,339 2,688 26,027 76 (2) 26,103 
Income before income taxes 1,760 226 1,986 ( 143) 1,843 
Income tax (benefit) expense (823) 87 (736) (55) (791) 
Net income $ 2,583 $ 139 $ 2,722 $ (88) $ 2,634 

Earnings per common share: 
Basic $ 1.03 
Diluted $ 1.00 

$ 1.08 
$ 1.05 

$ 1.05 
$ 1.02 

Represents the reduction of intcrest income related to the net cash paid for CCB's acquisition resulting from 
the transaction as if it had been completed at the beginning of the pro forma condensed financial income 
statement period. 

(2) 

completed at the beginning of the pro forma condcnsed financial income statement period. 
Represents the acquired intangible assets amortization resulting from the transaction as if it had been 

For the period July 1,2006 through September 30,2006, based on unaudited financial results, CCB's summary 
financial results were as follows (in thousands): Net Interest Income of $1,097, Loan Loss Provision of $15, Non-Interest 
Income of $854, Non-Interest Expense of $1,994, Income Tax Benefit of $21, and Net Loss of $37. 
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Total interest income 
Total interest expense 

Net interest income before 
provision for loan losses 

Provision for loan losses 
Net interest income after 

provision for loan losses 

Totdl non-interest income 
Total non-interest expense 
Income before income taxes 
Income tax (benefit) expense 
Net income 

Earnings per common share: 
Basic 
Diluted 

Combined 
Carver 

Carver CCB & CCB 
Twelve Twelve Twelve 
Months Months Months 
Ended Ended Ended 

March 31, December 31, March 31, 
2006 2005 2006 

$ 32,385 $ 9,057 $ 41,442 
13,493 3,662 17,155 

18,892 5,395 24,287 
1,087 1,087 

18,892 4,308 23,200 

5,341 1,726 7,067 
19,134 5,779 24,913 
5,099 255 5,354 
1,329 51 1,380 

$ 3,770 $ 204 $ 3,974 

$ 1.50 
% 1.45 

$ 1.58 
tF, 1.54 

Pro Forma 

ments 
Adjust- Pro Forma 

Combined 

$ (67) (') $ 41,375 
17,155 

(67) 24,220 
1,087 

(67) 23,133 

7,067 
1,4 10 (a, (3) 26,323 

(1,477) 3,877 
(385) 995 

$ (1,092) $ 2,882 

$ 1.23 
$ 1.18 

Represents the reduction of interest income related to the net cash paid for CCR's acquisition resulting from the transaction 
as if it had been completed at thc beginning of the pro forma condensed financial income statement period. 

(2) Kepresents the acquired intangible assets amortization totaling $ 1  52,000 resulting from the transaction as if it had been 
completed at the beginning ofthe pro forma condensed financial income statement period. 

(3) Represents the accrual of onetime acquisition related charges totaling $1.3 million primarily related to severance, early 
vendor contract termination fees and system integration and conversion fees. 
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NOTE 15. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 

Thc following is a summary of unaudited quarterly financial data for fiscal years ended March 3 1 ,  2007 and 2006 (in 
thousands, except per share data): 

June 30 September 30 December 30 March 31 
Fiscal 2007 
Interest income 
Interest expense 

Net interest income 
Provision for loan losses 
Non-interest income 
Non-interest expense 
Income tax expense 

Earnings per common share 
Net income 

Basic 
Diluted 

Fiscal 2006 
Interest incoine 
Interest expense 

Nct interest income 
Provision for loan losses 
Non-intcrest income 
Non-interest expense 
lncome tax cxpense 

Earnings per common share 
Net income 

Basic 
Diluted 

$ 9,120 $ 9,380 $ 11,770 $ 1 1,470 
(4,085) (4,169) (5,643) (5,3 3 7) 
5,035 5,211 6,127 6,133 

(120) ( 1  56) 
945 (337) 966 1,295 

(4,733) (6,242) (5,884) (6,479) 
(4451 464 71 1 493 .. . - - -  \ ' " I  

$ 802 $ (904) $ 1,400 $ 1,286 

$0.32 ($0.36) $0.56 $0.5 1 
$0.3 1 ($0.35) $0.54 $0.50 

$ 7,752 $ 7,748 $ 8,210 $ 8,676 
(3,052) (3,213) (3,438) (3,791) 
4,700 4,535 4,772 4,885 

1,399 I ,03 1 1,123 1,788 
(4,795) (4,636) (4,668) (5,037) 

(464) (329) 60 (595) 
$ 840 $ 601 $ 1,287 $ 1,041 

$0.34 $0.24 $0.5 1 $0.42 
$0.32 $0.23 $0.50 $0.40 

NOTE 16. CARVER BANCORP, TNC. - PARENT COMPANY ONLY 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION (in thousands): 

As of March 31. 

Assets 
Cash on deposit with subsidiaries 
Investment in subsidiaries 
Other assets 

Total Assets 

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity 
Borrowings 
Accounts payable to subsidiaries 
Other liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Stockholders' equity 
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity 

2007 

$ 399 
64,996 

16 
$ 65.411 

$ 13,318 
291 
175 

$ 13,784 

5 1,627 
$ 65,411 

2006 

$ 59 
62,219 

3 
$ 62,281 

$ 13,260 
66 

258 
$ 13.584 

48,697 
$ 62,281 



CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (in thousands): 

Income 
Equity in net income from subsidiaries 

Years Ended March 31, 
2007 2006 2005 

$ 3,551 $ 6,758 $ 7,119 
Interest income from deposit with subsidiaries 5 7 
Other income 
Total income 

Expenses 
Interest Expense on Borrowings 
Salaries and employee benefits 
Shareholder expense 
Other 
Total expense 

Income before income taxes 
Income tax (benefit) expense 
Net Income 

34 22 23 
3,585 6,785 7,149 

1,196 985 72 I 
1 80 287 225 
43 9 407 488 

10 7 1,548 
1,825 1,686 2,982 

1,760 5,099 4,167 
(823) 1,329 1,518 

$ 2,583 $ 3,770 $ 2,649 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (in thousands): 

Years Ended March 31, 
2007 2006 2005 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities 
Net income 
Adjustments to reconcile net incornc to net cash 

from operating activities: 
Equity in net income of Subsidiaries 
Income taxes from the Bank 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable to subsidiaries 
(Decrease) increase in other liabilities 
Other, net 

Net cash from operating activities 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities 
Dividends Received from Rank 
Procecds from sale of investment securities 
Purchasc of investment securities 
Net cash from investing activities 

Cash Flows From Financing Activities 
Purchase of treasury stock, net 
Dividends paid 
Net cash-from financing activities 
Net increase (decrease) in cash 

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning 
Cash and cash equivalents - ending 

$ 2,583 $ 3,770 $ 2,649 

( 3 3 5  1) (6,758) (7,119) 

225 (443) 645 
(83) 40 (14) 

(823) 1,329 1,518 

(13) 299 2,534 
(1,662) (1,763) 213 

3,201 850 4,866 
1,575 

3,201 2,425 1,792 
(3,074) 
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NOTE 17. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments 

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments”. This 
statement amends FASB Statements No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”, and NO. 140, 
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of’Financia1 Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities”. This statement resolves 
issues addressed in “Statement 133 Implementation Issue No. D I ,  Application of Statement 133 to Beneficial Interest in 
Securitized Financial Assets”. This Statement is effective for all financial instruments acquired or issued after the beginning 
of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. Carver is evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 155 but does 
not expect that the guidancc will have a material effect on its financial position or results of operations. 

Accounting j b r  Servicing of Financial Assets 

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, “Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets”, an amendment of’ 
FASH Statement No. 140. This statement addresses the recognition and measurement of separately recognized servicing 
rights. The statement clarifies when a servicing right should be separately recognized, requires servicing rights to be initially 
measured at fair value, and allows an entity to choose to subsequently measure its servicing rights at fair value. The 
Statement is effective as of the beginning of‘an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after September 15,2006. Carver is 
reviewing for any potential impact the guidance may have on its financial position or results of operations. 

Fair Value Measurements 

In September 2006, the FASR issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 157”). The 
Statement establishes a single definition of fair value, sets up a framework for measuring it, and requires additional 
disclosures about the use of fair value to measure assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 157 also emphasizes that fair value is a 
market-based measurement by establishing a three level “fair value hierarchy” that ranks the quality and reliability of inputs 
used in valuation models, i.e., the lower the level, the more reliable the input. The hierarchy provides thc basis for the 
Statement’s new disclosure requirements which are dependent upon the frequency of an item’s measurement (recurring 
versus nonrecurring). SFAS No. 157 is effective for fair-value measures already required or permitted by other standards for 
financial statements issucd for fiscal years beginning after November 15,2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. 
Its provisions will generally be applied prospectively. The adoption ol’SFAS No. 157 is not expected to have a material 
impact on our consolidated financial statements. 

The Fair Value Option,fbr Financiul Assets and Liabilities 

Tn February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Finunciul Assets and Financial 
Liabilitie,y- including un umendment of FASB Statements No. 115 (“SFAS No. 159”). SFAS No. 159 permits entities to 
choose to measure financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently required to be measured at 
fair value. This Statement is cff’ective as of the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year beginning after November 15, 
2007. Carver is currently assessing thc impact of this pronouncement. 

Accounting for Uncertain@ in Income Taxes 

In Junc 2006, the FASR issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of 
SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (“FIN 48”). FTN 48 clarifies the accounting for unccrtainty in income taxes in 
financial statements and prcscribes a recognition threshold and rncasurement attribute for financial statement recognition and 
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken. It also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, 
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15,2006. Carver is evaluating the requirements of FIN 48 but does not believe that it will have a material 
effect on its financial condition or results of operations. 

Accozmting, for Piwchuses of Ltje Jnsurancr 

In September 2006, the Emcrging Issues Task Force (“EITFI’) of the FASB issued ElTF No. 06-5, Accounting for 
Purchuses of Lge Insurance - Determining the Amounl Thut Could Be Realized in Accordunce with FASB Technical Bulletin 
No. 85-4 (“FTB No. 85-4”), Accounting jhr Purchuses ofL$e Insurance (“ETTF No. 06-5”). ElTF No. 06-5 explains how to 
determine “the amount that could be realized” from a life insurance contract, which is the measurement amount for the asset 
in accordance with FTB No. 85-4. ETTF No. 06-5 would require all amounts that would ultimately be reali7ed by a 
policyholder upon the assumed surrendcr ol‘a linal policy to be included in the amount that could be realized under the 
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insurance contract. Thus, contractual provisions that limit the amount that could be realized in specified circumstances 
would be considered if it is probable that those circumstances would occur. The consensus on ElTF No. 06-5 is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after December 15,2006 and would be recognized through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained 
earnings as of the beginning ol‘the year of adoption. The Company is evaluating the impact ElTF No. 06-5 might have on 
the Company’s financial position or its results of operations. 

Prior Year Mixstdements 

In September 2006, the SEC Staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SA,”) No. 108, Considering the Effects of 
Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements, which addresses how the 
efiects of prior year uncorrected misstatements should be considered when quantifying misstatements in current year 
financial statements. SAB No, I08 will require registrants to quantify misstatements using both the balance sheet and 
income-statement approaches and to cvaluate whether either approach results in quantifying an error that is material in light 
of relcvant quantitative and qualitative Iktors. When the effect of initial adoption is determined to be material, SAB No. 108 
allows registrants to record that et’fect as a cumulative effect adjustment to beginning retained earnings. The requirements are 
effective for the Company beginning April I ,  2007. Carver has evaluated the requirements of SAB No. I08 and determined 
that it will not have a material effect on its financial condition or results of operations. 

i 
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE. 

None. 

ITEM 9A. DISCOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES. 

Disclosure Controh and Procedures 

The Company maintains controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the 
reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within 
the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). As of March 31, 
2007, the Company's management, including the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has 
evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-l5(e) and 15d-l5(e) 
under the Exchange Act), as oi'the end of the period covered by this annual report. During the period covered by this annual 
report, the Company identified a material weakness in its internal control over financial reporting, which is a signilicant 
portion of its disclosure controls and procedures, which affected the Company's cash flow statement as of June 30,2006. As a 
result 01' carrying out the remediation efforts described below, however, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered 
by this annual report. 

This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company's independent registered public accounting 
firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management's report was not subject to attestation by the Company's 
registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of the SEC that permit the Company to provide only 
management's report in this annual report. 

Maleriul Weakness in Internd control Over Financial Reporting 

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in more than 
a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or 
detectcd. A significant deficiency is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that adversely affects the 
Company's ability to initiate, authorize, record, process, or report external financial information reliably in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles such that there is more than a remote likelihood that a misstatement of the 
Company's annual or interim financial statements that is more than inconsequential will not be prevented or detected. 

During the period covercd by this annual report, the Company identified a material weakness, in internal control 
over financial reporting, that existed as ol' June 30, 2006. Specifically, the Company's controls intended to ensure the proper 
classification of. cash flows related to certain mortgage loans that the Company had originated with the intent to sell and 
rclated to certain sales of- loans that it originally intended fbr its portfolio were not effective as of June 30, 2006. As a result 
of this material weakness, the Company restated its Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the quarter ended June 30, 
2006 and thc Company amended its 2006 Form 10-K to restate its Consolidated Statements o f  Cash Flows for Fiscal Years 
2006,2005 and 2004. 

The restatements solely affected the classification of these activities and subtotals 01' cash flows from operating and 
investing activities presented in the affected Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and had no impact on the nct increase in 
total cash and cash equivalents as set forth in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for any of the previously reported 
periods. The restatements did not affect the Company's Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition, Consolidated 
Statement of Operations and Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders' Equity for the affected periods. 
Accordingly, the Company's historical revenues, net income, earnings per share, total assets and regulatory capital remained 
unchanged. 

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Since thc Company identified the material weakness of internal control over financial reporting described above, it 
engaged in the following remediation efforts. The Company completed an analysis of the components of the Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows which resulted in the above described restatcments, and, as a result, it redesigned and strengthened 
the control proccsses surrounding the preparation of the Consolidated Statements of Cash Plows. 
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION. 

None. 

PART TIT 

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFlCERS OF THE REClSTRANT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE. 

Information concerning Executive Officers of the Company which responds to this Item is incorporated by rcfkrence 
from the section entitled “Executive Officers and Key Managers of Carver and Carver Federal” in the Holding Company’s 
definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection with the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”). 
The information that responds to this Item with respect to Directors is incorporated by reference from the section entitled 
“Election of Directors” in the Proxy Statement. Information with respect to compliance by the Company’s Directors and 
Executive Officers with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act is incorporated by reference from the subsection entitled “Section 
16 (a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliancc” in the Proxy Statement. 

Audit Committee Financial Expert 

Information regarding the audit committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, including information regarding 
audit committee financial experts serving on the audit committee, is presented under the heading ‘‘Corporate Governance” in 
the Company’s Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. 

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION. 

The information required in response to this Item is incorporated by reference from the section entitled 
“Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers” in the Proxy Statement. 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS. 

The information required in response to this Item is incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Security 
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in the Proxy Statement. 

lTEM 13. CERTAIN RELATlONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE. 

The information requircd in response to this Item is incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Transactions 
with Certain Related Persons” in the Proxy Statement. 

ITEM 14. PRJNCTPAL ACCOUNTING FEES ALYD SERVICES. 

The information required in response to this Item is incorporated by rcference from the section entitled “Auditor Fee 
Information” in the Proxy Statement, 
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PART 1V 

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES. 

I. List of Documents Filed as Part of  this Annual Report on Form 10-K 

A. The following consolidated financial statements are included in Item 8 o f  this annual report: 

1 .  

2. 

3. 

4. 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

Consolidated Statement o f  Financial Condition as of March 31,2007 and 2006 

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended as of March 3 1,2007,2006 and 2005 

Consolidated statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income for the years 
ended March 3 1,2007,2006 and 2005 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended March 3 1,2007,2006 and 2005 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

5. 

6. 

Financial Statement Schedules. All financial statement schedules have been omitted, as thc required information 
is either inapplicable or included under Item 8, “Financial Statement and Supplementary Data”. 

E. 

11. Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K: 

A. See lndex o f  Exhibits on page E-1 . 

87 



SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant 
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

CARVER BANCORP, TNC. 

July 17,2007 By Is/ Deborah C. Wright 
Deborah C. Wright 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Sccurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below on July 
17,2007 by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated. 

Is1 Deborah C. Wright 
Deborah C. Wright 

I s /  Roy Swan 
Roy Swan 

Is/ Carol Baldwin Moody 
Carol Baldwin Moody 

I s /  Dr. Samuel J. Daniel 
Samuel J. Daniel 

Is/ David L. Hinds 
David L. Hinds 

1st Robert Holland, Jr. 
Robert Holland, Jr. 

Is/ Pazel Jackson 
Pazel G. Jackson, Jr. 

I s /  Edward E. Rumiero 
Edward E. Ruggiero 

/s/ Robert R. Tarter 
Robert R. Tarter 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer) 

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Lead Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 
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EXHIBIT INDEX 

Exhibit Number 

2.2 

3.1 

3.2 

4.1 

4.2 

4.3 

4.4 

4.5 

Description 

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of April 5,2006 by and between Carver Bancorp, Tnc., 
Carver Federal Savings Bank and Community Capital Bank (2.2) 

Certificate of Incorporation of Carver Bancnrp, Tnc. (1) 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Carver Bancorp, Inc. ( 1  2) 

Stock Certificate of Carver Bancorp, Inc. ( I )  

Federal Stock Charter of Carver Federal Savings Bank (1) 

Bylaws of Carver Federal Savings Bank (1) 

Amendments to Bylaws of Carver Federal Savings Bank (2) 

Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (4) 

.6 

0.1 

0.2 

0.3 

0.4 

Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (4) 

Carver Bancorp, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan, effective as of September 12, 1995 (1) 

Carver Federal Savings Bank Retirement Income Plan, as amended and restated effective as of 
January 1, 1997 and as further amended through January 1,2001 (9) 

Carver Federal Savings Bank 401(k) Savings Plan in RST Retirement Trust, as amended and restated 
effective as of January 1,  I997 and including provisions effective through January 1,2002 (9) 

Carver Bancorp, Inc. Employee Stock Ownership Plan, effective as of January 1, 1994, incorporating 
Amendment No. 1, incorporating Second Amendment, incorporating Amendment No. 2, 
incorporating Amendment No. 2A, incorporating Amendment No. 3 and incorporating Amendment 
No. 4 (9) 

10.5 Carver Federal Savings Bank Deferred Compensation Plan, effective as of August 10, 1993 (1) 

0.6 

0.7 

0.8 

0.9 

Carver Federal Savings Bank Retirement Plan for Nonemployee Directors, effective as of October 
24, 1994 (1) 

Carver Bancorp, Inc. Management Recognition Plan, effective as of September 12, 1995 (1) 

Carver Bancorp, lnc. Incentive Compensation Plan, effective as of September 12, 1995 (1) 

Employment Agreement by and between Carver Federal Savings Bank and Deborah C. Wright, 
entered into as of June 1, I999 (3) 

10.10 Employment Agreement by and between Carver Bancorp, Inc. and Deborah C. Wright, entered into 
as of June 1, I999 ( 3 )  
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Exhi bit Number Description 

10.1 I 

10.12 

10.13 

10.14 

10.15 

10.16 

10.17 

10.18 

10.19 

10.20 

10.21 

10.22 

10.23 

10.24 

10.25 

10.26 

10.27 

10.28 

10.29 

Securities Purchase Agreement by and among Carver Bancorp, Inc., Morgan Stanley & CO. 
Incorporated and Provender Opportunities Fund L.P. ( 5 )  

Registration Rights Agreement by and among Carver Bancorp, Inc., Morgan Stanley & Co. 
lncorporated and Provender Opportunities Fund L.P. (5) 

Settlemcnt Agreement and Mutual Release by and among BBC Capital Market, Tnc., Thc Boston 
Bank of Commerce, Kevin Cohee and Teri Williams; Carver Bancorp, Inc., Deborah C. Wright, 
David N. Dinkins, Linda H. Dunham, Robert J. Frant, Pazel G. Jackson, Jr., Herman Johnson and 
David R. Jones; Morgan Stanley & Co., Incorporated; and Provender Opportunities Fund, L.P. and 
Frederick 0. Terrell(5 j 
Amendment to  the Carver Bancorp, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan (6) 

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between Carver Federal Savings Bank and 
Deborah C. Wright, entered into as of June 1, 1999 (7) 

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between Carver Bancorp, Inc. and Deborah 
C. Wright, entered into as of June 1, 1999 (7) 

Form of Letter Employment Agreement between Executive Officers and Carver Bancorp, Inc. (7) 

Employment Agreement by and bctween Carver Federal Savings Bank and Catherine A. 
Papayiannis, entered into as of April 22,2002 (7) 

Carver Bancorp, Inc. Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors (9) 

Amendment Number One to Carver Federal Savings Bank Retirement Income Plan, as amended and 
restatcd effective as of January 1, 1997 and as further amended through January 1,2001 (9) 

First Amendment to the Restatement of the Carver Federal Savings Bank 401(k) Savings Plan (9) 

Second Amendment to the Restatement of the Carver Federal Savings Bank 401(k) Savings Plan for 
EGTRRA (9) 

Guarantee Agreement by and between Carver Bancorp, Tnc. and U.S. Bank National Association, 
dated as of September 17,2003 (8) 

Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust by and among, U.S. Bank National Association, as 
Institutional Trustee, Carver Bancorp, Inc., as Sponsor, and Linda Dum, William Gray and Deborah 
Wright, as Administrators, dated as of September 17, 2003 (8) 

Indenture, dated as of September 17,2003, between Carver Bancorp, Jnc., as Issuer, and U.S. Bank 
National Association, as Trustee (8) 

Second Amendment to the Carver Bancorp, Inc. Management Recognition Plan, effective as of 
September 23,2003 (1 1 ) 

Amended Share Voting Stipulation and Undertaking made by Carver Bancorp, Inc. in favor of the 
OTS, made as of April 22,2004 (1 1 ) 

Trust Agreement between Carver Bancorp, Inc. and American Stock & Transfer Trust Company, 
dated May 3,2004 ( I  I )  

First Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Carver Fcdcral Savings Bank and 
Catherine A. Papayiannis, entered into as of May 27,2004 (1 I)  
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Exhibit Number Description 

10.30 

10.31 

10.32 

First Amendment to the Carver Bancorp, Inc. Retirement Income Plan, cffective as of March 28, 
2005 ( I  2) 
Sixth Amendment to the Carver Bancorp, Inc. Employee Stock Ownership Plan, effective as of 
March 28,2005 (12) 
Carver Bancorp, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, effective as of September 12,2006 (14) 

10.33 Performance compensation Plan of Carvcr Bancorp, Inc. effective as of December 14,2006 ( *) 

14 

21.1 

23.2 

31.1 

31.2 

32.1 

32.2 

Code of ethics ( I  3 )  

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (1 1) 

Consent of KPMG LLP (*) 

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer (*) 

Certifications of Chief Financial Officer (*) 

Written Statement of Chief Executive Officer furnished pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- 
Oxley Act of2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (*) 

Written Statement of Chief Financial Officer furnished pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- 
Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (*) 

Filed herewith. 

Incorporated herein by reference to Registration Statement No. 333-5559 on Form S-4 of the Registrant filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 7, 1996. 

Incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibits to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form IO-K for the fiscal year 
ended March 31,1998. 

Incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibits to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K, dated April 6, 2006. 

Incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibits to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form IO-K for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 1999. 

Incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibits to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K, dated January 14, 2000. 

Incorporatcd herein by reference to thc Exhibits to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended March 3 1,2000. 

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant's Proxy Statement dated January 25, 2001. 

Incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibits to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form IO-K for the fiscal year 
ended March 3 1,2002. 

Incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibits to thc Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months 
ended September 30,2003. 
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(9) Incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibits to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form IO-K for the fiscal year 
ended March 3 I ,  2003, 

(10) Incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibits to the Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K, dated March 16, 2004. 

(1 1) Incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibits to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended March 3 1,2004. 

( I  2) Incorporated herein by refercnce to the Exhibits to the Rcgistrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
endcd March 3 1,2005. 

(13) Tncorporated herein by reference to the Exhibits to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended March 3 1,2006.. 

(14) Incorporated herein by reference to thc Exhibits to the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Form 14A filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 31, 2006. 
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Section 3: EX-23.2 (EXHIBIT 23.2) 

Consent of Tndcpcndcnl Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board o f  Dircclors 
Carver Bancorp, Inc.: 

We consent to the incorporation by rcfcrcncc in  Ihc annual report on Form IO-K of Carver Bancorp, lnc. and subsidiaries of 
our report datcd June 29, 2007 relating to the consolidated statements of financial condition of Carver Bancorp, Inc. and 
subsidiaries a5 of March 3 I ,  2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated slalcmcnts of income, changes in stockholders’ equity 
and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of thc years in the lhrcc-ycar period ended March 3 I ,  2007, which report 
appears in the March 3 1, 2007 annual report on Form IO-K of Carver Bancorp, Inc. and subsidiaries. 

KPMG LLP 
New York, New York 
July 17, 2007 
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Section 4: EX-3 .1 (EXHIBIT 31.1) 

Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATIONS 

I, Deborah C. Wright, certify that: 

I ,  T have rcvicwcd this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 3 I ,  2007 of Carver Bancorp, Inc.; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untruc statcincnt of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statemcnts were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covcrcd hy this report; 

3. Based 011 my knowledge, the financial statcmcnts, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects thc financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosurc controls and 
procedures (as dcfincd in Exchange Act Rules 13a-I5(e) and 15d-l5(e)) for the registrant and we have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material inforination relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in  which this report is being prepared; 

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of lhe end of‘ the period covered by this report 
based on such evaluation; 

c) Discloscd in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and T have discloscd, hascd on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarizc and rcport financial 
information: and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: July 17,2007 /s/Deborah C. Wright 
Deborah C. Wright 
Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer 
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Section 5: EX-31.2 (EXHIBIT 31.2) 

Exhibit 3 1.2 

CERTIFICATIONS 

I, Roy Swan, certify that: 

1. 1 have reviewed this Annual Report on Form IO-K for the year ended March 3 I ,  2007 of Carver Rancorp, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make thc statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not rnisleahng 
with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Bascd on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the financial condition, results of opcrations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulcs 13a-lS(e) and 15d-l5(e)) for thc rcgistrant and we have: 

a) Dcsigned such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the rcgistrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prcpared; 

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report 
based on such evaluation; 

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
rcgistrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adverscly affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: Julv 17, 2007 i s /  Roy Swan 
Roy Swan 
Executive Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer 
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Section 6: EX-32.1 (EXHIBIT 32.1) 

Exhibit 32.1 

WRITTEN STATEMENT FURNISHED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE 
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 

The undersigned, Deborah C. Wright, is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of’ Carver Bancorp, Inc. (the 
“Company”). 

This statement is being furnished in connection with the filing by the Company of the Company’s Annual Report on 
Form IO-K for the year ended March 31, 2007 (the “Report”). 

By execution of this statement, I certify that: 

a) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 1 ?(a) or 1S(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934 (15 U.S.C. 7Xm(a) or 78o(d)); and 

b) the information contained in the Report fairly prcsents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 
results of operations of the Company as of the dates and for the periods covered by the Report. 

Julv 17,2007 
Dated 

Is/ Deborah C. Wright 
Deborah C. Wright 

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarhanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed 
filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or 
otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement rcquired by 
Section 906, has been provided to the Company and will be retained by thc Company and furnished to the Securities and 
Exchange Commission or its staff upon requesl. 
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Other Senior Officers TI~ANSFKH AGENT Board of Directors 

Arncrican Stock Transfer serves as 
Transfer Agent and Registrar. 
Stockholders wishing to change the name, 
address or ownership of stock, to report 
lost certificates or to consolidate accounts 
should contact: 

Deborah C. Wright 
C.%airrnun und C W j  
Carver Bancorp, Inc. 

Robert Holland, Jr. 
Lead Independent Director 
Industry Partner 
Williams Capital Partners/ 
CXWPrivate Equity, LLP 

Dr. Samuel J. Daniel 
President und CXO 
North General Hospital 

Michael Trinidad 
Senior Vice President and Controller 

Sandra Paris 
Vice President and Treasurer 

Branches 
American Stock Transfer & Trust Co. 
59 Maidcn Lane 
New York, NY 10038 
Stockholders Services: 1-800-937-5449 
(NY Stockholders: 2 12-936-5 100) 

75 West 125th Strcet 
New York, NY 

142 Malcolm X Boulevard 
New York. NY 

ANNUAL MEETING 
The 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders 
will be held on September 18,2007 
at I0:OO a.m. at The Apollo Theater, 
253 West 125' Street, 
New Ynrk, NY 10027. 

David L. Hinds 
Former Managing Director 
Deutsche Hunk 

300 West 14Sth Street 
New York, NY 

Pazel G. Jackson, Jr. 
Former Senior Vice President 
JPMorgan Chase 

1009 Nostrand Avenuc 
Brooklyn, NY 

128 1 Fulton Street 
Brooklyn, NY 

CREDITS 
Thanks to: Patane Press, Inc Carol Baldwin Moody 

Senior Vice Presidenl und 
Chief Compliance Ojficer 
Nationwide Insurance 

I I I Livingston Street 
Brooklyn, NY 

140 58Ih Street 
Brooklyn, NY 

Edward B. Ruggiero 
Vice Prpsident, Corporate Finance 
Time Warner Inc. 

4 Hanson Place 
Brooklyn, NY 

Robert R. Tarter 
Executive Vice President 
State Street Corporation 

115-02 Merrick Boulcvard 
Jamaica,NY Executive Officers 

Roy Swan 
Executive Vice President 
ChiejFinancial Officer 

158-45 Archer Avenue 
Jamaica, NY 

Financial 1,iteracy Center 

300 West 145'h Street 
New York, NY 

Charles F. Koehler 
Executwe Vice President of Lending 

James Bason 
Senior Vice President and 
Chief Lending OJJicer Ccncral Information 

INDEPENDENT AIJDITORS 
KPMG LLP 
345 Park Avenue 
NewYork,NY 10154 

Gina L. Bolden-Rivera 
Senior Vice President and Pre,qidmt uf 
Carver Chnmunity Development 
Corporutbn 

Carmelo Felix 
Senior Vice President, 
Director uf Audit and Chnpliance 

SPECIAL COIJNSEI. 
Thacher Proffitt & Wood LLP 
Two World Financial Center 
New York, NY 10281 

Susan M. Ifill 
Senior Vicr Prehident 
ChiejRetail O@er 

Margaret I). Roberts 
Senior Kce President and 
Chief Human Resources Olficer 



With a 
Carver CD, 

Your Community 
Grows Along 

With Your 
Money. 



ARVER BANCORP, INC. 
Corporate Headquarters: 
75 West 125'h Street 
New York, NY 10027 

Please visit our website at: www.carverbank.com 

http://www.carverbank.com
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